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The financing granted by Municipality Finance is used 
for socially important investments. These include 
schools, day care centres, retirement homes, care 
homes, hospitals, health centres and rental housing 
for special groups.

Municipality Finance 
is an important part 
of the basic financial 
structure of Finland
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An enabler

of well-being

   Municipality Finance 2013

Funding in 2013: 
EUR 10.7 billion *)

Municipality 
Finance

Total lending 
portfolio:  
EUR 17.8 billion

Municipal investments 
and central 
government subsidised 
housing production

schools day care  
centres

care  
services

hospitals infrastructure 
investments

rental  
housing

It is the duty of Municipality Finance to ensure the availability of competitive 
financing for its customers under all market conditions.

Municipality Finance Plc is a credit institution owned by munici-
palities, Keva and the Republic of Finland with a duty to ensure 
the availability of competitive financing for the municipal 
sector and central government subsidised housing production 
under all market conditions. According to its duty, Municipal-
ity Finance is an important part of the basic financial structure 
of Finnish society and the only financial institution exclusively 
specialising in the municipal sector in Finland.

All taxpayers share the benefit of Municipal Finance’s op-
erations. The financial benefit of the company is accumulated as 
savings in the financing costs of investments that are important 
from a social point of view. Financing from Municipality Finance 

enables infrastructure investements for health, education and 
care services as well as services for special groups.

The company has the highest possible credit ratings for its 
long-term funding: Aaa from Moody’s and AAA from Standard 
& Poor’s. These form the foundation of the company’s strong 
competitiveness as a provider of financing.

Funding is acquired in a diversified manner from both inter-
national and domestic capital markets. The company’s funding 
is guaranteed by the Municipal Guarantee Board. 

The company operates efficiently and grows profitably. The 
company aims to build the capital needed for growth through 
profits and thereby ensure its capital adequacy.

*) The total amount of funding acquired in 2013 was exceptionally large due to the company’s own refinancing needs. 



20
13

20
12

20
11

20
10

20
09

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

20
13

20
12

20
11

20
10

20
09

20
13

20
12

20
11

20
10

20
09

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

3

Municipality Finance 2013    

Municipality Finance’s business operations continued to 
grow in 2013. The Group’s operating profit grew by two per 
cent to EUR 141.3 million. The Group’s net interest income 
grew by five per cent to EUR 149.5 million. The balance 
sheet total increased by two per cent to EUR 26,156 million. 
The Group’s capital adequacy was 39.88 per cent at the end 
of the year (minimum requirement eight per cent).

The total amount of lending granted by the company 
grew by 13 per cent to EUR 17,801 million. EUR 3,537 mil-
lion in new loans were withdrawn during the year. 

2013 in brief
The growth of the company’s leasing services contin-

ued, with the leasing portfolio reaching EUR 81 million 
at year end. Funding acquisition was highly successful 
during the year. Municipality Finance concluded a total of 
240 funding arrangements and the total funding amount 
reached a record high of EUR 10.7 billion due to the com-
pany’s exceptionally large own refinancing requirements. 
The largest system projects in Municipality Finance’s his-
tory moved ahead with the first-phase deployment of the 
company’s new back office system.

Balance sheet total 2009–2013 Lending portfolio 2009–2013

MEUR MEURMEUR

Own funds 2009–2013

31.12.2013 31.12.2012 Change %

Net interest income (MEUR) 149.5 142.4 5%

Net operating profit (MEUR) 141.3 138.6 2%

Lending portfolio (MEUR) 17,801 15,700 13%

Total funding acquired (MEUR) 23,108 22,036 5%

Balance sheet total (MEUR) 26,156 25,560 2%

Capital adequacy ratio, % 39.88% 33.87% 18%

Own funds (MEUR) 511.5 428.9 19%

Key figures (Group)
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T 
he year 2013 was the first fairly calm year on the 
financial market for quite some time, with no 
significant new economic crises. The general eco-
nomic development turned to cautious growth in 
many European countries and, even in Finland, the 
decline of the economy appears to have stopped, 
although there were no clear signs in late 2013 of 

growth having begun. Late in the year, the threat of deflation 
arose in the eurozone despite the European Central Bank’s ef-
forts to support market recovery by cutting interest rates to a 
record low.

The financial sector does not function effectively in these 
kind of market conditions, which led to investors seeking returns 
from higher-risk investments than offered in the fixed income 
market. When regulation requiring increases in capital and 
liquidity requirements is added to this, it is no wonder that the 
concern over corporate financing has started to increase in Eu-
rope. The threat is a new credit crunch, which is a potential con-
sequence of banks aiming to fulfil the tightening requirements 
by reducing their balance sheets and focusing their lending on 
only the most profitable customers.

The regulatory development triggered by the financial crisis 
is reaching a significant turning point. In the beginning of 2014 
the revised regulatory framework on capital adequacy and 
liquidity (CRR/CRD IV) came into force, The framework increases 
capital requirements and leaves little room for national regula-
tion or deviation from the common European model. As part 
of the framework’s implementation, the Finnish Act on Credit 
Institutions will be amended in its entirety. 

Another significant regulatory change concerning the bank-
ing sector and all other parties that use derivatives is the Euro-
pean Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR), the implementa-
tion of which will continue in 2014. Regulation will result in 
new reporting requirements on all parties that use derivatives. 
The timing of the introduction of central counterparty clearing 
for derivatives, which is part of the same regulatory pack-

CEO’s Review

   CEO’S Review

age, remains uncertain. The new regulation will substantially 
increase the operational costs associated with derivatives, while 
the impact on the markets and the availability of derivative 
products remain unclear.

For Municipality Finance, the most important aspect of 
the increased regulation is the new leverage ratio requirement 
which will potentially come into force in the beginning of 2018. 
In summer 2013, the European Parliament decided on the cal-
culation and reporting of the leverage ratio as part of the CRR/
CRD IV package, but postponed the decision of the most impor-
tant aspect to Municipality Finance, the level of the ratio, to a 
later date. The minimum leverage ratio required of the company 
will not be confirmed until 2017. The company will therefore 
prepare for an assumed minimum leverage ratio requirement of 
3 % by increasing its capital through the result of its operations.

In the financing of the Finnish municipal sector, 2013 
was a year of steady development much like the previous few 
years. The municipal sector, as well as the Republic of Finland, 
remained very interesting investment targets for investors look-
ing for safe investments. Municipality Finance acquired a record 
amount of funding during the year, EUR 10.7 billion in total. 
The majority of this was due to the company’s own normal 
refinancing. The increase in funding therefore does not indicate 
an increased need for financing among its customers.

Municipality Finance is an important part of the basic 
financial structure of Finnish society and the only financial 
institution in Finland specialising in financing municipal groups 
and central government subsidised housing production. There 
were no significant changes in the municipal sector’s financing 
needs during the year, and the increase in the demand for loans 
was moderate. The competition in lending intensified somewhat 
towards the end of the year, but Municipality Finance neverthe-
less maintained its position as the clearly most important and 
competitive lender for its customers.

The amendments to the Finnish Local Government Act and 
the Finnish Competition Act that entered into force at the be-
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The year 2014 represents a turning point 
in the implementation of new regulation.

CEO’s Review    

ginning of September caused confusion regarding which types 
of municipal corporations’ loans can be guaranteed in full by 
municipalities. Municipalities can only provide full guarantees 
for loans to municipal corporations that do not operate in a 
competitive industry. Pursuant to the amended legislation, the 
interpretation of what activities are in a competitive industry 
must be based on local circumstances. As such, situations can 
vary significantly between regions and municipalities.

Municipality Finance is currently carrying out the largest 
system projects in its history. The projects are aimed at improv-
ing the efficiency of the company’s operations and creating 
a strong foundation for the development of new services. A 
large proportion of our personnel have worked long hours 
and weekends not only on their primary jobs, but also on the 
development projects. The development under the projects will 
continue for a long time, but at the end of autumn 2013 we 
reached the first milestone with the implementation of the first 
stage of our new back office system.

I would like to thank our personnel for the excellent work 
they have done during this busy year, and for their commitment 
to the company’s development. I also want to thank our cus-
tomers, owners and partners for their cooperation on a variety 
of fronts over the past year. Municipality Finance is the most 
significant financing partner for its customers, and we aim to 
strengthen our competitiveness further in 2014.

Pekka Averio
President and CEO
Municipality Finance Plc
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most important financier

M
unicipality Finance is the largest financier 
for Finnish municipalities and central 
government subsidised housing produc-
tion. The company’s basic duty is to ensure 
the availability of competitive funding for 
its customers under all market conditions. 
Municipality Finance is an important part 

of the basic financial structure of Finland and the most impor-
tant financing partner for its customers. The company’s funding 
is guaranteed by the Municipal Guarantee Board, the members 
of which include all municipalities in continental Finland.

The funding acquired by Municipality Finance is used for 
financing municipalities, municipal federations, municipally-
controlled entities and central government subsidised housing 
production. Of the financing granted by the company in 2013, 
58 per cent went to municipalities and municipal federations, 

Its customers’  

32 per cent to housing production and 10 per cent to loans to 
municipality-controlled entities.

The company’s total lending amount at the end of 2013 
stood at EUR 17.8 billion (2012: EUR 15.7 billion). New loans 
withdrawn during the year amounted to EUR 3.5 billion (2012: 
EUR 3.3 billion).

Municipality Finance maintained its position as by far the 
largest lender for its customer base like in recent years. At 
the same time banks’ interest in local government long-term 
financing remained weak. The company continued to essentially 
be the sole finacier for the central government subsidized hous-
ing funding.

The cornerstones of the company’s competitiveness are 
its efficient and professional operations and the best possible 
credit rating. They allow the company to grant financing on 
competitive terms even for very long-term projects that need 

   Customer Financing
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health care, education and various social services in the scope 
required by law requires municipalities to make substantial 
investments. There has been a significant increase in municipali-
ties’ statutory functions in the 2000s. In recent years, the need 
for repairs of municipal infrastructure has also increased, which 
further adds to future investment pressures. For these reasons, 
the financing needs in the local government sector have in-
creased in recent years, and this trend continued in 2013.

The local government sector is continuously looking for new 
financing solutions for its investments while aiming to curb the 
increase in financing costs. Municipality Finance is a partner to 
its customers, also offering them planning and advisory services 
related to financing. The services are aimed at improving the 
effectiveness of the customers’ management of their overall 
financing and take into account matters such as future loan 
needs and hedging the loan portfolio. Municipality Finance’s 
experts are tasked with finding the best possible financing solu-
tions for their customers to suit their individual needs.

The largest investment needs of 
Municipality Finance’s customers 
are related to health, education 
and care services and to central 
government subsidised rental 
housing production.

financing for up to 40 years.
The long-term loans granted by Municipality Finance are 

used to finance investments that support and improve the 
functioning of society. The majority of the financing from 
Municipality Finance is used for maintaining and developing the 
basic structures of Finnish society, such as construction projects 
in the fields of education, social services and health care, as well 
as infrastructure and energy projects.

Funding for housing construction is provided for municipal-
ly-owned housing corporations as well as for non-profit organi-
sations for the production of central government subsidised 
social rental housing and housing construction for special 
groups such as the elderly, the disabled and students.

Demand for loans among 
municipalities growing steadily
A large proportion of the statutory functions of municipali-
ties depend on effective infrastructure. For example, providing 

Lending portfolio by 
customer type

Lending portfolio by 
rate type

Lending portfolio 
2009–2013

 Municipalities  41%
 Housing corporations  41%
 Local government  

 corporations     12%
 Municipal federations  6%

 Euribor 66%
 Long-term rate  22%
 Fixed 12%

Customer Financing    

EUR m
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Funding expanded into 

new markets

M
unicipality Finance acquires funding from 
international and domestic investors by 
issuing various types of bonds.

Finland’s position in the international 
capital markets remained strong in 2013. 
Finland continues to be one of the most 
trusted investment targets in the euro-

zone, and the extremely low risk bonds issued by both the Re-
public of Finland and Municipality Finance are in high demand 
around the world. Municipality Finance, as well as the Republic 
of Finland, continues to be considered a safe haven among 
investors looking for long-term and low-risk investment targets.

Municipality Finance has risen into the category of 
medium-sized issuers in the international financial market. The 
company is an active participant in all of the major markets in 
Europe, Asia and America. The company is also continuously 
searching for new markets around the world. In recognition of 
its accomplished work in the international financial markets, 

Municipality Finance was nominated by EuroWeek publication 
in spring 2013 as both Issuer of the Decade and Issuer of the 
Year. Later in the year, Capital Markets Daily selected the com-
pany as the Issuer of the Year 2013 in the series of FX-linked 
Bonds.

Municipality Finance engages in diversified funding acquisi-
tion to ensure the availability of funding over the long term. 
The company diversifies its funding in three ways: geographi-
cally, by maturity and by issuing bonds targeted at different 
investor groups. Diversification allows for better control over 
market risks and thus ensures the availability of funding during 
potential market disruptions, in accordance with the company’s 
basic duty.

The most significant new market entry to increase 
diversification in 2013 was the company’s benchmark issue 
carried out in April. At USD 1.75 billion, the benchmark issue 
was the company’s largest single issue to date. It was also the 
company’s first bond issue targeted at investors in the United 

   Funding
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States under Rule 144A. This was followed in September by a 
similar benchmark issue of USD 1 billion. Both of these fund-
ing arrangements were very successful and they were quickly 
oversubscribed.

The entry into the United States market represented a 
substantial effort by the Municipality Finance organisation. The 
issue was preceded by a period of nearly one and a half years 
during which the company prepared for benchmark issues that 
meet the U.S. market requirements. The effort paid off, as the 
arrangements received nothing but praise and positive assess-
ments from international parties. The pricing of the benchmark 
issues was also very competitive due to high demand.

While the large benchmarks form the basis of funding, the 
majority of the arrangements carried out are much smaller. 
This diversification of funding allows the company to take ad-
vantage of the changing market conditions in the international 
capital markets as effectively as possible in order to ensure the 
competitiveness of financing. The company could alternatively 
arrange only a small number of large benchmark issues per year, 
but this would increase funding costs to a substantially higher 
level than currently.

Municipality Finance’s key strengths in funding acquisition 
include its expertise, flexibility and ability to react quickly, but 
also its extremely effective monitoring system for anticipating 
the future and managing risks, which has been developed over 
a period of several years. It allows the company to prepare for 
future needs and tactically plan the timing of issues, taking the 
prevailing market situation into account. This has a significant 
impact on the competitiveness of the company’s funding costs. 

Municipality Finance has more of bond issues than any oth-
er financial institution in Finland. The total amount of funding 
varies to some degree from year to year. In 2013, the company’s 
funding total reached a record amount of EUR 10.7 billion, with 
altogether 240 individual issues. The funding requirement was 
increased in the early part of the year by larger-than-usual 
but anticipated refinancing needs, which resulted from normal 
changes in market conditions. The exceptionally large funding 
total does not, therefore, directly reflect an increase in the 
funding requirements of Municipality Finance’s customers. The 
company expects the funding total to return to the normal level 
of EUR 7-8 billion in 2014.

 
Diversification ensures the availability of 
funding and reduces costs.

It is the duty of Municipality 
Finance to ensure the 
availability of competitive 
financing for its customers 
under all market conditions.

Funding    

Acquired funding by currency in 2013

Acquired funding by region in 2013

Acquired funding by investor type in 2013

 Asia-Pacific  46%
 Europe 23%
 Americas 12%
 Africa and the Middle East   11%
 Nordic Countries 8%

Total number of funding transactions 2009-2013

 US dollar (USD)  48%
 Japanese yen (JPY) 25%
 UK pound sterling (GBP) 12%
 Euro (EUR) 4%
 Brazilian real (BRL) 3%
 Other currencies 8%

 Retail 29%
 Central banks 23%
 Banks 16%
 Insurance companies 13%
 Asset managers 11%
 Other 8%
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Investment operations seek 

return and security

   Investments

M
unicipality Finance’s investment opera-
tions primarily comprise the investment 
of acquired funding in liquid deposits and 
financial sector securities with a good 
credit rating in order to ensure that the 
company can remain operational under all 
market conditions.

According to the company’s liquidity policy, liquidity must 
be sufficient to cover the needs of continued undisturbed 
operations for at least the six following months. The company 
invests cash collateral received on the basis of derivative col-
lateral agreements in short-term money market investments. At 
the end of 2013, the liquidity buffer covered financing needs for 
approximately 10.3 months. Municipality Finance’s liquid funds 
amounted to EUR 5.5 billion at the end of 2013.

The company follows a conservative policy in its investment 
operations. In addition to low interest risk and sufficient return, 
the most important criteria are the investment’s high liquidity.

The risk premiums of banks and countries decreased 
substantially in 2013 in the bond markets as economic growth 
recovered and central banks continued to implement strong 
stimulus measures. Due to the lower risk premiums, the returns 
on new investments were at a lower level than in the previous 
year.

In 2013, new investments were mainly made in covered 
bonds and bonds issued by public sector entities and banks 
based in core countries in the eurozone. The average credit 
rating of liquidity investments remained nearly unchanged at 
the AA level (2012: AA) despite the general declining trend in 
credit ratings. The average maturity of the liquidity investments 
increased to 3.54 years (2012: 2.97) during 2013. New invest-
ments were made in longer maturities than before in order to 
maintain sufficient return. In addition, the company had EUR 
379 million in other investments (2012: EUR 329 million). 
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The aim of the company’s liquidity 
investments is to ensure sufficient 
funds for customers for at least the 
six following months even if sources 
of funding were to be exhausted.

At the end of 2013 
the company’s liquid 
funds amounted to

 

billion euros
 5.5

At the end of 2013, Municipality 
Finance’s liquidity buffer 
covered approximately 10.3 
month’s financing needs.

Investments    
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financing solutions

A
lternative financing solutions are steadily 
growing in popularity among Municipality 
Finance’s customers. More and more munici-
palities are looking for financing models that 
provide precise and transparent solutions to 
investment financing and make all expenses 
predictable and appropriately allocated. The 

best alternative in many cases is financial leasing, a solution 
that is suitable for a large variety of purposes.

The demand for Municipality Finance’s financial leasing 
services, which were first launched in 2010, continued to grow 
in 2013. The total value of the company’s framework agree-
ments for leasing services stood at EUR 191.1 million at the end 
of 2013, and the leasing portfolio increased to EUR 81 million 
(2012: EUR 64 million).

Interest in alternative 

With the leasing option, all of the expenses associated with 
the agreement, excluding variable interest rates, are known to 
the customer and thus predictable throughout the term of the 
agreement. Leasing as a financing solution can help customers 
better match the economic and technical usable life of an asset. 
The predictability of expenses makes budgeting and financial 
planning easier. As the assets are owned by the financing party, 
the customer’s capital is not tied up in their ownership. In many 
cases, the reason for the growth in the popularity of financial 
leasing is the flexibility in the implementation of the solutions.

Typical objects for financial leasing in the municipal sector 
are the acquisitions of vehicles and small assets, but it is also 
used for purposes such as the acquisition of various medical 
care equipment. Medical equipment is typically expensive, and 
acquiring it through leasing is a noteworthy option due to the 
quick development of the technology.

   Financial Leasing
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The total value of leasing 
agreements amounts to   

 

million euros
 81

New applications for financial leasing in 2013 included 
replacement of street lighting. With the implementation of 
new EU directives, the majority of old Finnish street lighting 
infrastructure must be replaced with more energy efficient 
technology. Using leasing for these replacement projects is a 
very effective financing solution and one that does not tie up 
municipal own capital.

Among Municipality Finance’s leasing services, there is 
notable growth in the use of various framework agreements 
that allow customers to acquire the assets they need flexibly as 
new requirements arise. Also growing in popularity is the use 
of leasing for facility elements. They are used for purposes such 
as constructing temporary facilities for day-care centres and 
schools during the renovation of permanent structures. They are 
also well suited for situations in which the expected need for 
the facilities is short-term to the extent that using traditional 
construction methods is not feasible. After their use, the facility 
elements can be moved elsewhere to be reused, or they can be 
discarded entirely without significant expense.

Leasing is also increasingly used in various lifecycle projects, 
especially for real property. Using real property leasing, custom-
ers can acquire property such as a school under the lifecycle 
model, with the contractor agreeing to not only build the prop-
erty, but also to maintain it according to an agreed standard 
for a specified period, such as 15–20 years. When the project is 
funded by leasing, the customer pays a pre-agreed rent for the 
use and maintenance of the property, without having to com-
mit to owning it. After the lifecycle is completed the property 
can be bought out, and its condition will correspond with the 
provisions of the agreement. 

Municipality Finance is developing its leasing services to 
satisfy the growing demand among its customers. In 2013, 
the company implemented a new device register service that 
allows it to offer advanced capital asset management tools to 
customers. 

EXAMPLES OF MUNICIPAL 
LEASING SOLUTIONS

Hospital diagnostic 
equipment 

6

1

Machinery and equipment for 
power plants 

4

2

Heavy vehicles

5

3

Financial leasing is well 
suited for financing a 
wide range of invest-

ments in the municipal sector, 
from purchases of machinery and 
equipment to lifecycle projects. 
Examples of new applications 
include medical equipment, water 
purification plants and street 
lighting systems.

Water purification 
plants

Small machinery and IT 
equipment

Buildings and temporary facilities

Financial Leasing    
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financing solutions

M
unicipality Finance’s subsidiary Financial 
Advisory Services Inspira Ltd is an expert 
advisor specialised in public sector 
financing solutions. The company acts 
as an independent expert and advisor in 
investment projects and restructuring 
arrangements for the state administration, 

municipalities and cities as well as companies and organisa-
tions. Inspira is an advisor to various parties in both the public 
sector and the private sector.

The company’s mission is to help the public sector carry 
out its financial arrangements with more versatility, more cost-
effectively, with higher quality and according to a faster sched-
ule. Inspira’s strength its knowledge of the special needs of the 

Inspira advises on

public sector. The benefits of Inspira’s operations for customers 
often take shape in various change processes being managed in 
the most sensible way possible.

Various lifecycle projects related to the development of real 
property were highlighted in the demand for Inspira’s advisory 
services in 2013. Examples of such projects include the Lintu-
vaara school and day care centre renovation, expansion and 
maintenance project in Espoo, and the City of Pudasjärvi lifecy-
cle project involving a log built school campus. Inspira prepared 
and carried out the tendering process for the contracts for both 
projects.

The year 2013 was a gap year in Finland with respect to 
major investment projects, but a number of large infrastruc-
ture projects will enter the planning phase in 2014. The most 
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significant among these include the E18 Hamina-Vaalimaa 
motorway project as well as several new construction and reno-
vation projects of public sector real properties that are likely 
to be implemented using the lifecycle model. In the next few 
years, the demand for advisory services will also be increased by 
many projects in the energy sector, such as the arrangement of 
financing for wind farms.

Inspira developed its operations in 2013 to create a sustain-
able foundation for profitable growth in the coming years. The 
company focused particularly on developing customer relation-
ships and revising its goal setting towards a more growth-
oriented direction. The company also developed its organisation 
by recruiting more personnel during the year, with the aim of 
creating new service opportunities for its customers.

Inspira’s core competence 
is the planning of financing 
solutions for public sector 

projects. Inspira serves both the public 
sector and private corporations in the 
planning and implementation of public 
projects.

Inspira’s services
Feasibility studies
Inspira carries out feasibility studies related to 
investment projects as well as restructuring and 
financing arrangements. The feasibility studies can 
be focused on the key issues of the project at hand, 
such as financial calculations, alternative methods 
of implementation, investigating the synergies of 
restructuring arrangements, testing to determine 
the attractiveness of the project, analysing the loan 
portfolio, and so on. The purpose of feasibility stud-
ies is to create a solid foundation for the project’s 
decision-making and implementation.

Financial advisory services 
for investments
Inspira advises its customers on the implementa-
tion and financing of investment projects, spanning 
the entire project lifecycle. The company acts as 
an advisor for both the public sector and various 
parties in the private sector. The company’s experts 
plan the implementation and contracting models 
to be used, as well as the financing solution and 
the procurement method used in tendering. Inspira 
then manages the practical tendering process for 
an implementation and financing solution that 
matches the objectives.

Restructuring arrangements
Inspira provides services related to the restructur-
ing of public sector property and service produc-
tion. The arrangements can involve reorganising or 
incorporating operations, or establishing a regional 
public utility municipal federation or a joint enter-
prise between municipalities. Inspira’s services also 
extend to joint enterprises with market operators 
and the selling and purchasing of assets.
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Increasing regulation

requires more experts

M
unicipality Finance’s organisation has 
grown rapidly in recent years. The com-
pany has recruited new experts not only 
in response to the growth in business 
volume, but especially in order to handle 
the new tasks introduced by continu-
ously increasing regulation. The majority 

of the growth in the number of personnel has been directed 
to business support functions. At the same time, the company 
has carried out its largest-ever system development projects, 
which have placed a considerable strain on the organisation’s 
resources. 

Compared to Municipality Finance ten years ago, the or-
ganisation today faces substantially higher competence require-
ments. At the same time, the amount of work has increased 
rapidly due to increased requirements that apply to the entire 
industry. This development has been particularly fast since 
2008, after the financial crisis. Over the same period of time, the 
company’s lending and funding have increased at a much faster 
rate than before.

Municipality Finance has been able to handle its rapid 
growth successfully. The company’s customer satisfaction is top 
class: it has the most satisfied customers in the Finnish financial 
sector according to a study completed by Taloustutkimus in 
spring 2013. The company’s organisation has functioned ef-
fectively and the company took top spot in the “Finland’s Best 
Bank” comparison of key figures by Kauppalehti in May 2013.

The company monitores job satisfaction with regular sur-
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veys and carries out development activities based on the results.

Continued organisational development
In response to its growth, Municipality Finance has taken active 
steps to develop its organisation. At the start of the year, the 
company established a new Customer Finance function and 
combined its funding, investment and treasury operations into 
a new Capital Markets function. Jukka Helminen, M.Sc. (Tech.), 
was appointed Senior Vice President at the Customer Finance 
function in February. Helminen was also appointed a member 
of the company’s Board of Management. The Capital Markets 
function will continue to be headed by Executive Vice President 
Esa Kallio, who was previously responsible for both functions.

Also at the beginning of 2013, the company established a 
new Business Development department under the Accounting 
and Finance function led by Senior Vice President, CFO Marjo 
Tomminen. The department is responsible for the implemen-
tation of the development projects in the company’s project 
portfolio. From the beginning of July, the Capital Markets func-
tion has also included the DCM department focused on debt 
capital market services, and the Customer Finance function has 
included the new Communications and Marketing department.

The purpose of the organisational changes is to respond to 
the requirements set by the company’s growing operations go-
ing forward. At the end of the year, the Group had a total of 83 
employees (2012: 72 employees). The company also employs ex-
ternal consultants and experts in various development projects.
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The following statement on Municipality Finance’s Corporate 
Governance in 2013 is in compliance with Chapter 7, Section 7 
of the Securities Markets Act. This statement is provided here as 
a comprehensive description of Municipality Finance’s Corporate 
Governance, separate from the Report of the Board of Directors. 

Corporate governance 
Corporate Governance Policy 
The Board of Directors of the parent company confirmed Munici-
pality Finance’s internal Corporate Governance Policy in 2005. The 
Policy was last updated in the summer of 2013. In addition to the 
Corporate Governance Policy, the company has a number of other 
policies pertaining to governance, financial reporting, internal 
control and risk management. 

The Corporate Governance Policy of Municipality Finance has 
been prepared in compliance, where applicable, with the Finnish 
Corporate Governance Code for listed companies published by 
the Finnish Securities Market Association. As Municipality Finance 
is solely an issuer of bonds and its shares are not subject to pub-
lic trading, applying the Finnish Corporate Governance Code for 
listed companies in its entirety is not appropriate. Nevertheless, 
the company has decided to use the Corporate Governance Code 

Municipality Finance 

Corporate Governance 
Statement 2013

as the basis for preparing its own Corporate Governance Policy.
In addition to the Finnish Corporate Governance Code for 

listed companies, the Corporate Governance Policy of Munici-
pality Finance has been prepared in compliance with Finnish 
Financial Supervisory Authority standard 1.3 on “Internal Gov-
ernance and Organisation of Activities”. The Finnish Corporate 
Governance Code for listed companies is available at www.
cgfinland.fi and the Financial Supervisory Authority standard 
at www.finanssivalvonta.fi. Municipality Finance’s Corporate 
Governance Policy is available in Finnish, English and Swedish 
on the company’s website at www.munifin.fi.

The following chart is a general illustration of the adminis-
trative structure of Municipality Finance. Solid arrows indicate 
specific reporting obligations while dotted arrows indicate other 
reporting relationships.
 
Shareholders’ Nomination Committee  
Municipality Finance has a Shareholders’ Nomination Com-
mittee established by the Annual General Meeting, which is 
charged with making a proposal to the Annual General Meeting 
on the number of members of the Board of Directors, candi-
dates for election to the Board of Directors and their remunera-
tion. In addition, the Shareholders’ Nomination Committee 

   Corporate Governance
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makes a proposal on the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the 
Board of Directors to be elected at the Annual General Meeting.

According to the decision of the General Meeting, the 
Shareholders’ Nomination Committee is comprised of four 
members. The company’s three largest shareholders each 
nominate one member and the Association of Finnish Local and 
Regional Authorities nominates one member. The three largest 
shareholders are Keva, the Republic of Finland and the City of 
Helsinki. The three largest shareholders and the Association of 
Finnish Local and Regional Authorities nominated the following 
representatives to the Shareholders’ Nomination Committee for 
the 2013 Annual General Meeting:
•	 Sampsa	Kataja	(Member	of	Parliament,	Chairman	of	the	

Board of Directors, Keva until 25.1.2013), Chairman 
•	 Helena	Säteri	(Director	General,	Ministry	of	the	Environment)	
•	 Jussi	Pajunen	(Mayor,	City	of	Helsinki)	
•	 Kari-Pekka	Mäki-Lohiluoma	(Director	General,	Association	of	

Finnish Local and Regional Authorities). 

The three largest shareholders and the Association of Finnish 
Local and Regional Authorities nominated the following repre-
sentatives to the Shareholders’ Nomination Committee for the 
2014 Annual General Meeting
•	 Pekka	Alanen	(Acting	CEO,	Deputy	to	CEO,	Keva),	Chairman	
•	 Helena	Säteri	(Director	General,	Ministry	of	the	Environment)	
•	 Tapio	Korhonen	(CEO,	Helsinki	City	Executive	Office)	
•	 Kari-Pekka	Mäki-Lohiluoma	(Director	General,	Association	of	

Finnish Local and Regional Authorities). 

The Shareholders’ Nomination Committee convened for the 
2013 Annual General Meeting  and made the required proposals 
to the General Meeting. The Annual General Meeting approved 
the proposals as submitted.

The proposals made to the 2014 Annual General Meeting 
and the Board of Directors to be elected at the meeting will be 
published as an appendix to the invitation to the 2014 Annual 
General Meeting and made available on the company’s website.

Board of Directors
The duties of the Board of Directors 
The Board is responsible for the company’s management 
and the proper arrangement of its operations. The Board is 
responsible for the duties specified for it in the Limited Liability 
Companies Act, the Articles of Association and other legislative 
provisions and regulations issued by the authorities. The main 
duties of the Board include confirming the company’s strategy, 
annual operating plan and budget, monitoring the company’s 
financial situation and ensuring through supervision that the 
company’s management, and risk management in particular, are 
properly arranged by management.

The auditor and internal control report to the Board of 
Directors, which ensures that the Board of Directors receives in-
dependent information on the status of the company. The Board 
confirms the company’s values and ethical operating principles 
and other policies that guide operations. The Board is responsi-

ble for the appointment and termination of employment of the 
CEO and Deputy to the CEO and decides on the principles of the 
remuneration system.

Convocation of the Board of Directors
The company’s Board of Directors has confirmed its rules of 
procedure, which form a part of the company’s Corporate 
Governance Policy and are available on Municipality Finance’s 
website at www.munifin.fi. The Board will convene upon the 
summons of the Chairman as often as company business 
requires. During the 2013 financial year the Board of Directors 
convened ten times. The average attendance rate of Board 
members at these meetings was 94%. The Board conducts an 
annual independent assessment of the effectiveness and quality 
of its work and performance of its duties.

Board Committees
In order to organise its work as efficiently as possible, the Board 
has established an Audit Committee and a Remuneration Com-
mittee for the preparation of matters. Where necessary, the 
Board may also establish other committees in addition to the 
two specified above. The Board appoints, from among its own 
members, the chairmen and the members of these committees. 
Committees regularly report to the Board on their activities, 
including the submission of minutes of Committee meetings to 
the Board. 

The objective of the Audit Committee is to act as a prepara-
tory body assisting the Board in duties related to financial 
reporting, internal control and risk management. Within this 
framework, the Audit Committee also supervises the work of 
auditors and the internal audit. The rules of procedure of the 
Audit Committee form part of the company’s Corporate Gov-
ernance Policy. The members of the Audit Committee at the end 
of the 2013 financial year were: 
•	 Fredrik	Forssell,	Chairman	
•	 Sirpa	Louhevirta	
•	 Tuula	Saxholm
•		 Asta	Tolonen

The Audit Committee convened a total of four times during the 
financial year, and the average attendance rate was 100%. 
The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors is 
responsible for preparatory work to assist in the Board’s 
decision-making concerning the setting of objectives related 
to the company’s remuneration system, assessment of whether 
the objectives are attained, development of the remuneration 
system and the remuneration and other benefits for the CEO 
and the Deputy to the CEO. The members of the Remuneration 
Committee at the end of the 2013 financial year were: 
•	 Eva	Liljeblom,	Chairman	
•	 Teppo	Koivisto	
•	 Juha	Yli-Rajala	

The Remuneration Committee convened a total of five times 
during the financial year and the average attendance rate was 
100%.

Corporate Governance    
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Internal control, risk management 
and reporting
Municipality Finance is, due to the nature of its operations, in-
evitably exposed to a number of risks and, as such, internal con-
trol and risk management are a key aspect of strategic planning 
and management. Appropriately implemented internal control 
and risk management are included in day-to-day operations 
that improve security and customer satisfaction and facilitate 
the accomplishment of set objectives. 

Risk management of the balance sheet’s risk position related 
to financing activities is intended to ensure that the risks as-
sociated with lending, funding acquisition, investment activities 
and other business operations are in line with the company’s 
accepted risk profiles. The objective is to maintain the overall 
risk position at a level that is low enough not to compro-
mise the parent company’s strong credit rating. Municipality 
Finance’s internal control comprises the financial administra-
tion function, which is in charge of financial reporting, the risk 
management function, which is independent of the company’s 
business operations, reports on the company’s risk position and 
changes thereto and is also responsible for the development 
of risk management methods, and operational level internal 
control, which produces reports that are processed by the man-
agers responsible for the functions in question, the CEO assisted 
by the Board of Management and the Board of Directors.

Reporting and supervision at the Board level  
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that internal 
control and risk management are sufficiently comprehensive 
and effective and that the company does not, in its operations, 
take risks which would fundamentally endanger the capital ad-
equacy of the company. The Board is assisted in this supervision 
by the Audit Committee. The Board of Directors and the Audit 
Committee have confirmed, as part of Municipality Finance 
Plc’s Corporate Governance Policy, rules of procedure that also 
specify the Board’s and Audit Committee’s duties concerning 
internal control and risk management in more detail. 

The Board of Directors has confirmed the company’s 
operating policies which include the operating principles and 
limits pertaining to internal control and risk management. The 
Board of Directors has confirmed the risk management strat-
egy as part of the company’s overall strategy. The aim of the 
operating policies is to guide the companies operations such 
that the company’s risk position is maintained at a level that 
corresponds to its confirmed risk profile through guiding the 
company’s operations. The operating policies are revised annu-
ally, with the latest revision made in the summer of 2013. 

As part of the effective implementation of internal audit 
and risk management, the Board of Directors has confirmed 
the company’s operating principles for internal audit, the an-

Description of the main features of the internal 
control and risk management systems pertaining 
to the financial reporting process 
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nual audit plan for internal audit as well as the key principles 
concerning regulatory compliance (as part of the operating 
policies), the information security policy, business continu-
ity plan and other guidelines and principles necessary for the 
management of operational risks. These principles are assessed 
on a regular basis to ensure that their status is current and they 
are revised as necessary.

The Board of Directors approves the plan for capital 
adequacy management, which is revised annually. The cur-
rent plan extends to 2018. The long term horizon for capital 
adequacy planning is related to the changes in the regulation 
of credit institutions that are currently being planned at  the 
EU level, including the leverage ratio requirement. The possible 
implementation of the leverage ratio requirement in 2018 has 
forced the company to begin preparations at this early stage, 
as the implementation of the leverage ratio would mean that 
requirements concerning the company’s own funds would be 
multiplied. The leverage ratio requirement is based on compar-
ing total own funds with balance sheet assets without consid-
eration for risks related to the assets that are incorporated into 
capital adequacy calculations. The plan for capital adequacy 
management also includes a process description for capital 
adequacy management. Information pertaining to capital ad-
equacy is presented as part of the company’s annual report as 
required by legislation. 

The Group has adopted the Basel II parameters for capital 
adequacy. The capital adequacy requirement for credit risk 
is calculated using Pillar I and the standard method, and the 
capital adequacy requirement for operative risks using the basic 
method. As the Group has neither a trading book nor share or 
commodity positions, only currency risks are taken into ac-
count in the capital adequacy calculations for market risk. As 
the Company hedges against currency risks by using derivative 
contracts to translate all foreign currency denominated funding 
into euros, the Company’s currency position is very small and 
it is therefore not necessary to reserve capital for the currency 
risk. 

Financial reporting and reporting on risk management 
to the Board of Directors is the responsibility of the CEO. The 
company’s risk position is regularly reported to the Board of 
Directors as a part of monthly reporting, and, in addition, the 
director responsible for risk management prepares a broader 
overall review of the company’s risk position in relation to vari-
ous risk areas to the Board of Directors every six months.

Supervision and reporting at 
the operational level 
Internal control plays a part in the duties of each individual 
belonging to the management or staff of the company and 
everyone in the organisation is responsible for reporting any 
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observed deficiencies concerning internal control. Internal 
control is based on an organisation specific to each operational 
area or department, where everyone involved has their own 
duties and areas of responsibility. 

Decision-making and the implementation of decisions have 
been delegated to different functions or individuals. 

Reliable and timely reporting on the company’s financial 
performance is a key tool for management. Reporting on finan-
cial performance is carried out by the financial administration 
and risk management functions, but in part also independently 
at the operational level to control the accuracy and sufficiency 
of financial reporting. The basic elements of financial reporting 
include internally produced reports on a monthly basis and the 
interim and annual reports required for external reporting.

Financial reporting is based on appropriately prepared 
bookkeeping and other materials pertaining  to transactions. In 
order to ensure the accuracy of financial reporting, the financial 
administration has detailed internal instructions on the record-
ing of business activities and other financial management 
processes, including amongst other things the control principles 
concerning the approval and implementation of various 
transactions. These control procedures include regular routines 
pertaining to the reconciliation of accounts and transactions 
and payment transfer processes that always follow the four-eye 
principle. Some of the control measures are automated by the 
company’s information systems while some are based on manu-
al inspection. The Audit Committee is charged with supervising 
the financial reporting processes. 

The company has a risk management function that is 
independent of the company’s business operations; it main-
tains, develops and prepares risk management principles for 
confirmation by the Board of Directors and develops methods 
for use in the assessment and measurement of risks. The 
company’s various functions are responsible for day-to-day 
risk management decisions within the established principles, 
policies, authorisations and limits. The risk management func-
tion ensures that risks are maintained within acceptable limits 
and that the methods used for measuring risks are appropriate. 
The risk management function reports to the management on 
a monthly basis on the company’s risk position relative to the 
limits set and, as necessary, on individual risk events of material 
significance.

The management of operational risks, including informa-
tion systems critical to the company’s operations, and the 
supervision of operational risks are part of the normal processes 
of functions and departments. In addition, the department 
charged with the supervision of overall risk has the general 
responsibility of coordinating the management of operational 
risks. The company conducts an annual survey of operational 
risks. The survey evaluates risks and their probability of realisa-
tion and effects and decides on means of managing the risks in 
question. 

The CEO, supported by the Board of Management, is 
responsible for managing the company’s operations and or-
ganising risk management and financial reporting. In addition, 
the company has a separate credit risk group whose duty is 
to monitor and supervise the company’s credit risk and make 
decisions pertaining to the management of credit risks. Besides 
the credit risk group, the company has an Asset and Liability 

Management group, which outlines strategic policies related 
to market, liquidity and funding risks and, with regard to these, 
is responsible for risk management principles. The company 
has also established an IFRS group to ensure the accuracy of 
financial reporting. The group’s task is to develop and monitor 
the Group’s IFRS accounting and take operational and market 
changes into consideration. The business development depart-
ment is responsible for managing development projects accord-
ing to the project model in use at the company. 

Duties related to compliance with external and internal 
regulation (monitoring regulations, disseminating informa-
tion, training, supervising) are handled by the company’s legal 
affairs and compliance department. Reports on the compliance 
function are produced on a monthly basis to the Board of Man-
agement and annually to the Board of Directors. The reporting 
frequency may be increased if necessary. The Board of Directors 
also receives regular reviews of the development of banking 
regulation and its impacts on Municipality Finance’s operations.

In addition to the operating policies confirmed by the Board 
of Directors, the company has operating guidelines specific 
to functional areas and departments confirmed by the Board 
of Management. The operating guidelines are supported by 
process descriptions that are prepared for all essential processes 
and revised regularly. In addition, each employee has a job 
description that specifies their key duties and back-up ar-
rangements. The heads of departments also prepare and revise 
process instructions and other specific guidelines as necessary. 

The company conducts annual stress testing to evaluate the 
impact of various scenarios on financial development (including 
the need for capital). 

Regular external reporting on the company’s operations to 
the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority, the Bank of Finland, 
the Tax Administration, Statistics Finland and, where necessary, 
other authorities is undertaken based on the reporting obliga-
tions set forth by the authorities at the times required.

External and internal audit 
The company has outsourced the audit work of internal audit-
ing to Deloitte & Touche Oy. The practical coordination of 
internal audit operations on Municipality Finance’s side is the 
responsibility of the company’s legal affairs and compliance 
department. The tasks of the internal audit function include 
monitoring the reliability and accuracy of Municipality Finance’s 
financial and other management information. Its tasks also 
include ensuring that the company has adequate and properly 
organised manual and IT systems for its operations and that the 
risks associated with operations are being managed adequately. 

The Board of Directors approves the internal audit plan for 
each financial year and all reviews undertaken by the internal 
audit during the 2013 financial year were reported to the 
company’s Board of Management, the Audit Committee and 
the Board of Directors. The recommendations issued by the 
internal audit are systematically monitored in the company and 
their implementation is reported to the company’s Board of 
Management and the Audit Committee and Board of Directors 
annually. The internal audit function assesses the status of the 
implementation of recommended measures. 

Municipality Finance Plc’s auditors during the 2013 financial 
year were KPMG Oy Ab with Marcus Tötterman, Authorised 
Public Accountant, as the auditor with principal responsibility.
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Directors
The Board of 

FROM THE LEFT TO RIGHT > Front: Teppo Koivisto, Eva Liljeblom and Fredrik Forssell. 
Back: Sirpa Louhevirta, Tuula Saxholm, Juha Yli-Rajala and Asta Tolonen. 
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Composition of the Board of Directors 
Under the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors has 
a minimum of five and a maximum of eight members. The 
Annual General Meeting elects the members of the Board and 
each member’s term of office will terminate when the Annual 
General Meeting following their election concludes.

In accordance with the proposal of the Shareholders’ 
Nomination Committee, the 2013 Annual General Meeting 
elected the following persons to the Board of Directors for the 
2013-2014 term (from the Annual General Meeting to the next 
Annual General Meeting):

Eva Liljeblom
Chairman
on the Board of Directors since 2003

Education: D.Sc. (Econ)
Year of birth: 1958
Primary occupation: Rector, Professor, Hanken  
School of Economics in Helsinki
Independence: Independent of the company and its significant
shareholders

Fredrik Forssell
Vice Chairman 
on the Board of Directors since 2011 

Education: M.Sc. (Econ)
Year of birth: 1968
Primary occupation: CIO, Internal equity & FI Management, Keva
Independence: Independent of the company

Teppo Koivisto
on the Board of Directors since 2011

Education: M.A. (Pol. Sci.)
Year of birth: 1966
Primary occupation: Head of Division, State Treasury
Independence: Independent of the company

Sirpa Louhevirta
on the Board of Directors since 2011

Education: M.Sc. (Econ)
Year of birth: 1964
Primary occupation: Group Treasurer, Sanoma Oyj
Independence: Independent of the company and 
its significant shareholders

Tuula Saxholm
on the Board of Directors since 2013

Education: M.Sc. (Econ) 
Year of birth: 1961
Primary occupation: Finance Director, City of Helsinki 
Independence: Independent of the company

Asta Tolonen
on the Board of Directors since 2011

Education: M.Sc. (Econ)
Year of birth: 1960
Primary occupation: Municipal Manager, 
Municipality of Suomussalmi
Independence: Independent of the company and 
its significant shareholders

Juha Yli-Rajala 
on the Board of Directors since 2011
 
Education: M.A. (Adm. Sci)
Year of birth: 1964
Primary occupation: Director, City of Tampere
Independence: Independent of the company and its 
significant shareholders

From the 2012 Annual General Meeting until the 2013 Annual 
General Meeting, the members of the Board of Directors were 
the following:
•	 Eva	Liljeblom
•	 Fredrik	Forssell
•	 Teppo	Koivisto
•	 Tapio	Korhonen	(personal	profile	available	in 
 Municipality Finance’s Annual Report 2012)
•	 Sirpa	Louhevirta
•	 Ossi	Repo	(personal	profile	available	in	 
 Municipality Finance’s Annual Report 2012)
•	 Asta	Tolonen
•	 Juha	Yli-Rajala
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Management
Board of

FROM THE LEFT TO RIGHT > Front: Mari Tyster, Pekka Averio and Marjo Tomminen. 
Back: Jukka Helminen, Toni Heikkilä and Esa Kallio. 
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CEO and the Board of Management  
Under the Articles of Association, the company has a CEO ap-
pointed by the Board of Directors and a Deputy to the CEO. The 
CEO’s duty is to manage the company’s operations in order to 
implement the resolutions made by the Board of Directors and 
maintain the company’s operations in line with the strategy, risk 
management principles and limits set by the Board of Directors. 
Supported by the Board of Management, the CEO is responsible 
for monitoring the effectiveness of the company’s day-to-day 
operations (including internal control, risk management and 
supervision of regulatory compliance), maintaining an effective 
organisational structure and reporting to the Board of Directors. 
More detailed descriptions of the duties of the CEO and the 
Board of Management are included in the company’s Corporate 
Governance Policy.

CEO and the Board of Management at the end of the 2013  
financial year:

Pekka Averio

President and CEO
At Municipality Finance since 1993
Education: Master of Laws, MBA
Year of birth: 1956

Esa Kallio

Deputy to the CEO, Executive Vice President
At Municipality Finance since 2005
Education: M.Sc. (Econ)
Year of birth: 1963

Toni Heikkilä

Senior Vice President, CRO, Risk management & IT
At Municipality Finance since 1997
Education: Lic.Sc. (Econ), M.Sc. (Finance)
Year of birth: 1965

Jukka Helminen

Senior Vice President, Customer Finance
At Municipality Finance since 2013
Education: M.Sc. (Tech)
Year of birth: 1964

Marjo Tomminen

Senior Vice President, CFO
At Municipality Finance since 1992
Education: vocational qualification in Business Administration, 
EMBA
Year of birth: 1962 

Mari Tyster

Senior Vice President, Administration and Legal 
At Municipality Finance since 2009 
Education: Master of Laws 
Year of birth: 1975 
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Report of the Board of Directors

•	 Lending	increased	to	EUR	17,801	million	(2012:	EUR	15,700	
million).	In	total,	9%	more	loans	were	withdrawn	than	in	the	
previous	year,	amounting	to	EUR	3,537	million	(2012:	EUR	
3,254	million).

•	 The	 leasing	portfolio	stood	at	EUR	81	million	at	year	end	
(2012:	EUR	64	million).

•	 Investments	totalled	EUR	5,671	million	at	the	end	of	2013	
(2012:	EUR	6,224	million).	

•	 The	 turnover	of	Municipality	 Finance’s	 subsidiary,	 Inspira,	
stood	at	EUR	1.7	million	(2012:	EUR	1.8	million).	Net	operat-
ing	profit	at	the	end	of	2013	totalled	EUR	0.0	million	(2012:	
EUR	0.2	million).

Key figures (group):
31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

Net	interest	income	(EUR	m) 149.5 142.4
Net	operating	profit	(EUR	m) 141.3 138.6
New	loans	issued	(EUR	m) 3,537 3,254
New	funding	acquisition	(EUR	m) 10,695 6,590
Balance	sheet	total	(EUR	m) 26,156 25,560
Own	funds	(EUR	m) 511.5 428.9
Capital	adequacy	ratio	for	Tier	1	capital	(%) 35.42 26.22
Capital	adequacy	ratio	(%) 39.88 33.87
Return	on	equity	(%)	(ROE) 30.58 38.04
Cost-to-income ratio 0.15 0.14
Number	of	employees 83 72

The	calculation	formulas	for	the	key	figures	are	given	on	page	38.
All figures mentioned in this annual report are for the Municipality Finance Group unless otherwise mentioned.

Summary of 2013:
•	 The	Group’s	net	operating	profit	 amounted	 to	 EUR	141.3	

million	(2012:	EUR	138.6	million).	The	growth	was	2%	year-
on-year.

•	 Net	interest	income	grew	by	5%	compared	with	the	previous	
year,	totalling	EUR	149.5	million	(2012:	EUR	142.4	million).

•	 The	balance	sheet	total	stood	at	EUR	26,156	million	(2012:	
EUR	25,560	million).

•	 The	Group’s	risk	bearing	capacity	continued	to	be	very	strong,	
with	the	capital	adequacy	ratio	at	39.88%	at	year-end	(2012:	
33.87%)	and	the	capital	adequacy	ratio	for	Tier	 I	capital	at	
35.42%	(2012:	26.22%).

•	 Total	funding	acquisition	for	2013	amounted	to	EUR	10,695	
million	(2012:	EUR	6,590	million).	The	total	amount	of	funding	
grew	to	EUR	23,108	million	(2012:	EUR	22,036	million).
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Credit ratings
Municipality Finance’s credit ratings
The	credit	ratings	of	the	company’s	long-term	funding	are	the	best	possible:

Rating agency Long-term funding Outlook Short-term funding Outlook
Moody’s Investors Service Aaa Stable P–1 Stable
Standard & Poor’s AAA Stable A–1+ Stable

The Municipal Guarantee Board’s credit ratings
The	Municipal	Guarantee	Board	guaranteeing	the	company’s	funding	has	the	best	possible	credit	ratings	for	long-term	funding:

Rating agency Long-term funding Outlook Short-term funding Outlook
Moody’s Investors Service Aaa Stable P–1 Stable
Standard & Poor’s AAA Stable A–1+ Stable

Operating environment in 2013
The year 2013 was the first fairly calm period on the financial mar-
ket	for	quite	some	time,	with	no	significant	new	economic	crises.	
The general economic development turned to cautious growth in 
many	European	countries	and,	even	in	Finland,	the	decline	of	the	
economy	appears	to	have	stopped,	although	there	were	no	clear	
signs	in	late	2013	of	growth	having	begun.	Late	in	the	year,	the	
threat	of	deflation	arose	in	the	euro-zone	despite	the	European	
Central	Bank’s	efforts	to	support	market	recovery	by	cutting	inter-
est rates to a record low. 

Municipality	Finance	is	an	important	part	of	the	basic	finan-
cial foundation of Finnish society and the only financial institu-
tion in Finland specialising in financing municipal groups and 
state-subsidised	housing	production.	There	were	no	significant	
changes in the financing needs of the Finnish municipal sector in 
2013	compared	to	the	previous	years,	and	the	demand	for	loans	
continued to grow at a conservative rate. The competition in lend-
ing	intensified	somewhat	towards	the	end	of	the	year,	but	never-
theless Municipality Finance maintained its position as the most 
important and competitive lender for its customers. 

The company’s funding acquisition was successful during the 
year,	and	the	company	increased	the	diversification	of	its	funding	
to new markets and investor categories. In the international finan-
cial	markets,	the	company	is	perceived	as	one	of	the	most	reliable	
and	valued	investment	targets.	At	the	end	of	the	year,	the	major	in-
ternational	credit	rating	agencies,	Moody’s	and	Standard	&	Poor’s,	
confirmed	the	company’s	credit	rating	as	still	the	best	possible.

Regulatory	projects	triggered	by	the	financial	crisis	progressed	
during	the	year.	For	Municipality	Finance,	the	most	important	as-
pect of the increased regulation is the new leverage ratio require-
ment	which	will	potentially	come	into		force	in	the	beginning	of	
2018.	In	summer	2013,	the	European	Parliament	decided	on	the	
calculation and reporting of the leverage ratio as part of the CRR/
CRD	IV	package,	but	postponed	the	decision	of	the	most	impor-
tant	aspect	to	Municipality	Finance,	the	level	of	the	ratio,	to	a	later	
date. The minimum leverage ratio required of the company will 
not	be	confirmed	until	2017.	The	company	will	therefore	prepare	
for	a	minimum	leverage	ratio	requirement	of	3%	by	increasing	
its capital through the result of its operations.

Development of business 
operations
Group structure
The	Municipality	Finance	Group	(hereinafter	“the	Group”)	consists	
of	Municipality	Finance	Plc	(hereinafter	“Municipality	Finance”	or	
“the	company”)	and	Financial	Advisory	Services	Inspira	Ltd	(here-
inafter	“Inspira”).	

The	role	of	Municipality	Finance	is	to	offer	market-based	fi-
nancing	to	municipalities,	municipal	federations,	municipally-con-
trolled	entities	and	non-profit	corporations	nominated	by	the	
Housing	Finance	and	Development	Centre	of	Finland	(ARA)	by	
acquiring funding from capital markets at competitive costs. 

Inspira	offers	financial	advisory	services	to	the	public	sector.	
Its services include the analysis and arrangement of various forms 
of	financing	for	public	sector	investments.	In	addition,	Inspira	of-
fers	its	services	for	different	public	sector	ownership	arrangements	
by	planning	the	arrangements,	making	value	assessments	and	as-
sisting	in	contract	negotiations.	Inspira	helps	the	public	sector	to	
arrange its services more effectively and invest more economically.

Net interest income and net operating profit
The	Group’s	operations	continued	to	be	positive	in	2013.	Net	oper-
ating	profit	for	the	financial	year	before	appropriations	and	taxes	
stood	at	EUR	141.3	million	(2012:	EUR	138.6	million).	The	Group’s	
net	interest	income	amounted	to	EUR	149.5	million	(2012:	EUR	
142.4 million). 

Municipality	Finance’s	net	operating	profit	stood	at	EUR	141.3	
million	(2012:	EUR	138.5	million).	Compared	with	the	previous	
year,	net	operating	profit	improved	by	the	increase	in	business	vol-
ume,	the	changes	in	the	margins	of	new	loans	granted,	successful	
funding,	buybacks	of	the	company’s	own	bonds	as	well	as	suc-
cessful	balance	sheet	management.	Income	from	bond	buybacks	
totalled	EUR	10.4	million	in	2013	(2012:	EUR	9.7	million),	which	
is	recognised	in	net	interest	income.	The	result	includes	EUR	14.4	
million	in	unrealised	fair	value	changes	recorded	on	the	basis	of	
valuations	(2012:	EUR	15.8	million).

The	net	operating	profit	of	Municipality	Finance’s	subsidi-
ary,	Inspira,	was	EUR	0.0	million	in	2013	(2012:	EUR	0.2	million).
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Expenses
The	Group’s	commission	expenses	totalled	EUR	4.1	million	at	the	
end	of	the	year	(2012:	EUR	3.2	million).	Operating	expenses	in-
creased	by	8%	to	EUR	20.9	million	during	2013	(2012:	EUR	19.4	
million).	The	growth	in	expenses	was	mainly	due	to	an	increase	
in	personnel	resulting	from	changes	in	business	volume	and	the	
company’s operating environment and on-going IT system de-
velopment	projects.

Administrative	expenses	totalled	EUR	14.8	million	(2012:	EUR	
13.5	million),	of	which	personnel	expenses	accounted	for	EUR	10.4	
million	(2012:	EUR	9.2	million).	Depreciation	of	tangible	and	intan-
gible	assets	amounted	to	EUR	1.2	million	(2012:	EUR	1.1	million).	
Other	operating	expenses	stood	at	EUR	4.9	million	(2012:	EUR	4.9	
million). The result also includes a reversal of impairment losses on 
other	financial	assets	of	EUR	0.1	million	(2012:	EUR	2.0	million).

Balance sheet
The	consolidated	balance	sheet	total	amounted	to	EUR	26,156	
million	at	the	end	of	2013,	compared	to	EUR	25,560	million	at	the	
end	of	the	previous	year.	The	balance	sheet	grew	conservatively	
during the year. Accounting valuations related to financial items 
have	reduced	the	net	effect	of	balance	sheet	growth	despite	an	
increase	in	business	volume.

Capital adequacy 
Municipality	Finance’s	objectives	regarding	equity	in	relation	to	
risk taking and the operating environment are defined as part of 
the	annual	planning.	The	planning	horizon	extends	to	2018,	 in	
order	to	be	able	to	predict	the	business	performance	trend	and	
the sufficiency of own funds with respect to the increasing capital 
requirements	arising	from	changing	regulation	and	to	be	able	to	
react to potential needs for additional capitalisation in sufficient 
time. The Board of Directors approves the capital adequacy plan 
and monitors it. The company updates its capital adequacy plan 
annually.

Controlling capital adequacy is continuous and an essential 
part	of	the	company’s	strategic	planning	process,	which	covers	
setting	strategic	goals,	specifying	development	projects	and	mak-
ing financial forecasts for the following years. This is done in coop-
eration with management and the Board. The Board of the com-
pany approves the final strategy. Management ensures that the 
operative measures of the company correspond with the princi-
ples	determined	in	the	strategy	approved	by	the	Board.	As	part	of	
the	annual	planning,	the	management	prepares	a	business	plan	
for	the	coming	year	and	business	forecasts	for	the	years	that	fol-
low. The company’s risk position and its effect on the company’s 
financial status are also evaluated. Regular risk analyses as well 
as various stress test scenarios are used for evaluating and meas-
uring	risks.	Based	on	these,	the	capital	adequacy	plan	is	updated	
annually and actions needed to strengthen the own funds are de-
termined. The adequacy of own funds is also monitored through 
monthly	business	analyses.

The Group has adopted the Basel II parameters for calculat-
ing capital adequacy. The capital adequacy requirement for credit 
risk	is	calculated	using	Pillar	I	and	the	standard	method,	and	the	
capital	adequacy	requirement	for	operative	risks	using	the	basic	
method.	As	the	Group	has	neither	a	trading	book	nor	share	or	
commodity	positions,	only	currency	risks	are	taken	into	account	
in the capital adequacy calculations for market risk. As the com-
pany	hedges	against	currency	risk	by	using	derivative	contracts	

to	translate	all	foreign	currency	denominated	funding	into	euros,	
the company’s currency position is very small and it is not there-
fore necessary to reserve capital for the currency risk. The credit 
ratings	given	by	Standard	&	Poor’s,	Moody’s	Investor	Service	and	
Fitch Ratings are used for determining the risk weights used in 
the capital adequacy calculations. The aforementioned companies 
are	credit	rating	institutions	approved	by	the	Finnish	Financial	
Supervisory Authority for capital adequacy calculations. In capi-
tal	adequacy	calculations	for	the	credit	risk,	Municipality	Finance	
uses methods for reducing the credit risk such as guarantees pro-
vided	by	municipalities	as	well	as	deficiency	guarantees	given	by	
the	Republic	of	Finland.	For	derivatives,	netting	agreements,	col-
lateral	agreements	(ISDA/Credit	Support	Annex)	and	guarantees	
granted	by	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board	are	used	for	reducing	
the capital adequacy requirement related to the counterparty risk 
of derivative counterparties.

Municipality	Finance	Group’s	own	funds	totalled	EUR	511.5	
million	at	 the	end	of	 the	year	 (2012:	EUR	428.9	million).	 The	
Group’s	Tier	1	capital	totalled	EUR	454.2	million	at	the	end	of	
2013	(2012:	EUR	331.9	million).	No	provision	for	dividend	distri-
bution	was	made	for	Tier	1	capital,	as	the	Board	of	Directors	eval-
uates	the	amount	of	dividends	paid	out	each	year	based	on	the	
decision	of	the	Annual	General	Meeting	and	submits	its	dividend	
proposal	based	on	the	company’s	financial	situation,	the	applica-
ble	regulation	and	taking	into	account	the	company’s	ownership	
structure.		The	Group’s	Tier	2	capital	totalled	EUR	57.3	million	at	
the	end	of	the	year	(2012:	EUR	96.9	million).	Detailed	descriptions	
of	the	subordinated	loans	and	debenture	loans	included	in	own	
funds are included in Note 22 in the notes of the consolidated 
financial statements.

Municipality	Finance	repaid	the	“Upper	Tier	II	 loan	1/2008”	
bond	of	EUR	40	million	on	31	March	2013	with	the	permission	
of the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority. In the 2012 finan-
cial	statements,	the	loan	was	still	fully	included	in	own	funds	and	
capital adequacy.

In	its	Tier	1	capital,	the	company	has	a	capital	loan	of	EUR	
10	million	in	addition	to	capital	investments	amounting	to	EUR	1	
million. These items do not fully satisfy the requirements of capi-
tal	adequacy	regulations	that	entered	into	force	from	the	begin-
ning	of	2014.	As	a	result,	only	the	portion	of	these	items	deter-
mined	by	the	competent	authority	can	be	included	in	own	funds	
going forward.  

The	Group’s	capital	adequacy	developed	favourably	during	the	
year.	The	minimum	requirement	for	own	funds,	corresponding	to	
the	minimum	capital	adequacy	ratio	of	8%	pursuant	to	the	Act	
on	Credit	 Institutions,	was	EUR	102.6	million	(2012:	EUR	101.3	
million). The capital adequacy requirement for credit risk tied up 
the	largest	amount	of	the	Group’s	own	funds	at	EUR	87.0	million	
(2012:	EUR	91.0	million),	the	most	significant	item	being	claims	
on credit institutions and investment firms.

The leverage ratio requirement is scheduled to enter into ef-
fect	from	the	beginning	of	2018.	The	Company	has	taken	this	
into	account	by	beginning	to	prepare	for	changes.	The	final	level	
and	content	of	the	leverage	ratio	requirement	is	likely	to	become	
known in 2017. Municipality Finance has performed analyses of 
the impacts the new leverage ratio requirement will have on the 
Company’s	ability	to	continue	its	current	operations	and	grow	in	
accordance with its strategy. The Company aims to achieve the 
required	level	by	increasing	its	own	funds	through	the	result	of	its	
operations.	At	the	end	of	2013,	the	leverage	ratio	stood	at	1.7%,	
calculated using currently known calculation principles.
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Consolidated own funds, Group
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Share capital 42,583 42,583
Minority interest 71 168
Reserve fund 277 277
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 40,366 40,366
Retained profit 239,944 135,434
Profit for the financial period 124,697 104,510
Capital loans 11,009 11,009
Intangible	assets –4,740 –2,399
TOTAL TIER 1 CAPITAL 454,208 331,948
Fair value reserve 22,285 21,927

Subordinated	liabilities	included	in	upper	Tier	2	capital - 40,000
Subordinated	liabilities	included	in	lower	Tier	2	capital 35,000 35,000
TOTAL TIER 2 CAPITAL 57,285 96,927
TOTAL OWN FUNDS 511,493 428,875

Consolidated key figures for capital adequacy
31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

Capital	adequacy	ratio,	% 39.88 33.87
Capital	adequacy	ratio	for	Tier	1	capital,	% 35.42 26.22

Minimum requirement for own funds, Group
31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

(EUR	1,000)
Capital 

requirement
Risk-weighted 

receivables
Capital 

requirement
Risk-weighted 

receivables
Credit and counterparty risk, standard method 86,991 1,087,383 91,024 1,137,809

Claims on credit institutions and investment firms 38,233 477,916 45,549 569,367
Covered	bonds 16,733 209,159 13,528 169,096
Securitised items 29,129 364,112 28,755 359,441
Shares in investment funds 132 1,651 105 1,310
Other items 2,764 34,546 3,087 38,595

Market risk 0 0
Operational risk, basic method 15,609 10,270
Total 102,600 1,087,383 101,294 1,137,809
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Funding
Municipality	Finance’s	funding	is	based	on	diversification	in	the	
major	capital	markets	as	well	as	reliability,	speed	and	flexibility.	
The	majority	of	funding	is	carried	out	as	standardised	issues	under	
debt	programmes.	Municipality	Finance	has	the	following	debt	
programmes:

Euro	Medium	Term	Note	(EMTN)	programme EUR	m	22,000
Domestic	debt	programme EUR	m	800
Euro	Commercial	Paper	programme	 EUR	m	4,000
AUD	debt	programme	(Kangaroo) AUD	m	2,000

Municipality	Finance’s	funding	is	guaranteed	by	the	Municipal	
Guarantee	Board,	which	has	the	same	credit	ratings	from	Moody’s	
and Standard & Poor’s as Municipality Finance. The Municipal 
Guarantee	Board	has	granted	guarantees	for	the	debt	programmes	
and	funding	arrangements	outside	the	programmes.	As	a	result,	
debt	instruments	issued	by	Municipality	Finance	are	classified	as	
zero-risk when calculating the capital adequacy of credit institu-
tions	in	Finland	and	several	other	European	countries.

Funding	was	very	successful	 in	2013.	Early	redemptions	of	
bonds	resulted	in	a	substantially	increased	refinancing	need	in	the	
early	part	of	the	year.	In	2013,	EUR	10,695	million	was	acquired	
in	 long-term	funding	(2012:	EUR	6,590	million).	No	Municipal	
Bonds	were	issued	under	the	domestic	debt	programme	in	2013	
(2012:	EUR	8	million).	The	company	issued	bonds	denominated	
in	14	different	currencies	in	2013	(2012:	16	currencies).	A	total	
of	EUR	9,245	million	was	issued	in	short	term	debt	instruments	
under	the	Euro	Commercial	Paper	programme	in	2013	(2012:	EUR	
4,239	million),	and	total	funding	under	the	programme	amounted	
to	EUR	1,592	million	at	year	end	(2012:	EUR	1,377	million).	Total	
funding	at	the	end	of	the	year	amounted	to	EUR	23,108	million	
(2012:	EUR	22,036	million).	Of	this	total	amount,	15%	was	denom-
inated	in	euros	(2012:	16%)	and	85%	was	denominated	in	foreign	
currencies	(2012:	84%).	More	than	half	of	the	funding	acquired	
during the year were plain vanilla arrangements; the amount of 
structured funding acquisition decreased in 2013.

Municipality Finance is an active participant in international 
bond	markets	and	acquires	a	very	significant	portion	of	its	funding	
from	international	capital	markets.	Asian	markets,	particularly	Ja-
pan,	continued	to	play	an	important	role	in	Municipality	Finance’s	
funding.	There	was	also	considerable	 interest	 in	the	company’s	
bonds	in	Europe	and	elsewhere	in	the	world.	Nevertheless,	the	
company increased the geographical diversification of its fund-
ing in 2013 significantly. 

The company issued a total of 240 funding transactions in 
2013	 (2012:	156).	The	main	focus	of	funding	 in	2013	was	on	
benchmark	markets,	which	accounted	for	46.5%	of	the	total	fund-
ing	acquired	during	the	year.	In	January	2013,	Municipality	Finance	
launched	its	 largest	ever	Sterling	benchmark	 issue,	worth	GBP	
400	million.	In	April,	Municipality	Finance	carried	out	its	inaugu-
ral	bond	issue	in	the	United	States	capital	market	under	the	Rule	
144A,	issuing	a	benchmark	of	USD	1.75	billion.	This	was	followed	
in	September	by	the	issue	of	a	benchmark	of	USD	1	billion,	also	
under the Rule 144A. Through these funding arrangements Mu-
nicipality Finance further diversified its sources of funding. The 
benchmark	issues	were	successful	despite	the	challenging	mar-
ket	conditions,	allowing	Municipality	Finance	to	further	expand	
its	investor	base.

Active investor cooperation has increased the company’s rep-
utation	in	various	markets,	and	diversifying	the	sources	of	fund-
ing	has	proven	to	be	a	successful	strategy.	The	company	diversi-

fies	its	funding	in	three	ways:	geographically,	by	issuing	bonds	
targeted	at	different	investor	groups,	and	by	issuing	bonds	with	
different maturities. 

 

Customer financing
Municipality	Finance’s	customers	consist	of	municipalities,	mu-
nicipal	federations,	municipally-controlled	entities	and	non-profit	
corporations	nominated	by	the	Housing	Finance	and	Develop-
ment	Centre	of	Finland	(ARA).	Over	the	years,	the	company	has	
increased its importance as a financier to its customers and is 
clearly the largest single operator in its customer segment.

Long-term lending
In	2013,	the	funding	requirements	of	municipalities	and	municipal	
federations increased compared to the previous year. The amount 
of lending for housing financing was slightly lower than what 
was	expected	at	the	end	of	2012	due	to	 lower	conversions	of	
state-subsidised	loans.	The	funding	requirements	for	 interest-
subsidised	housing	production,	however,	remained	unchanged	
from the previous year. 

The	total	number	of	tender	requests	received	by	Municipality	
Finance	in	2013	increased	by	13%	compared	with	2012.	The	total	
value	of	tender	requests	received	was	EUR	5,090	million	(2012:	
EUR	4,515	million),	of	which	 it	won	EUR	3,442	million	 (2012:	
EUR	3,284	million).	Tenders	worth	EUR	1,969	million	were	won	
in	the	municipalities	and	municipal	federations	segment	(2012:	
EUR	1,822	million),	EUR	345	million	in	the	municipal	companies	
category	(2012:	EUR	373	million)	and	EUR	1,128	million	in	bids	
to	housing	corporations	(2012:	EUR	1,089	million).	The	compa-
ny’s long term loan portfolio at the end of 2013 amounted to 
EUR	17,801	million	(2012:	EUR	15,700	million).	This	represents	
an	increase	of	13%	on	the	previous	year.	New	loans	withdrawn	
amounted	to	9%	more	than	in	2012,	or	EUR	3,537	million	(2012:	
EUR	3,254	million).	Municipality	Finance’s	share	of	the	financing	
of	its	customer	base	remains	high.

In	addition	to	loans,	Municipality	Finance	offers	municipali-
ties,	municipal	federations	and	municipal	companies	derivative	
contracts which are tailored to their needs for the management 
of interest rate risk. Demand for derivative products was high in 
2013.	As	interest	rates	remained	low,	customers	increased	their	
hedging against future increases in market rates. 

Leasing operations
Municipality Finance offers financial leasing services to munici-
palities,	municipal	federations	and	municipally	owned	or	con-
trolled	corporations.	Leasing	services	were	launched	in	2010.

The aim of Municipality Finance’s leasing operations is to in-
crease	transparency	and	the	range	of	alternatives	available	in	the	
leasing	market.	The	company	has	concluded	a	number	of	facility	
agreements	for	leasing	services	and	the	prospects	for	expanding	
leasing	operations	are	good,	as	financial	 leasing	is	 increasingly	
seen	as	a	viable	alternative,	particularly	for	procurement	by	mu-
nicipal corporations engaging in municipal operations and hospi-
tal	districts.	The	leasing	portfolio	stood	at	EUR	81	million	at	year	
end	(2012:	EUR	64	million).

Short-term lending
Municipalities and municipal federations issue municipal com-
mercial papers to cover their short-term financing needs. Compa-
nies under the control of municipalities and municipal federations 
issue municipal company commercial papers.
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With	interest	rates	remaining	low,	customers	continued	ac-
tively	use	short-term	financing.	At	the	end	of	the	year,	the	total	
value of municipal paper and municipal commercial paper pro-
grammes	concluded	with	Municipality	Finance	was	EUR	3,265	mil-
lion	(2012:	EUR	3,054	million).	At	the	end	of	the	year,	the	company	
had	EUR	704	million	in	municipal	papers	and	municipal	commer-
cial	papers	on	its	balance	sheet	(2012:	EUR	753	million)	and	dur-
ing	the	entire	year,	customers	acquired	EUR	8,993	million	in	fi-
nancing	under	short-term	programmes	(2012:	EUR	9,109	million).

Investment operations
Municipality Finance’s investment operations primarily involve 
investing pre-funding. The funds are invested in highly liquid and 
rated financial instruments to ensure the company’s operations in 
all	market	conditions.	According	to	the	company’s	liquidity	policy,	
its	liquidity	must	be	sufficient	to	cover	the	needs	of	continued	
undisturbed	operations	for	at	least	the	six	following	months.	The	
company	invests	cash	collateral	received	on	the	basis	of	derivative	
collateral agreements in short-term money market investments. 

At	the	end	of	2013,	 investments	 in	securities	totalled	EUR	
5,292	million	(2012:	EUR	5,895	million)	and	their	average	credit	
rating	was	AA	(2012:	AA).	The	average	maturity	of	the	security	
portfolio	stood	at	3.54	years	at	the	end	of	2013	(2012:	2.97	years).	
In	addition	to	this,	the	company	had	EUR	379	million	in	other	in-
vestments	(2012:	EUR	329	million),	of	which	EUR	354	million	were	
in	central	bank	deposits	(2012:	EUR	228	million),	EUR	25	million	
in	money	market	deposits	in	credit	institutions	(2012:	EUR	51	mil-
lion)	and	EUR	0	in	repurchase	agreements	(2012:	EUR	50	million).

Liquidity	remained	high	during	2013.	New	investments	were	
mainly	made	in	covered	bonds	and	bonds	issued	by	public	sector	
entities	and	banks	based	in	strong	core	countries	in	the	eurozone.

Inspira
In	2013	Inspira’s	turnover	was	EUR	1.7	million	(2012:	EUR	1.8	mil-
lion).	Net	operating	profit	for	the	period	totalled	EUR	0.0	million	
(2012:	EUR	0.2	million).	

Turnover comprised a wide range of assignments related to 
financing	solutions	for	public	sector	investments	as	well	as	vari-
ous reorganisations of activities in the municipal sector. The de-
mand	for	the	services	offered	by	Inspira	increased	in	2013,	which	
was	reflected	in	the	number	of	tender	requests	received.	Inspira	
acted as an advisor in 66 assignments during the year.

Governance
Corporate Governance Policy
The Board has approved the Company’s Corporate Governance 
policy	which	substantially	complies	with	the	Finnish	Securities	
Market Association Corporate Governance Code for listed com-
panies in Finland. As Municipality Finance is solely an issuer of 
bonds	and	its	shares	are	not	subject	to	public	trading,	applying	the	
Finnish Corporate Governance Code for listed companies directly 
in	its	entirety	is	not	appropriate.	Nevertheless,	the	company	has	
decided	to	use	the	Corporate	Governance	Code	as	the	basis	for	
preparing its own Corporate Governance Policy. In addition to 
the	Corporate	Governance	Code	for	Finnish	listed	companies,	the	
Corporate	Governance	Policy	of	Municipality	Finance	has	been	
prepared	in	compliance,	where	applicable,	with	Finnish	Financial	

Supervisory	Authority	standard	1.3	on	“Internal	Governance	and	
Organisation	of	Activities”.

The	Board	is	responsible	for	ensuring	that	Municipality	Finance	
complies with its Corporate Governance Policy and is commit-
ted to developing it further. As a part of the Annual Report 2013 
(as	a	separate	section),	Municipality	Finance	publishes	a	corpo-
rate	governance	statement,	including	the	description	of	the	key	
characteristics of internal control and risk management systems 
related to the financial reporting processes as required in the Se-
curities Market Act.

Municipality Finance’s Corporate Governance Policy is avail-
able	 in	Finnish,	English	and	Swedish	online	on	the	company’s	
website	(www.munifin.fi).

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of Municipality Finance was held 
on 26 March 2013. The Annual General Meeting confirmed the 
financial	statements	for	2012	and	discharged	the	members	of	
the	Board	of	Directors,	the	CEO	and	the	Deputy	CEO	from	liabil-
ity	for	the	financial	year	2012.	 In	addition,	the	Annual	General	
Meeting adopted the proposal of the Board of Directors not to 
distribute	a	dividend	and	to	retain	the	distributable	funds	of	EUR	
21,641,120.68	in	equity.	

Based on the proposal of the Shareholders’ Nomination Com-
mittee,	the	Annual	General	Meeting	decided	that	the	Board	of	
Directors	shall	have	seven	members	during	the	2013-2014	term	
of	office,	instead	of	eight	members	as	previously,	and	elected	the	
members	of	the	Board	of	Directors.	The	Annual	General	Meeting	
also adopted the proposal of the Shareholders’ Nomination Com-
mittee	on	the	remuneration	of	Board	members	(more	information	
on remuneration is provided in Note 41 to the parent company 
financial statements).

The	meeting	also	elected	KPMG	Oy	Ab	as	the	auditor	of	the	
Company,	with	Marcus	Tötterman,	APA,	as	the	principal	auditor.

Board of Directors
At	the	Annual	General	Meeting	of	26	March	2013,	the	Share-
holders’ Nomination Committee made a proposal to the Annual 
General	Meeting	to	be	elected	for	the	term	beginning	at	the	end	
of the Annual General Meeting of 2013 and concluding at the 
end of the following Annual General Meeting. The Annual General 
Meeting	elected	the	following	members	to	the	Board	of	Directors:	
Eva	Liljeblom	(chairman),	Fredrik	Forssell	(vice	chairman),	Teppo	
Koivisto,	Sirpa	Louhevirta,	Tuula	Saxholm,	Asta	Tolonen	and	Juha	
Yli-Rajala.

In	order	to	organise	 its	work	as	efficiently	as	possible,	the	
Board	has	established	an	Audit	Committee	and	a	Remuneration	
Committee	for	the	preparation	of	matters.	The	members	of	the	
Audit	Committee	are	Fredrik	Forssell	(Chairman),	Sirpa	Louhevir-
ta,	Tuula	Saxholm	and	Asta	Tolonen.	The	members	of	the	Remu-
neration	Committee	are	Eva	Liljeblom	(Chairman),	Teppo	Koivisto	
and	Juha	Yli-Rajala.	

The operation of the Company’s Board and its Committees is 
discussed in more detail in the Corporate Governance Statement 
included in the annual report.

Personnel
Municipality	Finance	Group	employed	83	people	at	the	end	of	
2013	(2012:	72),	of	whom	70	worked	for	the	parent	company	
(2012:	61).	Wages	and	salaries	paid	to	the	staff	totalled	EUR	8.4	
million	in	the	Group	(2012:	EUR	7.4	million).	

The	President	and	CEO	of	Municipality	Finance	is	Pekka	Ave-
rio.	Executive	Vice	President	Esa	Kallio	acts	as	deputy	to	the	CEO.	
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In	addition,	the	Board	of	Management	of	Municipality	Finance	
includes	Senior	Vice	President	Toni	Heikkilä,	Senior	Vice	President	
Jukka	Helminen,	Senior	Vice	President	Marjo	Tomminen	and	Senior	
Vice	President	Mari	Tyster.	Senior	Vice	President	Jukka	Helminen	
was	appointed	as	a	member	of	the	Board	of	Management	effec-
tive	25	February	2013.

The	CEO	of	Municipality	Finance’s	subsidiary	Inspira	is	Kim-
mo	Lehto.

Salaries and remuneration 
The remuneration paid to the management and employees of 
Municipality	Finance	consists	of	fixed	remuneration	(base	sal-
ary	and	fringe	benefits)	and	variable	remuneration	based	on	the	
conditions of the remuneration system. The Board of Directors 
confirms the principles of the remuneration system and these are 
evaluated annually. The Remuneration Committee of the Board of 
Directors assists the Board in matters related to the remuneration 
systems and remunerations. A more detailed description of sala-
ries	and	remuneration	is	available	in	Note	28	to	the	consolidated	
financial statements.

Internal audit
Internal	audit	has	been	outsourced	to	Deloitte	&	Touche	Ltd.	The	
company’s	Legal	Affairs	and	Compliance	unit	 is	responsible	for	
the coordination of the outsourced audit. Internal audit’s tasks 
include	monitoring	the	reliability	and	accuracy	of	Municipality	
Finance’s financial and other management information. The tasks 
also include making sure that the company has adequate and 
properly organised manual and IT systems for its operations and 
that	the	risks	associated	with	the	operations	are	being	managed	
adequately. The internal audit reports to the Board of Directors 
and its Audit Committee.

Risk management
Municipality Finance’s operations require sufficient risk manage-
ment mechanisms to ensure that the company’s risk position 
remains	within	the	limits	confirmed	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	
Municipality Finance applies very conservative principles to its 
risk management. The aim is to keep the overall risk status at such 
a	low	level	that	the	company’s	strong	credit	rating	(Aaa/AAA)	is	
not compromised.

Municipality	Finance’s	general	principles,	limits	and	measure-
ment	methods	used	in	risk	management	are	determined	by	the	
Board of Directors. The purpose of risk management is to ensure 
that	the	risks	associated	with	lending,	funding	acquisition,	invest-
ment	and	other	business	operations	are	in	line	with	Municipality	
Finance’s low risk profile.

The	Investments	department	is	responsible	for	investing	with-
in set counterparty limits. The Treasury department is in charge of 
managing	balance	sheet	risk	with	regard	to	market	and	financial	
risks.	The	company’s	Middle	Office	and	Legal	Affairs	and	Compli-
ance	departments	are	responsible	for	managing	the	supervision	
and reporting tasks related to financial and operational risks. Risk 
standing and limit usage are reported to the Board of Manage-
ment	and	Board	of	Directors	on	a	regular	basis.

Municipality Finance carries out regular risk analyses of vari-
ous risk areas. The aim of the analyses is to recognise the new 
challenges	and	risks	created	by	changes	in	the	operating	environ-
ment	and	prioritise	the	risks	and	their	management	on	the	basis	
of analysis results.

A comprehensive stress test is conducted at the company an-
nually	by	an	independent	external	party.	The	main	aims	for	the	test	
conducted in the autumn of 2013 was to analyse the development 
of	Municipality	Finance’s	equity	and	its	range	in	2013–2018.	The	
testing applied to operational market and credit risks and their 
estimated financial impact under different scenarios. The test also 
included a so-called reverse stress test to analyse the trends in 
exceptional	circumstances	in	which	the	company’s	capital	might	
fall to a critically low level. The results of the test showed that 
with	the	current	capital	requirements,	the	level	of	the	company’s	
capital is sufficient in the review period even in highly unfavour-
able	circumstances.

There were no material changes in the company’s risk stand-
ing	in	2013.	Risks	remained	within	the	set	limits	and,	based	on	
the	company’s	assessment,	risk	management	has	met	the	require-
ments	established	for	it.	The	company’s	risk	standing	is	regularly	
reported on to the Board of Directors as a part of monthly report-
ing,	and,	in	addition,	the	risk	management	director	provides	the	
Board	with	a	broader	overall	review	of	the	company’s	risk	stand-
ing	in	relation	to	various	risk	areas	every	six	months.

Strategic risks
Strategic risk means that the company would have chosen the 
wrong	strategy	for	financially	profitable	operations	or	that	the	
company would fail to adapt the chosen strategy to changes in 
the operating environment. The Group’s management of stra-
tegic	risks	 is	based	on	continuous	monitoring	and	analyses	of	
the	clients’	needs,	forecasts	of	market	trends,	and	changes	in	the	
competition and the operating environment. Risks and their sig-
nificance	are	assessed	annually	when	the	business	plan	is	drawn	
up.	The	Group’s	existing	strategy	extends	to	2018.

Credit risk 
Credit risk means the risk of a counterparty defaulting on its com-
mitments to the company. Municipality Finance may only grant 
loans and leasing financing without a separate security directly 
to	a	municipality	or	municipal	federation.	For	others,	loans	must	
be	secured	with	an	absolute	guarantee	or	deficiency	guarantee	is-
sued	by	a	municipality	or	municipal	federation,	or	a	state	deficien-
cy guarantee. A primary pledge is required when the loan is given 
a	deficiency	guarantee	by	a	municipality	or	a	state.	The	amount	of	
the primary pledge must equal 1.2 times the amount of the loan.  
Because	such	a	guarantee	is	required	to	reduce	the	credit	risk,	all	
loans granted are classified as zero-risk when calculating capital 
adequacy.	The	company	does	not	bear	the	residual	value	risk	for	
the	objects	of	its	leasing	services.	Municipality	Finance	has	not	
had any non-performing assets during its operations or credit 
losses in the financing of its customers.

Municipality	Finance	is	also	exposed	to	credit	risk	from	its	pre-
funding investment portfolio and derivative instruments. In select-
ing counterparties Municipality Finance evaluates credit risk with 
principles	and	limits,	which	have	been	approved	by	the	Board	of	
Directors,	based	on	external	credit	ratings.	Nominal	values	of	debt	
securities	and	market	values	of	derivatives	(fair	value	method)	are	
used in monitoring credit risk.

Municipality Finance  limits credit risk of the derivative agree-
ments	with	ISDA	Credit	Support	Annexes	in	case	of	major	deriva-
tive	counterparties.	The	company	has	44	Credit	Support	Annexes	
in	force.	Additionally,	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board’s	guarantees	
are used for reducing the counterparty risk related to the deriva-
tive contracts of certain counterparties.
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Breakdown of derivative agreements 
by counterparty credit rating
(EUR	1,	000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Finnish municipalities 1,460,644 1,136,356
AAA - -
AA 12,551,206 10,086,480
A 38,458,997 29,999,588
BBB 274,131 2,750,112
Total 52,744,978 43,972,536

Market risk 
Market risk means the risk of the company incurring a loss as a 
result	of	an	unfavourable	change	in	market	price	or	its	volatility.	
Market	risks	include	interest	rate,	exchange	rate,	share	price	and	
other price risks.

Municipality Finance manages the interest rate risk arising 
from	business	operations	by	means	of	derivative	contracts.	The	
company	hedges	against	exchange	rate	risks	by	using	derivative	
contracts to translate all foreign currency denominated funding 
into euros. Derivative contracts are also used to hedge against oth-
er	price	risks.	Derivatives	may	only	be	used	for	hedging	purposes.

Foreign currency denominated funding
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Liabilities	to	credit	
institutions 172,032 371,473
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	
public	sector	entities 245,791 343,452
Debt	securities	issued 19,318,547 17,788,370

Total 19,736,370 18,503,296

The	company	has	specified	limits	for	the	following	market	risks:
•	 Currency	position
•	 Interest	rate	risk

– Duration
– Value-at-Risk
–	 Economic	Value
– Income risk

•	 Price	risk	of	pre-funding	investments

Currency position
The	currency	position	is	calculated	as	the	difference	between	as-
sets	and	liabilities	in	various	currencies	in	euros.

(EUR	1,000) Currency Currency position
31 Dec 2013 USD –12
31 Dec 2012 USD –1

Duration
Duration	refers	to	an	interest	rate	risk	over	time,	describing	the	
average remaining maturity at the prevailing interest rate level.  

Receivables Liabilities Difference
31 Dec 2013 1.538	years 1.470 years 25 days
31 Dec 2012 1.704 years 1.600 years 38	days

Value-at-Risk
The	VaR	figure	describes	the	maximum	negative	change	in	the	
market	value	of	the	balance	sheet	during	10	days	at	a	probability	
of	99%	in	euros.	The	VaR	model	used	by	the	company	measures	
market	risks	on	the	balance	sheet,	 i.e.,	 in	practice,	the	interest	
rate	sensitivity,	as	the	company	hedges	against	all	other	market	
risks.	The	model	does	not	measure	credit	risk	on	the	balance	sheet.

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec
Year’s 

average
Year’s 

lowest
Year’s 

highest
2013 1,110 749 560 1,110
2012 810 924 470 1,650

Balance sheet and binding loan commitment liabilities

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Total

Loans and 
advances to the 

public 
and public 

sector entities

Loans and 
advances
to credit 

institutions Debt securities
Binding loan 

commitments
Public	sector	entities 10,012,742 8,329,298 - 1,578,395 105,049
Enterprises	and	housing	corporations	 10,216,288 9,287,948 - 51,968 876,371
Non-profit organisations 183,992 183,992 - - -
Credit institutions 4,806,755 - 589,144 4,217,610 -
Other 137,672 - - 137,672 -
Total 25,357,447 17,801,239 589,144 5,985,644 981,420

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Total

Loans and 
advances to the 

public 
and public 

sector entities

Loans and 
advances
to credit 

institutions Debt securities
Binding loan 

commitments
Public	sector	entities 8,904,446 7,428,634 - 1,391,274 84,539
Enterprises	and	housing	corporations	 9,323,201 8,104,843 - 55,309 1,163,049
Non-profit organisations 166,647 166,647 - - -
Credit institutions 4,689,600 - 106,828 4,582,772 -
Other 608,476 - - 608,476 -
Total 23,692,371 15,700,124 106,828 6,637,831 1,247,588



Municipality Finance Group    

35

Economic Value
Economic	Value	describes	the	interest	rate	sensitivity	of	the	pre-
sent	value	of	the	balance	sheet.	It	is	measured	by	calculating	the	
change in the present value of the interest rate sensitive cash 
flows	at	different	interest	rate	curve	changes.	The	basic	scenario	is	
a	200	basis	point	increase	and	decrease	of	the	interest	rate	curve.

(EUR	1,000) Impact
In relation to 

own funds
31 Dec 2013 10,000 2.0%
31 Dec 2012 3,100 0.7%

Income risk
Income risk refers to the negative impact of interest rate changes 
on	the	company’s	net	interest	income.	The	basic	scenario	is	a	100	
basis	point	shift	throughout	the	interest	rate	curve.	The	impact	
is	evaluated	in	proportion	to	the	company’s	profitability	and	own	
funds.

(EUR	1,000) Impact

In relation to 
net interest 

income
31 Dec 2013 –3,096 2.4%
31 Dec 2012 –3,066 3.3%

Price risk
Price	risk	refers	to	the	possibility	of	changes	in	the	market	values		
of pre-funding investments due to a change in the market’s 
 required return as a consequence of a change in the investment’s 
risk or the market’s risk sensitivity. The change in required return 
is	calculated	at	99%	confidence	level.

(EUR	1,000)
Change in 

required return Impact
In relation to 

own funds
31 Dec 2013 0.33% -53,046 10.4%

31 Dec 2012
No comparative 

figure

In	 addition	 to	 these	 risk	 parameters,	 management	 receives	
monthly reports on the parent company’s interest rate sensitiv-
ity	analyses	and	the	calculation	of	changes	in	the	balance	sheet	
market value. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity	risk	means	the	risk	of	the	company	not	being	able	to	
perform	payment	obligations	arising	from	settling	funding	agree-
ments or other funding activities on their due date. The Board of 
Directors of Municipality Finance has set the following limits on 
liquidity	risks:	
•	 refinancing	gap
•	 sufficiency	of	 liquid	assets	measured	as	a	minimum	time	

period

Market liquidity risk
Market liquidity risk means that the company would fail to realise 
or	cover	its	position	at	the	market	price,	because	the	market	lacks	
depth or is not functioning due to disruption.

The company monitors the liquidity of markets and products 
on	a	continuous	basis.	In	addition,	established	market	standards	
are	observed	when	derivative	contracts	are	concluded.	The	market	
values	of	almost	all	debt	securities	valued	at	fair	value	are	calcu-
lated	based	on	quotations	received	from	the	market.	For	the	re-
maining	debt	securities,	the	market	value	is	calculated	using	other	
market information.

The	company	has	been	approved	as	a	monetary	policy	coun-
terparty of the Bank of Finland. The company has pledged loans 
to	the	Bank	of	Finland	(parent	company	note	37).

Operational risks
Operational risk means the risk of loss due to insufficient or failed 
internal	processes,	personnel,	systems	or	external	factors.	Opera-
tional risks also include risks arising from failure to comply with 
internal	and	external	regulation	(compliance	risk),	legal	risks	and	
reputational	risk.	Operational	risks	may	result	in	expenses,	payable	
compensation,	loss	of	reputation,	false	information	on	position,	
risk and results or the interruption of operations.

Operational risks are recognised as part of the company’s op-
erations	and	processes.	This	has	been	implemented	with	an	annual	
mapping of operational risk at a department and company level. 
The	management	of	operational	risks	is	the	responsibility	of	each	
function/department.	In	addition,	the	company’s	departments	re-
sponsible	for	risk	control	support	the	other	functions/departments	
and	have	responsibility	at	the	company	level	for	coordinating	the	
management of operational risks.

Breakdown of financial liabilities by maturity
31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Max. 1 year 1–5 years Over 5 years Total
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 578,651 45,290 1,640,446 2,264,386
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 20,087 353,027 556,095 929,209
Debt	securities	issued 7,718,594 10,884,367 1,666,337 20,269,298
Subordinated	liabilities 10,000 37,965 1,009 48,974
Total 8,327,332 11,320,648 3,863,887 23,511,867

    

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Max. 1 year 1–5 years Over 5 years Total
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 2,049,851 225,297 1,686,581 3,961,729
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 47,606 216,996 784,875 1,049,477
Debt	securities	issued 9,019,033 7,422,376 2,356,966 18,798,375
Subordinated	liabilities 50,000 39,346 1,009 90,355
Total 11,166,490 7,904,015 4,829,431 23,899,936

Loans	that	may	be	called	in	prematurely	have	been	entered	in	the	table	in	the	maturity	class	corresponding	to	the	first	possible	call	date.	
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Municipality Finance uses various methods for managing op-
erational risks. The company has internal operational guidelines 
that	are	updated	regularly	and	monitored	for	compliance.	Key	du-
ties	and	processes	have	been	charted	and	described.	Internal	in-
structions	and	processes	are	updated	on	a	regular	basis.	The	tasks	
of	trading,	risk	control,	back	office	functions,	documentation	and	
accounting	are	separated.	The	company	has	adequate	substitution	
systems	to	ensure	the	continuity	of	key	functions.	The	expertise	of	
the personnel is maintained and developed through regular de-
velopment discussions and training plans. Municipality Finance 
maintains adequate insurance cover and assesses the level of in-
surance	cover	on	a	regular	basis.	Municipality	Finance	has	a	con-
tingency	plan	for	situations	in	which	business	operations	are	in-
terrupted. The plan is designed to ensure the company continues 
functioning and to limit its losses in different disruptive scenarios. 
The annual mapping of operational risks and the operational risk 
event report process feed into the Company’s continuity planning.

Municipality Finance’s compliance function continuously 
monitors the development of legislation and regulations issued 
by	authorities	relevant	to	the	company’s	operations	and	ensures	
that any regulatory changes are appropriately responded to. The 
legislation and regulations concerning the operations of credit in-
stitutions	are	facing	significant	changes,	which	creates	challenges	
for the company’s compliance. The company has tried to minimise 
the	risks	related	to	this	by	active	contact	with	the	authorities	as	
well as organisation of the company’s internal compliance func-
tion	(incl.	reporting,	evaluation	of	effects).

The	 company	has	 significant	 information	 system	projects	
aimed at improving the efficiency of operations currently on-
going.	The	extent	of	these	projects	creates	operational	risks	that	
the	company	strives	to	minimise	by	developing	and	implement-
ing	models	related	to	project	management	and	monitoring	(incl.	
regular reporting). 

The realisation of operational risks is monitored with sys-
tematic	operational	risk	event	reporting,	which	is	used	to	change	
operating principles or implement other measures to reduce op-
erational risks where necessary. Operative risk events are reported 
to the Board of Management and Board of Directors. No mate-
rial losses were incurred as a result of operational risks in 2013.

Share capital and owners
At	the	end	of	the	2013	financial	year,	Municipality	Finance’s	paid	
share	capital	registered	in	the	Trade	Register	was	EUR	43.0	million	
and	the	number	of	shares	was	39,063,798.	Each	share	confers	one	
vote at the Annual General Meeting.

At	the	end	of	2013,	Municipality	Finance	had	284	sharehold-
ers	(31	December	2012:	296).

10 largest shareholders 31 December 2013
  No. of shares %
1. Keva 11,975,550 30.66
2. Republic	of	Finland 6,250,000 16.00
3. City of Helsinki 4,066,525 10.41
4. City	of	Espoo 1,547,884 3.96

5.
VAV-Asunnot	Oy	(City	of	
Vantaa) 963,048 2.47

6. City of Tampere 919,027 2.35
7. City of Oulu 903,125 2.31
8. City of Turku 615,681 1.58
9. City	of	Kuopio 569,450 1.46
10. City	of	Lahti 502,220 1.29

Events after the reporting period
The Board of the company is not aware of any issues having taken 
place after the end of the reporting period that would have a 
material effect on the company’s financial situation.

Prospects for 2014
The	international	financial	markets	expect	2014	to	be	a	calm	year	
with no significant fluctuations. The most significant threat to 
economic	growth	in	Europe	is	the	possibility	of	deflation.	Efforts	
are	being	made	to	prevent	deflation	by	keeping	 interest	rates	
very low. The low interest rates make the market situation more 
challenging for Municipality Finance.

Despite	the	weakened	economic	outlook,	the	Republic	of	Fin-
land	and	the	Finnish	municipal	sector	have	maintained	the	best	
possible	credit	ratings,	and	their	relative	position	within	the	eu-
rozone	has	strengthened.	The	company	therefore	does	not	expect	
significant	changes	in	the	availability	of	financing.	The	amount	of	
funding	acquired	in	2014	is	expected	to	be	lower	than	in	2013.

The investment requirements of the municipal sector are in-
creasing	in	the	long	term.	However,	new	investment	projects	initi-
ated	by	municipalities	are	expected	to	remain	at	their	current	level	
or decrease slightly as the general economic uncertainty increases. 
The	ongoing,	still	unfinished	municipal	reform	may	also	postpone	
municipalities’	investment	decisions	in	the	next	few	years.	State-
subsidised	housing	production	is	expected	to	remain	unchanged	
from the previous year. 

EU-level	regulation	will	 increase	substantially	 in	2014.	The	
revised regulatory framework on capital adequacy and liquid-
ity	(CRR/CRD	IV),	which	entered	into	force	at	the	beginning	of	
the	year,	 increases	capital	requirements	and	leaves	 little	room	
for	national	regulation	or	deviation	from	the	common	European	
model.	As	part	of	the	framework’s	 implementation,	the	Finnish	
Act	on	Credit	Institutions	will	be	amended	in	its	entirety	in	2014.	
Another	significant	regulatory	change	concerning	the	banking	
sector	and	all	other	parties	that	use	derivatives	is	the	European	
Market	Infrastructure	Regulation	(EMIR),	the	implementation	of	
which will continue in 2014. 

Municipality Finance will continue to develop its own opera-
tions	in	a	systematic	manner,	investing	in	particular		in	developing	
services	that	the	company’s	customers	need,	adapting	to	changes	
in	the	operating	environment	and	regulatory	environment,	in	ad-
dition to renewing information systems and in refining the com-
pany’s processes.

The	profitability	of	Municipality	Finance’s	operations	is	ex-
pected to remain at a strong level in 2014.
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The Group’s development
31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010 31 Dec 2009

Turnover	(EUR	m) 196.8 292.5 319.0 198.9 285.3
Net	interest	income	(EUR	m) 149.5 142.4 94.2 78.7 50.6
%	of	turnover 76.0 48.7 29.5 39.6 17.7
Net	operating	profit	(EUR	m) 141.3 138.6 65.3 58.3 33.7
%	of	turnover 71.78 47.38 20.45 29.32 11.82
Cost-to-income ratio 0.15 0.14 0.23 0.23 0.31
Loan	portfolio	(EUR	m) 17,801 15,700 13,625 11,698 9,741
Funding	portfolio	(EUR	m) 23,108 22,036 20,092 17,162 13,218
Balance	sheet	total	(EUR	m) 26,156 25,560 23,842 20,047 14,557
Return	on	equity	(%)	(ROE) 30.58 38.04 27.08 28.42 27.84
Return	on	assets,	%	(ROA) 0.48 0.42 0.23 0.42 0.31
Equity	ratio	(%) 1.80 1.35 0.86 0.85 0.91
Tier	1	capital	(EUR	m) 454.2 331.9 227.6 177.5 145.4
Own	funds	(EUR	m) 511.5 428.9 288.4 245.9 207.7
Capital	adequacy	ratio,	Tier	1	capital	(%) 35.42 26.22 19.04 13.92 14.12
Capital	adequacy	ratio	(%) 39.88 33.87 24.13 19.28 20.17
Number	of	employees 83 72 67 61 53
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Basis for calculating the key figures

Turnover
Interest	income	+	commission	income	+	net	income	from	securities	and	foreign	exchange	transactions	+	net	income	from	available-
for-sale financial assets + net income from hedge accounting + other operating income

Cost-to-income ratio
Commission	expenses	+	administrative	expenses	+	depreciation	+	other	operating	expenses

Net	interest	income	+	commission	income	+	net	income	from	securities	and	foreign	exchange	
transactions	+	net	income	from	available-for-sale	financial	assets	+	net	income	from	hedge		
accounting + other operating income

Return on equity (%) (ROE)
Net	operating	profit	-	taxes
 * 100
Equity	and	non-controlling	interest	(average	year	beginning	and	year	end)

Return on assets (%) (ROA)
Net	operating	profit	-	taxes
 * 100
Balance	sheet	total	(average	year	beginning	and	year	end)

Equity ratio (%)
Equity	and	non-controlling	interest	+	appropriations	less	deferred		
tax	liabilities
 * 100
Balance sheet total

Capital adequacy ratio, Tier 1 capital (%)
Total Tier 1 capital
	 *	8
Total minimum requirement for own funds

Capital adequacy ratio (%)
Total own funds
	 *		8
Minimum requirement of own funds total
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Municipality Finance Group 

Financial statements
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Consolidated statement of financial position

(EUR	1,000) Note 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (8) 354,232 228,188
Loans	and	advanced	to	credit	institutions (9) 589,144 106,828
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	
entities 17,882,282 15,764,232
Debt	securities (10) 5,985,644 6,637,831
Shares and participations (11) 10,050 10,035
Derivative contracts (7,	12) 1,094,150 2,551,683
Intangible	assets (13,	15) 4,740 2,399
Tangible	assets (14,	15) 2,525 2,341
Other assets (16) 1,977 2,410
Accrued income and prepayments (17) 231,656 254,214
TOTAL ASSETS (4,	5,	6) 26,156,402 25,560,160

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 2,264,386 3,961,730
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 929,209 1,049,477
Debt	securities	issued (19) 20,269,298 18,798,375
Derivative contracts (7,	12) 1,818,359 937,983	
Other	liabilities (20) 1,395 1,306
Accrued	expenses	and	deferred	income (21) 268,590 297,999	
Subordinated	liabilities (22) 48,974 90,355
Deferred	tax	liabilities (18) 85,967 77,670
TOTAL LIABILITIES (4,	5,	6) 25,686,178 25,214,895

EQUITY AND NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
Share capital (23) 42,583 42,583
Reserve fund (23) 277 277
Fair value reserve 22,285 21,927
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity (23) 40,366 40,366	
Retained earnings 364,641 239,944
Total equity attributable to parent company equity 
holders 470,153 345,097
Non-controlling interest 71 168
TOTAL EQUITY AND NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 470,224 345,265
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (4,	5,	6) 26,156,402 25,560,160
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(EUR	1,000) Note 1 Jan–31 Dec 2013 1 Jan–31 Dec 2012

Interest income (29) 180,014 275,660
Interest	expense (29) –30,524 –133,259
NET INTEREST INCOME (29) 149,490 142,402
Commission income (30) 1,933 1,730
Commission	expense (31) –4,135 –3,225
Net	income	from	securities	and	foreign	exchange	
transactions (32) 5,023 14,340
Net	income	from	available-for-sale	financial	assets (33) 214 405
Net income from hedge accounting (34) 9,617 340
Other operating income (35) 5 26
Admistrative	expenses (36) –14,802 –13,495
Depreciation	and	impairment	on	tangible	and	intangible	
assets (15) –1,196 –1,067
Other	operating	expenses (37) –4,937 –4,874
Impairment losses on other financial assets (38) 54 2,020
NET OPERATING PROFIT 141,266 138,601
Income	tax	expense (39) –16,567 –33,991
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 124,699 104,611
Profit	attributable	to:

Equity	holders	of	the	parent	company 124,697 104,510
Non-controlling interest 1 100 

(EUR	1,000) Note 1 Jan–31 Dec 2013 1 Jan–31 Dec 2012

Profit for the period 124,699 104,611
Components of other comprehensive income

Items	to	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	in	subsequent	
periods

Available-for-sale	financial	assets	(fair	value	
reserve):

Net change in fair value 1,004 47,308
Net amount transferred to profit or loss –2,356 283
IAS	39	reclassification	adjustment (10) 167 272

Taxes	related	to	components	of	other	comprehensive	
income 290 –11,726
Change	in	corporate	tax	rate 1,254	 -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 125,057  140,747
Total	comprehensive	income	attributable	to:

Equityholders	of	the	parent	company 125,056	 140,647
Non-controlling interest 1 100

Consolidated income statement

Statement of comprehensive income
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

(EUR	1,000) 1 Jan–31 Dec 2013 1 Jan–31 Dec 2012
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES –62,468 –482,695

Net change in long-term funding 3,381,994 1,478,271
Net change in short-term funding 234,714 1,127,527
Net change in long-term loans –2,271,953 –2,046,141
Net change in short-term loans 52,280 –219,555
Net change in investments 397,440 –929,650
Net change in collateral –1,970,860 –32,890
Interest paid –28,664 –172,854
Interest received 171,333 309,769
Other income 16,716 9,503
Payments	of	operating	expenses –31,525 –10,013
Taxes	paid –13,943 3,339

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES –3,709 –1,128
Acquisition	of	tangible	assets –748 –390
Acquisition	of	intangible	assets –2,961 –738

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES –40,098 –173
Change	in	subordinated	liabilities –40,000 -
Dividens paid –98 –173

CHANGE IN CASH FUNDS –106,275 –483,996
CASH FUNDS AT 1 JANUARY 1,991,448 2,475,444
CASH FUNDS AT 31 DECEMBER 1,885,173 1,991,448

Cash	funds	include	the	following	balance	sheet	items:
Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	loans	and	advances	to	ceredit	institutions	and	debt	securities	maturing	within	three	months

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Cash and cash equivalents 354,232 228,188
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions 589,144 106,828
Debt	securities	maturing	within	three	months 941,796 1,656,432
TOTAL CASH FUNDS 1,885,173 1,991,448
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Total equity attributable to parent company equity holders

(EUR	1,000)
Share  

capital
Reserve  

fund
Fair value 

reserve

Reserve for 
invested

non- 
restricted 

equity  
Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total  

equity

EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2011 42,583 277 –14,210 40,366 135,434 204,450 241 204,691
Dividends paid for 2011 - - - - - - –173 –173
Profit for the period - - - - 104,510 104,510 100 104,610
Components of other comprehensive 
income

Items	to	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	
loss	in	subsequent	periods

Available-for-sale	financial	
assets	(fair	value	reserve):

Net change in fair value - - 47,308 - - 47,308 - 47,308
Net amount transferred to 
profit or loss - - 283 - - 283 - 283
IAS 39 reclassification 
adjustment - - 272 - - 272 - 272

Taxes	related	to	components	of	other	
comprehensive income - - –11,726 - - –11,726 - –11,726
Change	in	corporate	tax	rate - - - - - - - -
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 42,583 277 21,927 40,366 239,944 345,097 168 345,265
Dividends paid for 2012 - - - - - - –98 –98
Profit for the period - - - - 124,698 124,698 1 124,699
Components of other comprehensive 
income

Items	to	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	
loss	in	subsequent	periods

Available-for-sale	financial	
assets	(fair	value	reserve):

Net change in fair value - - 1,004 - - 1,004 - 1,004
Net amount transferred to 
profit or loss - - –2,356 - - –2,356 - –2,356
IAS 39 reclassification 
adjustment - - 167 - - 167 - 167

Taxes	related	to	components	of	other	
comprehensive income - - 290 - - 290 - 290
Change	in	corporate	tax	rate - - 1,253 - - 1,253 - 1,253
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 42,583 277 22,285 40,366 364,642 470,153 71 470,224
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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General information on the Group 
The Municipality Finance Group consists of Municipality Finance Plc 
(referred	to	as	Municipality	Finance	or	the	company)	and	Financial	
Advisory	Services	Inspira	Ltd	(subsidiary).	The	role	of	Municipality	
Finance	is	to	offer	market-based	funding	to	municipalities,	mu-
nicipal	federations,	municipality-controlled	entities	and	non-profit	
corporations	nominated	by	the	Housing	Finance	and	Development	
Centre	of	Finland	(ARA)	by	acquiring	funding	from	capital	markets	
at competitive costs. 

The	Group’s	parent	company	is	a	Finnish	public	limited	liabil-
ity	company	established	under	Finnish	legislation	and	domiciled	
in	Helsinki	with	the	registered	address	Jaakonkatu	3	A,	00100	Hel-
sinki.	The	subsidiary’s	domicile	 is	Helsinki	and	registered	address	
Jaakonkatu	3	A,	00100	Helsinki.

A	copy	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	 is	available	
online at www.munifin.fi or from the Group’s parent company at 
Jaakonkatu	3	A,	00100	Helsinki.

The Board of Directors of Municipality Finance Plc approved 
these	financial	statements	for	publication	at	its	meeting	on	6	Feb-
ruary	2014.	According	to	the	Finnish	Limited	Liability	Companies	
Act,	shareholders	may	accept	or	reject	the	financi	al	statements	at	
the	Annual	General	Meeting	held	after	their	publication.	The	Annual	
General Meeting may also alter the financial statements.

Basis of preparation
These	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	ac-
cordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	
and in compliance with IAS and IFRS and the SIC and IFRIC inter-
pretations	in	force	on	31	December	2013.	International	Financial	
Reporting Standards refer to the standards and their interpretations 
approved	for	application	in	the	EU	in	accordance	with	the	proce-
dure	stipulated	in	EU	Regulation	(EC)	no.	1606/2002	and	embodied	
in the Finnish Accounting Act and the decrees enacted under it. In 
addition,	the	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	comply	
with the requirements of the Finnish accounting and corporate 
legislation complementing the IFRS requirements.

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	un-
der	historical	cost	convention,	except	for	available-for-sale	financial	
assets,	financial	assets	and	liabilities	recorded	at	fair	value	through	
profit	or	loss,	derivative	contracts	and	hedged	items	in	fair	value	
hedge accounting.

Capital adequacy information according to Financial Supervi-
sory	Authority	standard	4.5	(Pillar	3)	is	presented	as	part	of	these	
financial	statements	and,	where	applicable,	 in	the	Report	of	the	
Board of Directors. 

The amendments to the IAS 39 and IFRS 7 standards have im-
pacted	the	presentation	of	financial	statements	from	1	July	2008	
onwards. 

Municipality	Finance	reclassified	certain	debt	securities	in	its	
prefunding portfolio. Based on the amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 
7,	debt	securities	classified	as	available-for-sale	were	transferred	
to	held-to-maturity	at	their	fair	value	on	1	July,	2008.	In	addition,	
debt	securities	classified	as	available-for-sale	were	reclassified	to	
held-to-maturity	investments	also	on	1	January,	2008.	The	trans-
fers are presented in Note 10.

In	preparing	the	financial	statements	under	IFRS,	the	Group	
management,	 is	required	to	make	certain	estimates	and	use	 its	
judgement	in	the	application	of	the	accounting	policies.	The	sec-
tion	“Accounting	policies	requiring	management	 judgement	and	

key	uncertainty	factors	related	to	estimates”	under	“Summary	of	
significant	accounting	policies”	provides	information	on	the	items	
in	which	the	figures	presented	may	be	most	affected	by	manage-
ment	judgement	or	uncertainty	factors.

The Group’s functional currency is the euro and the notes to 
the financial statements are presented in thousands of euros. All 
figures	in	the	notes	have	been	rounded,	so	the	total	of	individual	
figures may differ from the total figure presented.

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements contain the financial state-
ments	of	Municipality	Finance	Plc,	the	parent	company,	and	Finan-
cial	Advisory	Services	Inspira	Ltd,	a	subsidiary	directly	owned	by	it.	

Inter-company	share	ownership	has	been	eliminated	by	using	
the	acquisition	method.	Intra-group	business	transactions	as	well	
as	internal	receivables	and	liabilities	have	been	eliminated.	The	al-
location of the profit for the financial year to the parent company 
and non-controlling interest is presented in the income statement. 
Non-controlling interest is presented in the statement of financial 
position	as	a	separate	item	under	“Equity”.

Segment reporting
Municipality	Finance	Group’s	 line	of	business	 is	credit	 institution	
operations and providing financial advisory services. The Group op-
erates	in	a	single	segment,	which	also	forms	the	basis	of	reporting	
to the Group’s chief operating decision-maker. Group-level informa-
tion	pursuant	to	IFRS	8	with	respect	to	information	on	products	and	
services are presented in Note 29. Breakdown of net interest income 
and	expense	and	30.	Commission	income.	The	Group	has	not	broken	
down	income	or	assets	based	on	geographical	areas	due	to	operat-
ing in Finland only. The Group does not have any single customer 
that	constitutes	more	than	10%	of	its	income.

Translation of foreign currency 
denominated items
Transactions	denominated	in	a	foreign	currency	have	been	recorded	
in	euro,	the	Group’s	functional	currency,	using	the	exchange	rate	
of	the	transaction	date.	Monetary	receivables	and	liabilities	de-
nominated	in	a	foreign	currency	have	been	translated	into	euros	
using	the	European	Central	Bank’s	average	exchange	rate	on	the	
balance	sheet	date	and	recorded	in	the	income	statement	under	Net	
income	from	foreign	exchange	transactions.	The	fair	value	changes	
of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and clas-
sified	as	available-for-sale	are	divided	into	translation	differences	
arising from changes to the amortised cost of the security and 
other changes in carrying amount. Translation differences related 
to	changes	in	amortised	cost	are	recorded	through	profit	or	loss,	
while other changes in carrying amount are recognised in Other 
comprehensive income. 

Classification of financial 
instruments and measurement 
Based	on	IAS	39	Financial	 Instruments:	Recognition	and	Meas-
urement	the	company’s	financial	assets	and	liabilities	have	been	
classified	 into	 the	 following	 categories:	 loans	 and	 receivables,	
available-for-sale	financial	assets,	held-to-maturity	investments	
and	financial	assets	and	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.	
The classification depends on the purpose for acquiring the finan-
cial	assets	upon	acquisition.	The	groups	are	measured	as	follows:

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies



   Municipality Finance Group

46 Municipality Finance Plc  •   Financial Statements 2013

Loans and receivables
These	include	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	deter-
minable	payments	that	are	not	quoted	in	an	active	market,	and	
which are not held-for-trading or designated on initial recogni-
tion as assets measured at fair value through profit or loss or as 
available-for-sale.	

The	items	are	initially	recognised	at	fair	value	adjusted	by	trans-
action	costs	and	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost.	How-
ever,	 lending	included	in	hedge	accounting	are	measured	at	fair	
value for the risk hedged.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	assets	not	 included	in	de-
rivative	assets	that	have	either	been	specifically	classified	in	this	
category or not classified in any other category. 

The	company	includes	investments	of	pre-funding	in	debt	se-
curities and fund units in this category.

Available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	initially	measured	at	fair	
value,	and	subsequent	changes	in	fair	value	are	recognised	in	Other	
comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve net 
of	tax.	Interest	received	on	debt	securities	is	recognised	through	
profit or loss under Interest income. Income from fund units and 
realised	capital	gains	and	losses	from	available-for-sale	financial	
assets are recognised in the income statement under Net income 
from	available-for-sale	financial	assets.

Held-to-maturity investments
The financial assets classified in this category are non-derivative 
financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	mature	
on	a	specific	date	and	that	the	company	intends	and	is	able	to	hold	
to maturity. These financial assets are recorded at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method upon initial recognition.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through  
profit or loss 
The	company	classifies	 its	short	term	debt	 instruments	denomi-
nated	in	foreign	currencies	(ECP)	and	certificates	of	deposit	at	fair	
value through profit or loss under the fair value option. Investments 
in	debt	securities	of	which	the	interest	risk	is	hedged	with	interest	
rate derivatives as well as certain floating rate lending are also clas-
sified as fair value through profit or loss under the fair value option.  
Short	term	debt	instruments	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	and	
debt	securities	for	which	the	interest	risk	is	hedged	with	interest	
rate	swaps	but	not	included	in	hedge	accounting	are	valued	using	
the fair value option in order to eliminate the accounting mismatch 
between	the	derivative	and	the	hedged	item.	The	fair	value	option	
is	also	applied	to	certificates	of	deposit	and	certain	loans,	as	the	
items in question are reported to the management and managed 
on	the	basis	of	their	fair	value.	Changes	in	the	fair	values	of	these	
items are recognised in the income statement under Net income 
from	securities	and	foreign	exchange	transactions.	

Derivatives	are	recognised	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	
and	derivative	contracts	are	recognised	on	the	balance	sheet.	Posi-
tive fair value changes of derivative contracts that are recorded on 
the	balance	sheet	are	recognised	in	balance	sheet	assets	under	De-
rivative	contracts	and	negative	fair	value	changes	in	balance	sheet	
liabilities	under	the	corresponding	item	Derivative	contracts.	Fair	
value changes of derivatives which are not included in fair value 
hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement under Net 
income	from	securities	and	foreign	exchange	transactions.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 
there	is	objective	evidence	a	financial	asset	is	impaired.	A	financial	
asset is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if there is 
objective	evidence	of	impairment	as	a	result	of	one	or	more	events	
that	occurred	after	the	initial	recognition	of	the	asset,	and	this	loss	
event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows that can 
be	reliably	estimated.	Objective	evidence	of	impairment	of	an	item	
or group recognised under financial assets can include information 
of	the	following	loss	events:	
•	 the	issuer	or	debtor	is	experiencing	significant	financial	dif-

ficulty; 
•	 breach	of	contract,	such	as	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	

or principal payments; 

If	objective	evidence	exists	that	impairment	losses	have	been	
incurred	for	loans	and	receivables	or	held-to-maturity	investments	
at	amortised	cost	and	recognised	on	the	balance	sheet,	the	amount	
of	the	loss	is	determined	as	the	difference	between	the	asset’s	car-
rying amount and the present value of its cash flows discount-
ed with the original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised 
through profit or loss.

If	the	impairment	loss	decreases	in	a	subsequent	financial	pe-
riod	and	the	decrease	can	be	objectively	considered	to	be	associ-
ated	with	an	event	after	the	recognition	of	the	impairment	loss,	the	
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

If	objective	evidence	exists	that	impairment	losses	have	been	
incurred	for	an	item	recognised	under	available-for-sale	financial	
assets,	the	accumulated	loss	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	
income is recycled from equity and recognised in profit or loss. If 
the	fair	value	of	a	debt	instrument	classified	as	available-for-sale	
increases	in	a	subsequent	period	and	the	increase	can	be	objectively	
considered	to	be	associated	with	an	event	after	the	recognition	of	
the	impairment	loss	in	profit	or	loss,	the	impairment	loss	is	reversed	
through profit or loss.

All	loans	to	businesses,	to	public	sector	and	non-profit	organi-
sations	have	been	given	a	deficiency	guarantee	by	a	municipality,	
municipal	federation,	or	the	state.	The	values	of	loans	and	other	
receivables	are	not	impaired,	and	the	Group	has	no	non-performing	
assets,	so	no	write-downs	have	been	made.

Financial liabilities
The	company’s	financial	liabilities	are	measured	at	amortised	cost	
using the effective interest rate method. Funding in hedge account-
ing is recognised at fair value for the risk hedged. Recognition of 
transaction	costs	 in	funding:	 If	the	amount	of	debt	on	the	sub-
scription date is lower or higher than the amount the company is 
required	to	repay	under	its	terms	and	conditions	on	maturity,	the	
debt	adjusted	by	commissions	expenses,	is	recognised	on	the	bal-
ance	sheet.	Differences	between	the	issue	price	and	the	nominal	
value	are	amortised	until	the	maturity	of	the	debt.

The	difference	between	annual	interest	received	and	interest	paid	
on	derivative	contracts	is	recognised	as	an	adjustment	to	interest	ex-
penses	of	the	hedged	liability	or	as	an	adjustment	to	interest	income	
on a hedged asset for the financial year in which they accrue. 

Determination of fair value 
The	fair	values	of	financial	instruments	are	determined	on	the	basis	
of	either	price	quotations	obtained	from	functioning	markets	or,	if	
such	markets	do	not	exist,	by	applying	measurement	methods.	A	
market	is	deemed	to	be	functioning	if	price	quotations	are	readily	
and	consistently	available,	and	they	reflect	real	market	transactions	
executed	in	a	consistent	manner	between	independent	parties.	
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The	market	values	of	debt	securities	measured	at	fair	value	
have	been	calculated	primarily	on	the	basis	of	price	quotations	re-
ceived	from	the	markets.	For	some	investments,	the	fair	value	has	
been	calculated	by	applying	valuation	techniques.	The	fair	values	of	
other	financial	assets,	liabilities	and	derivative	contracts	are	calcu-
lated	based	on	publicly-quoted	interest	and	exchange	rates	as	well	
as valuation methods widely recognised on the market.

Embedded derivatives
The	company	has	financial	assets	and	liabilities	 in	which	the	fi-
nancial	characteristics	of	the	embedded	derivative	are	not	closely	
related with the financial characteristics of the principal contract. 
Embedded	derivatives	in	such	hybrid	instruments	are	recognised	on	
the	balance	sheet,	and	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	the	derivative	
are	recognised	through	profit	or	loss.	The	balance	sheet	value	of	
the host contract is calculated in accordance with the instrument 
classification	laid	out	in	IAS	39.	The	company	has,	in	its	funding,	
hedged	all	embedded	derivatives.

Hedge accounting
The company applies fair value hedge accounting for interest risk 
to	the	following	items:	fixed	rate	lending,	lending	tied	to	long-term	
reference	rates,	 lending	based	on	structured	interest	rate	terms,	
financial	leasing	at	fixed	rates,	fixed	rate	funding	and	funding	de-
nominated	in	foreign	currencies	and	fixed	rate	investments.	

The	relationship	between	hedging	instruments	and	the	hedged	
items is documented at inception of the hedge relationship.  Hedg-
ing	is	considered	effective	when	the	hedge	ratio	is	at	least	80%	and	
at	the	most	125%.	The	effectiveness	of	hedging	is	verified	when	an	
agreement	is	recognised	in	fair	value	hedge	accounting	and	subse-
quently	at	least	every	six	months.

Changes in the fair values of derivative contracts in hedge ac-
counting,	and	the	balance	sheet	items	hedged	with	these	contracts	
are recognised in the income statement under Net income from 
hedge accounting. 

Recognition and derecognition of financial 
assets and liabilities
Loans	and	receivables	are	recognised	on	the	balance	sheet	upon	
the	customer	withdrawing	the	loan,	available-for-sale	assets	and	
derivative	contracts	on	the	settlement	day	and	financial	liabilities	
when the consideration is received. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual right 
to	the	assets	expires	or	when	the	rights	have	been	transferred	to	
another	party.	Financial	liabilities	are	derecognised	when	the	obli-
gations	have	been	fulfilled.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	and	the	net	amount	re-
ported	on	the	balance	sheet	when	there	is	a	 legally	enforceable	
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to	settle	on	a	net	basis	or	realise	the	asset	and	settle	the	liability	
simultaneously.

Leases
Leases	are	classified	as	financial	leases	and	other	leases	depend-
ing	on	whether	the	essential	risks	and	benefits	of	ownership	are	
transferred to the lessee. 

Financial leasing agreements where Municipality Finance is the 
lessor	are	recorded	on	the	balance	sheet	as	an	asset	at	an	amount	
corresponding to the net investment in the lease agreement. The 
proceeds from the lease are divided into repayment and interest 
income. Interest income is recognised over the term of the lease to 

have the return on the remaining net investment match the corre-
sponding rate of return for the period of the lease. Financial leas-
ing	agreements	are	recorded	under	Loans	and	other	receivables	on	
the	balance	sheet.	Interest	is	recorded	under	Interest	income	in	the	
income statement.

In	the	case	of	other	leases,	Municipality	Finance	is	the	lessee.	
Other leases are primarily related to operating premises. Rents pay-
able	on	the	basis	of	lease	agreements	are	recognised	as	expens-
es	on	the	balance	sheet	in	equal	instalments	over	the	duration	of	
the lease. 

Intangible and tangible assets
Intangible	and	tangible	assets	are	recognised	in	the	balance	sheet	
at	historical	cost,	net	of	accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment.	
Assets	are	depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	their	estimated	
useful lives.

Machinery and equipment are depreciated according to plan 
on	a	straight-line	basis	over	five	years.	Capitalised	IT	hardware	is	
depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	four	years	and	software	
based	on	its	estimated	useful	life	over	four,	seven	or	ten	years.	Of-
fice	renovation	costs	are	depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	by	the	
expiry	of	the	fixed-term	lease	of	the	office.	Real	estate	is	depreci-
ated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	25	years.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the 
end	of	each	financial	year	and,	if	necessary,	adjusted	to	reflect	the	
changes	in	the	expected	economic	benefit.

Impairment of intangible and tangible  
fixed assets
The	company	assesses	at	each	balance	sheet	date	whether	there	
is	any	evidence	of	intangible	assets	or	tangible	fixed	assets	being	
impaired.	If	evidence	of	impairment	is	identified,	the	recoverable	
amount is assessed for the given assets. If the carrying amount of 
an	asset	item	is	greater	than	the	recoverable	amount,	an	impair-
ment loss is recognised in the income statement.

Recognition of income and expenses

Net interest income
The effective interest method is applied to interest income and 
interest	expenses.	Commissions	and	fees	received	and	paid,	transac-
tion	expenses	as	well	as	any	premiums	and	discounts	are	taken	into	
account when the effective interest rate is calculated.

Commission income and expenses
Commission income includes the commissions and fees received 
for	financial	advisory	services.	Commission	expenses	include	paid	
guarantee	fees,	custody	fees	and	debt	programme	update	fees.	
Commission	income	and	expenses	are	primarily	recognised	when	
the service is provided.

Net income from hedge accounting
Net income from hedge accounting includes the net result from 
the	recognising	financial	assets	and	liabilities	and	the	derivatives	
hedging them at fair value.

Employee benefits
The	company’s	 remuneration	system	 is	contribution	based.	The	
system	is	described	in	the	notes	to	the	parent	company’s	financial	
statements.	Pension	coverage	has	been	arranged	via	an	outside	
pension insurance company. Pension plans are classified as de-
fined	contribution	plans.	The	contributions	payable	are	recognised	
as	expenses	in	the	income	statement	of	the	period	to	which	the	
payments relate.
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Provisions
The voluntary credit loss allowance recognised under the Finn-
ish Accounting Standards does not meet the recognition criteria 
set out in IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets,	and	the	allowance	is	thus	released	in	the	consolidated	fi-
nancial	statements	and	transferred	to	equity.	A	deferred	tax	 li-
ability	has	been	recorded	for	the	released	credit	loss	allowance	in	
accordance with IAS 12 Income Tax.

Income taxes
Income	taxes	 in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	comprise	
accrual-based	taxes	that	are	determined	based	on	the	profits	gen-
erated	by	the	Group	companies,	and	changes	in	deferred	taxes	
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes.	Taxes	are	recognised	in	
the	income	statement,	except	 if	they	are	associated	with	other	
comprehensive income or items directly recognised in equity. In 
this	case,	the	tax	is	also	recognised	correspondingly	in	other	com-
prehensive	income	or	directly	in	equity.	Taxes	based	on	the	tax-
able	income	for	the	period	are	calculated	based	on	tax	legislation	
enacted	or	approved	in	practice	by	the	financial	statement	date.

Deferred	taxes	may	be	comprised	of	temporary	differences	
between	accounting	book	value	and	taxable	value,	as	well	as	con-
firmed	tax	losses.	Deferred	taxes	in	the	company	consist	of	the	
release and transfer to equity of the voluntary credit loss allow-
ance	recorded	by	the	parent	company	and	the	fair	value	change	
of	available-for-sale	investments.	Deferred	tax	liabilities	and	as-
sets	are	calculated	based	on	the	tax	rate	that	is	anticipated	to	be	
in	force	at	the	time	of	the	temporary	difference	being	released.	If	
a	deferred	tax	arises	from	balance	sheet	items	for	which	changes	
do	not	have	an	impact	on	the	income	statement,	the	change	in	
deferred	tax	is	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income,	not	in	
the income statement.

The	company	does	not	have	tax-related	items	for	which	de-
ferred	tax	assets	or	liabilities	have	not	been	recorded.

Exceptional items
Transactions	that	are	not	part	of	ordinary	business	operations	and	
are	of	exceptional	 size	or	nature	are	 recognised	as	exceptional	
items. The income statements and cash flow statements for 2013 
and	the	comparison	year	2012	do	not	include	any	exceptional	items.	

Accounting policies requiring manage-
ment judgement and key uncertainty 
factors related to estimates
Preparation of the accounts in accordance with the IFRS requires 
management	estimates	and	assumptions	that	affect	the	revenue,	
expenses,	assets	and	liabilities	presented	in	the	financial	state-
ments.

The	key	assumptions	made	by	the	Group	concern	key	uncer-
tainty factors pertaining to the future and the estimates at the 
balance	sheet	date.	These	are	relate	to,	among	other	things,	the	
determination of fair value and the impairment of financial assets.

Where	market	price	information	is	limited,	the	determination	
of	financial	assets	that	are	not	publicly	quoted	or	other	financial	
assets	requires	management	judgement.	The	principles	applied	to	
the	determination	of	fair	value	are	described	in	the	section	Deter-
mination of fair value.

The	Group	determines	on	a	monthly	basis	whether	there	is	ob-
jective	evidence	of	impairment	of	financial	assets	other	than	those	
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

The	risk	management	principles	applied	are	described	in	the	
Report of Board of Directors and the notes to the consolidated fi-
nancial statements.

Application of new standards 
New and amended standards applied during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2013
The company has applied the following new and amended stand-
ards	that	were	effective	from	the	beginning	of	2013:

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:	
The	major	change	is	the	requirement	to	group	items	of	other	com-
prehensive	income	as	to	whether	or	not	they	are	reclassifiable	to	
profit	or	loss	subsequently	when	specific	conditions	are	met.	The	
amendments have had an impact on the presentation of the com-
pany’s Other comprehensive income.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement:	IFRS	13	establishes	a	single	
source for all fair value measurements and disclosure requirements 
for use across IFRSs. The new standard also provides a precise defini-
tion	of	fair	value.		IFRS	13	does	not	extend	the	use	of	fair	value,	but	
it provides guidance on how to measure fair value when fair value 
is required or permitted in another standard. The new requirements 
for	disclosures	included	in	IFRS	13	have	been	taken	into	account	in	
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The 
amendments clarify disclosure requirements for financial assets 
and	liabilities	that	are	offset	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	
or	subject	to	master	netting	arrangements	or	similar	agreements.	
The	impact	of	the	amended	standard	has	been	taken	into	account	
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Annual	Improvements	to	IFRSs	2009-2011	(May	2012):	The	an-
nual improvements process provides a mechanism for minor and 
non-urgent	amendments	to	IFRSs	to	be	grouped	together	and	is-
sued in one package annually. The amendments cover in total five 
standards.	Their	impact	has	not	been	significant.

Other new or amended standards that entered into effect in 
2013 did not have an impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments.

New and amended standards and interpretations  
not yet adopted
The company has not yet adopted the following new and amended 
standards	and	interpretations	already	issued	by	the	IASB.	The	com-
pany	will	adopt	them	on	their	effective	date	or,	if	the	date	is	other	
than	the	first	day	of	the	financial	year,	from	the	beginning	of	the	
subsequent	financial	year.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and subsequent 
amendments	(in	the	EU	effective	for	financial	years	beginning	on	
or	after	1	January	2014):	IFRS	10	builds	on	existing	principles	by	
identifying the concept of control as the determining factor when 
deciding	whether	an	entity	should	be	incorporated	within	the	con-
solidated financial statements. The standard also provides addition-
al guidance to assist in the determination of control where this is 
difficult to assess. The new standard is assessed not to have a ma-
terial impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and subsequent amendments (in	
the	EU	effective	for	financial	years	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2014):	In	the	accounting	of	joint	arrangements	IFRS	11	focuses	on	
the	rights	and	obligations	of	the	arrangement	rather	than	its	legal	
form.	There	are	two	types	of	joint	arrangements:	joint	operations	
and	joint	ventures.	 In	future,	 jointly	controlled	entities	are	to	be	
accounted	for	using	only	one	method,	the	equity	method,	and	the	
other	alternative,	proportional	consolidation	is	no	longer	allowed.	
The new standard is assessed not to have a material impact on the 
company’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities and subsequent 
amendments (in	the	EU	effective	for	financial	years	beginning	on	
or	after	1	January	2014):	IFRS	12	includes	the	disclosure	require-
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ments	for	all	forms	of	interests	in	other	entities,	including	associ-
ates,	joint	arrangements,	structured	entities	and	other	off-balance	
sheet	vehicles.	The	new	standard	will	expand	the	notes	the	Group	
provides for its interests in other entities. The new standard is as-
sessed not to have a material impact on the company’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements	(revised	2011)	and	sub-
sequent	amendments	(in	the	EU	effective	for	financial	years	be-
ginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014):	The	revised	standard	includes	
the provisions on separate IFRS financial statements that were left 
after the control provisions were included in the new IFRS 10. The 
revised standard will not have a material impact on the company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

IAS	28	 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures	 (revised	
2011)	(in	the	EU	effective	for	financial	years	beginning	on	or	after	
1	January	2014):	Following	the	issue	of	IFRS	11	the	revised	IAS	28	
includes	the	requirements	for	joint	ventures,	as	well	as	associates,	
to	be	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method.	The	new	standard	is	
assessed not to have a material impact on the company’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation	(ef-
fective	for	financial	years	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014):	
The amendments provide clarifications on the application of pres-
entation requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial 
liabilities	on	the	statement	of	financial	position	and	give	more	re-
lated application guidance. The amendments are assessed not to 
have a significant impact on the company’s consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets - Recoverable 
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets	(effective	for	finan-
cial	years	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014):	The	aim	of	the	
amendments is to clarify that the scope of application of the re-
coverable	amount	of	assets	is	restricted	to	impaired	assets	if	the	
amount	in	question	is	based	on	fair	value	less	costs	of	disposal.	
The amended standard is not assessed to have a significant impact 
on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement (effective	for	financial	years	beginning	on	or	after	
1	January	2014):	The	amendments	made	to	IAS	39	provide	an	ex-
ception to the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting in 
certain circumstances in which a derivative instrument defined as 
a hedging instrument is changed from a single counterparty to a 
central counterparty as a result of regulations. The amendments 
are not assessed to have a significant impact on the company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

Standards	published	by	IASB	that	have	not	yet	been	approved	for	
application	in	the	EU	as	of	31	December	2013:

Annual	Improvements	to	IFRSs	(2011-2013	cycle	and	2010-
2012	cycle,	December	2013)	(effective	for	financial	years	beginning	
on	or	after	1	July	2014):	The	amendments	cover	in	total	four	(2011-
2013	cycle)	and	seven	(2010-2012	cycle)	standards.	Their	impacts	
vary	standard	by	standard,	but	are	assessed	not	to	be	significant.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and subsequent amendments	(the	
effective	date	has	been	postponed	from	the	original	date	of	1	Jan-
uary	2015,	with	the	new	effective	date	to	be	determined	later):	
IFRS 9 is the first step of the IASB’s originally three-phase pro-
ject	to	replace	the	current	IAS	39	Financial	Instruments:	Recogni-
tion and Measurement. The amendments resulting from the first 
phase	(published	in	November	2009)	address	the	classification	and	
measurement	of	financial	assets.		Based	on	measurement,	finan-
cial	assets	are	classified	into	two	main	groups:	financial	assets	at	
amortised cost and financial assets at fair value. Classification de-

pends	on	a	company’s	business	model	and	the	characteristics	of	
contractual	cash	flows.	The	amendments	published	in	October	2010	
deal	with	the	classification	and	measurement	of	financial	liabilities	
and the standard retains most of the related IAS 39 requirements. 
Amendments dealing with general hedge accounting were issued in 
November	2013.	The	unfinished	part	of	IFRS	9,	impairment	of	finan-
cial	assets,	is	still	a	work	in	progress.	Furthermore,	the	IASB	is	also	
considering amendments regarding the classification and measure-
ment of financial assets. The macro hedge accounting phase has 
been	taken	apart	from	the	IFRS	9	project	as	a	separate	project.	As	
the	IFRS	9	project	is	incomplete,	the	impacts	of	the	standard	on	the	
consolidated	financial	statements	cannot	yet	be	assessed.

Other	standards	and	interpretations	to	be	applied	in	future	fi-
nancial periods are not assessed to have an impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Note 2.  Risk management

Municipality Finance’s operations require sufficient risk manage-
ment mechanisms to ensure that the company’s risk position re-
mains	within	the	limits	confirmed	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	Mu-
nicipality Finance applies very conservative principles to its risk 
management. The aim is to keep the overall risk status at such a 
low	level	that	the	company’s	strong	credit	rating	(Aaa/AAA)	is	not	
compromised.

Municipality	Finance’s	general	principles,	limits	and	measure-
ment	methods	used	in	risk	management	are	determined	by	the	
Board of Directors. The purpose of risk management is to ensure 
that	the	risks	associated	with	lending,	funding	acquisition,	invest-
ment	and	other	business	operations	are	in	line	with	Municipality	
Finance’s low risk profile.

The	Investments	department	is	responsible	for	investing	with-
in set counterparty limits. The Treasury department is in charge of 
managing	balance	sheet	risk	with	regard	to	market	and	financial	
risks.	The	company’s	Middle	Office	and	Legal	Affairs	and	Compli-
ance	departments	are	responsible	for	managing	the	supervision	
and reporting tasks related to financial and operational risks. Risk 
standing and limit usage are reported to the Board of Management 
and	Board	of	Directors	on	a	regular	basis.

Municipality Finance carries out regular risk analyses of vari-
ous risk areas. The aim of the analyses is to recognise the new 
challenges	and	risks	created	by	changes	in	the	operating	environ-
ment	and	prioritise	the	risks	and	their	management	on	the	basis	
of analysis results.

A comprehensive stress test is conducted at the company an-
nually	by	an	independent	external	party.	The	main	aims	for	the	test	
conducted in the autumn of 2013 was to analyse the development 
of	Municipality	Finance’s	equity	and	its	range	in	2013-2018.	The	
testing applied to operational market and credit risks and their es-
timated financial impact under different scenarios. The test also 
included	a	so-called	reverse	stress	test	to	analyse	the	trends	in	ex-
ceptional circumstances in which the company’s capital might fall 
to a critically low level. The results of the test showed that with 
the	current	capital	requirements,	the	level	of	the	company’s	capi-
tal	 is	sufficient	in	the	review	period	even	in	highly	unfavourable	
circumstances.

There were no material changes in the company’s risk stand-
ing	in	2013.	Risks	remained	within	the	set	limits	and,	based	on	the	
company’s	assessment,	risk	management	has	met	the	requirements	
established	for	it.	The	company’s	risk	standing	is	regularly	reported	
on	to	the	Board	of	Directors	as	a	part	of	monthly	reporting,	and,	
in	addition,	the	risk	management	director	provides	the	Board	with	
a	broader	overall	review	of	the	company’s	risk	standing	in	relation	
to	various	risk	areas	every	six	months.
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Strategic risks
Strategic risk means that the company would have chosen the 
wrong	strategy	for	financially	profitable	operations	or	that	the	
company would fail to adapt the chosen strategy to changes in 
the operating environment. The Group’s management of stra-
tegic	risks	 is	based	on	continuous	monitoring	and	analyses	of	
the	clients’	needs,	forecasts	of	market	trends,	and	changes	in	the	
competition and the operating environment. Risks and their sig-
nificance	are	assessed	annually	when	the	business	plan	is	drawn	
up.	The	Group’s	existing	strategy	extends	to	2018.

Credit risk
Credit risk means the risk of a counterparty defaulting on its com-
mitments to the company. Municipality Finance may only grant 
loans and leasing financing without a separate security directly 
to	a	municipality	or	municipal	federation.	For	others,	loans	must	
be	secured	with	an	absolute	guarantee	or	deficiency	guarantee	is-

sued	by	a	municipality	or	municipal	federation,	or	a	state	deficien-
cy guarantee. A primary pledge is required when the loan is given 
a	deficiency	guarantee	by	a	municipality	or	a	state.	The	amount	of	
the primary pledge must equal 1.2 times the amount of the loan.  
Because	such	a	guarantee	is	required	to	reduce	the	credit	risk,	all	
loans granted are classified as zero-risk when calculating capital 
adequacy.	The	company	does	not	bear	the	residual	value	risk	for	
the	objects	of	its	leasing	services.	Municipality	Finance	has	not	
had any non-performing assets during its operations or credit 
losses in the financing of its customers.

Municipality	Finance	 is	also	exposed	to	credit	risk	from	its	
pre-funding investment portfolio and derivative instruments. In 
selecting	counterparties,	Municipality	Finance	evaluates	credit	
risk	with	principles	and	limits,	approved	by	the	Board	of	Direc-
tors,	based	on	external	credit	ratings.	Nominal	values	of	debt	se-
curities	and	market	values	of	derivatives	(fair	value	method)	are	
used in monitoring credit risk.

Balance sheet and binding loan commitment liabilities

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Total

Loans and 
advances to the 

public  
and public sector 

entities

Loans and 
advances 
to credit 

institutions Debt securities
Binding loan  

commitments

Public	sector	entities 10,012,742 8,329,298 - 1,578,395 105,049
Enterprises	and	housing	corporations	 10,216,288 9,287,948 - 51,968 876,371
Non-profit organisations 183,992 183,992 - - -
Credit institutions 4,806,755 - 589,144 4,217,610 -
Other 137,672 - - 137,672 -
Total 25,357,447 17,801,239 589,144 5,985,644 981,420

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Total

Loans and 
advances to the 

public  
and public sector 

entities

Loans and 
advances 
to credit 

institutions Debt securities
Binding loan  

commitments

Public	sector	entities 8,904,446 7,428,634 - 1,391,274 84,539
Enterprises	and	housing	corporations	 9,323,201 8,104,843 - 55,309 1,163,049
Non-profit organisations 166,647 166,647 - - -
Credit institutions 4,689,600 - 106,828 4,582,772 -
Other 608,476 - - 608,476 -

Total 23,692,371 15,700,124 106,828 6,637,831 1,247,588

Municipality Finance limits credit risk of the derivative agreements 
with	ISDA	Credit	Support	Annexes	 in	case	of	major	derivative	
counterparties.	The	company	has	44	Credit	Support	Annexes	in	
force.	Additionally,	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board’s	guarantees	
are used for reducing the counterparty risk related to the deriva-
tive contracts of certain counterparties.

Breakdown of nominal value of derivative 
agreements by counterparty credit rating 

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Finnish municipalities 1,460,644 1,136,356
AAA - -
AA 12,551,206 10,086,480
A 38,458,997 29,999,588
BBB 274,131 2,750,112

Total 52,744,978 43,972,536

Market risk 
Market risk means the risk of the company incurring a loss as a 
result	of	an	unfavourable	change	in	market	price	or		its	volatility.	
Market	risks	include	interest	rate,	exchange	rate,	share	price	and	
other price risks.

Municipality Finance manages the interest rate risk arising 
from	business	operations	by	means	of	derivative	contracts.	The	
company	hedges	against	exchange	rate	risks	by	using	derivative	
contracts to translate all foreign currency denominated funding 
into euros. Derivative contracts are also used to hedge against oth-
er	price	risks.	Derivatives	may	only	be	used	for	hedging	purposes.
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Foreign currency denominated funding
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Liabilities	to	credit	institu-
tions 172,032 371,473
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	
public	sector	entities 245,791 343,452
Debt	securities	issued 19,318,547 17,788,370
Total 19,736,370 18,503,296

The	company	has	specified	limits	for	the	following	market	risks:
•	 Currency	position
•	 Interest	rate	risk

- Duration
- Value-at-Risk
-	 Economic	Value
- Income risk

•	 Price	risk	of	pre-funding	investments

Currency position
The	currency	position	is	calculated	as	the	difference	between	as-
sets	and	liabilities	in	various	currencies	in	euros.

(EUR	1,000) Currency Currency position
31 Dec 2013 USD –12
31 Dec 2012 USD –1

Duration
Duration	refers	to	an	interest	rate	risk	over	time,	describing	the	
average remaining maturity at the prevailing interest rate level. 

Receivables Liabilities Difference
31 Dec 2013 1.538	years 1.470 years 25 days
31 Dec 2012 1.704 years 1.600 years 38	days

Value-at-Risk
The	VaR	figure	describes	the	maximum	negative	change	in	the	
market	value	of	the	balance	sheet	during	10	days	at	a	probability	
of	99%	in	euros.	The	VaR	model	used	by	the	company	measures	
market	risks	on	the	balance	sheet,	 i.e.,	 in	practice,	the	interest	
rate	sensitivity,	as	the	company	hedges	against	all	other	market	
risks.	The	model	does	not	measure	credit	risk	on	the	balance	sheet.

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec
Year’s 

average
Year’s  

lowest
Year’s 

highest
2013 1,110 749 560 1,110
2012 810 924 470 1,650

Economic Value
Economic	Value	describes	the	interest	rate	sensitivity	of	the	pre-
sent	value	of	the	balance	sheet.	It	is	measured	by	calculating	the	
change in the present value of the interest rate sensitive cash flows 
at	different	interest	rate	curve	changes.	The	basic	scenario	is	a	200	
point increase and decrease of the interest rate curve.

(EUR	1,000) Impact
In relation to 

own funds
31 Dec 2013 10,000 2.0%
31 Dec 2012 3,100 0.7%

Income risk
Income risk refers to the negative impact of interest rate changes on 
the	company’s	net	interest	income.	The	basis	scenario	is	a	100	basis	
point shift throughout the interest rate curve. The effect is evalu-
ated	in	proportion	to	the	company’s	profitability	and	own	funds.

(EUR	1,000) Impact
In relation to 

own funds
31 Dec 2013 –3,096 2.4%
31 Dec 2012 –3,066 3.3%

Price risk
Price	risk	refers	to	the	possibility	of	changes	in	the	market	values	of	
pre-funding investments due to a change in the market’s required 
return as a consequence of a change in the investment’s risk or the 
market’s risk sensitivity. The change in required return is calculated 
at	a	99%	confidence	level.

(EUR	1,000)
Change in

required return Impact
In relation to 

own funds
31 Dec 2013 0.33% –53,046 10.4%

31 Dec 2012
No comparative 

figure

In	addition	to	these	risk	parameters,	management	receives	monthly	
reports on the parent company’s interest rate sensitivity analyses 
and	the	calculation	of	changes	in	the	balance	sheet	market	value.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity	risk	means	the	risk	of	the	company	not	being	able	to	
perform	payment	obligations	arising	from	settling	funding	agree-
ments or the other funding activities on their due date. The Board 
of Directors of Municipality Finance has set the following limits 
on	liquidity	risks:	
•	 refinancing	gap
•	 sufficiency	of	liquid	assets	measured	as	a	minimum	time	period

Breakdown of financial liabilities by maturity  
31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Max. 1 year 1–5 years Over 5 years Total
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 578,651 45,290 1,640,446 2,264,386
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 20,087 353,027 556,095 929,209
Debt	securities	issued 7,718,594 10,884,367 1,666,337 20,269,298
Subordinated	liabilities 10,000 37,965 1,009 48,974
Total 8,327,332 11,320,648 3,863,887 23,511,867

    

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Max. 1 year 1–5 years Over 5 years Total
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 2,049,851 225,297 1,686,581 3,961,729
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 47,606 216,996 784,875 1,049,477
Debt	securities	issued 9,019,033 7,422,376 2,356,966 18,798,375
Subordinated	liabilities 50,000 39,346 1,009 90,355
Total 11,166,490 7,904,015 4,829,431 23,899,936

Loans	that	may	be	called	in	prematurely	have	been	entered	in	the	table	in	the	maturity	class	corresponding	to	the	first	possible	call	date.	
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Market liquidity risk
Market liquidity risk means that the company would fail to realise 
or	cover	its	position	at	the	market	price,	because	the	market	lacks	
depth or is not functioning due to disruption.

The company monitors the liquidity of markets and products 
on	a	continuous	basis.	In	addition,	established	market	standards	
are	observed	when	derivative	contracts	are	concluded.	The	market	
values	of	almost	all	debt	securities	valued	at	fair	value	are	calcu-
lated	based	on	quotations	received	from	the	market.	For	the	re-
maining	debt	securities,	the	market	value	is	calculated	using	other	
market information.

The	company	has	been	approved	as	a	counterparty	of		mone-
tary policy of the Bank of Finland. The company has pledged loans 
to	the	Bank	of	Finland	(parent	company	note	37).

Operational risks
Operational risk means the risk of loss due to insufficient or failed 
internal	processes,	personnel,	systems	or	external	factors.	Opera-
tional risks also include risks arising from failure to comply with 
internal	and	external	regulation	(compliance	risk),	legal	risks	and	
reputational	risk.	Operational	risks	may	result	in	expenses,	payable	
compensation,	loss	of	reputation,	false	information	on	position,	
risk and results or the interruption of operations.

Operational risks are recognised as part of the company’s op-
erations	and	processes.	This	has	been	implemented	with	an	annual	
mapping of operational risk at a  department and company level. 
The	management	of	operational	risks	is	the	responsibility	of	each	
function/department.	In	addition,	the	company’s	departments	re-
sponsible	for	risk	control	support	the	other	functions/departments	
and	have	responsibility	at	the	company	level	for	coordinating	the	
management of operational risks.

Municipality Finance uses various methods for managing op-
erational risks. The company has internal operational guidelines 
that	are	updated	regularly	and	monitored	for	compliance.	Key	du-
ties	and	processes	have	been	charted	and	described.	Internal	in-
structions	and	processes	are	updated	on	a	regular	basis.	The	tasks	
of	trading,	risk	control,	back	office	functions,	documentation	and	
accounting	are	separated.	The	company	has	adequate	substitution	
systems	to	ensure	the	continuity	of	key	functions.	The	expertise	of	
the personnel is maintained and developed through regular de-
velopment discussions and training plans. Municipality Finance 
maintains adequate insurance cover and assesses the level of in-
surance	cover	on	a	regular	basis.	Municipality	Finance	has	a	con-
tingency	plan	for	situations	in	which	business	operations	are	in-
terrupted. The plan is designed to ensure the company continues 
functioning and to limit its losses in different disruptive scenar-
ios. The annual mapping of operational risks and the operational 
risk event process feed into the company’s continuity planning.

Municipality Finance’s compliance function continuously 
monitors the development of legislation and regulations issued 
by	authorities	relevant	to	the	company’s	operations	and	ensures	
that any regulatory changes are appropriately responded to. The 
legislation and regulations concerning the operations of credit in-
stitutions	are	facing	significant	changes,	which	creates	challenges	
for the company’s compliance. The company has tried to minimise 
the	risks	related	to	this	by	active	contact	with	the	authorities	as	
well as organisation of the company’s internal compliance func-
tions	(incl.	reporting,	evaluation	of	effects).

The	 company	has	 significant	 information	 system	projects	
aimed at improving the efficiency of operations ongoing cur-
rently.	The	extent	of	these	projects	creates	operational	risks	that	

the	company	strives	to	minimise	by	developing	and	implement-
ing	models	related	to	project	management	and	monitoring	(incl.	
regular reporting). 

The realisation of operational risks is monitored with system-
atic	operational	risk		event	reporting,	which	is	used	to	change	op-
erating principles or implement other measures to reduce opera-
tional risks where necessary. Operative risk events are reported to 
the Board of Management and the Board of Directors. No mate-
rial losses were incurred as a result of operational risks in 2013.

Note 3. Capital adequacy 

Municipality	Finance’s	objectives	regarding	equity	in	relation	to	
risk taking and the operating environment are defined as part of 
the	annual	planning.	The	planning	horizon	extends	to	2018,	 in	
order	to	be	able	to	predict	the	business	performance	trend	and	
the sufficiency of own funds with respect to the increasing capital 
requirements	arising	from	changing	regulation	and	to	be	able	to	
react to potential needs for additional capitalisation in sufficient 
time. The Board of Directors approves the capital adequacy plan 
and monitors it. The company updates its capital adequacy plan 
annually.

Controlling capital adequacy is continuous and an essential 
part	of	the	company’s	strategic	planning	process,	which	covers	
setting	strategic	goals,	specifying	development	projects	and	mak-
ing financial forecasts for the following years. This is done in co-
operation with management and the Board. The Board of the 
company approves the final strategy. Management ensures that 
the company’s operational measures correspond to the principles 
determined	in	the	strategy	approved	by	the	Board.	As	part	of	the	
annual	planning,	the	management	prepares	a	business	plan	for	
the	coming	year	and	business	forecasts	for	the	years	that	follow.	
The company’s risk position and its effect on the company’s fi-
nancial status are also evaluated. Regular risk analyses as well as 
various stress test scenarios are used for evaluating and meas-
uring	risks.	Based	on	these,	the	capital	adequacy	plan	is	updated	
annually and actions needed to strengthen  own funds are de-
termined. The adequacy of own funds is also monitored through 
monthly	business	analyses.

The Group has adopted the Basel II parameters for capital 
adequacy. The capital adequacy requirement for credit risk is cal-
culated	using	Pillar	I	and	the	standard	method,	and	the	capital	
adequacy	requirement	for	operative	risks	using	the	basic	method.	
As	the	Group	has	neither	a	trading	book	nor	share	and	commodity	
positions,	only	currency	risks	are	taken	into	account	in	the	capi-
tal adequacy calculations for market risk. As the company hedges 
against	currency	risk	by	using	derivative	contracts	to	translate	all	
foreign	currency	denominated	funding	into	euros,	the	company’s	
currency position is very small and it is not necessary to reserve 
capital	for	the	currency	risk.	The	credit	ratings	given	by	Standard	
&	Poor’s,	Moody’s	Investor	Service	and	Fitch	Ratings	are	used	for	
determining the risk weights used in the capital adequacy calcu-
lations. The aforementioned companies are credit rating institu-
tions	approved	by	the	Finnish	Financial	Supervisory	Authority	for	
capital adequacy calculations. In capital adequacy calculations for 
the	credit	risk,	Municipality	Finance	uses	methods	for	reducing	the	
credit	risk	such	as	guarantees	provided	by	municipalities	as	well	
as	deficiency	guarantees	given	by	the	Republic	of	Finland.	For	de-
rivatives,	netting	agreements,	collateral	agreements	(ISDA/Credit	
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Support	Annex)	and	guarantees	granted	by	the	Municipal	Guar-
antee Board are used for reducing the capital adequacy require-
ment related to the counterparty risk of derivative counterparties.

Municipality	Finance	Group’s	own	funds	totalled	EUR	511.5	
million	at	 the	end	of	 the	year	 (2012:	EUR	428.9	million).	 The	
Group’s	Tier	1	capital	totalled	EUR	454.2	million	at	the	end	of	
2013	(2012:	EUR	331.9	million).	No	provision	for	dividend	distri-
bution	was	made	for	Tier	1	capital,	as	the	Board	of	Directors	eval-
uates	the	amount	of	dividends	paid	out	each	year	based	on	the	
decision	of	the	Annual	General	Meeting	and	submits	its		dividend	
proposal	based	on	the	company’s	financial	situation,	the	applica-
ble	regulation	and,	taking	into	account	the	company’s	ownership	
structure.	The	Group’s	Tier	2	capital	totalled	EUR	57.3	million	at	
the	end	of	the	year	(2012:	EUR	96.9	million).	Detailed	descrip-
tions	of	the	subordinated	loans	and	debenture	loans	are	included	
in Note 22 in the notes of the consolidated financial statements. 

Municipality	Finance	repaid	the	“Upper	Tier	II	 loan	1/2008”	
bond	of	EUR	40	million	on	31	March	2013	with	the	permission	
of the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority. In the 2012 finan-
cial	statements,	the	loan	was	still	fully	included	in	own	funds	and	
capital adequacy.

In	its	Tier	1	capital,	the	Company	has	a	capital	loan	of	EUR	
10	million	in	addition	to	capital	investments	amounting	to	EUR	1	
million. These items do not fully satisfy the requirements of capi-

tal	adequacy	regulations	that	entered	into	force	from	the	begin-
ning	of	2014.	As	a	result,	only	the	portion	of	these	items	deter-
mined	by	the	competent	authority	can	be	included	in	own	funds	
going forward.  

The	Group’s	capital	adequacy	developed	favourably	during	the	
year.		The	minimum	requirement	for	own	funds,	corresponding	to	
the	minimum	capital	adequacy	ratio	of	8%	pursuant	to	the	Act	
on	Credit	 Institutions,	was	EUR	102.6	million	(2012:	EUR	101.3	
million). The capital adequacy requirement for credit risk tied up 
the	largest	amount	of	the	Group’s	own	funds	at	EUR	87.0	million	
(2012:	EUR	91.0	million),	the	most	significant	item	being	claims	
on credit institutions and investment firms.

The leverage ratio requirement is scheduled to enter into force 
from	the	beginning	of	2018.	The	company	has	taken	this	into	ac-
count	by	beginning	to	prepare	for	changes.	The	final	level	and	con-
tent	of	the	leverage	ratio	requirement	is	likely	to	become	known	
in 2017. Municipality Finance has performed analyses of the im-
pacts a new leverage ratio requirement will have on the company’s 
ability	to	continue	its	current	operations	and	grow	in	accordance	
with its strategy. The company aims to achieve the required level 
by	increasing	its	own	funds	through	the	result	of	its	operations.	
At	the	end	of	2013,	the	leverage	ratio	stood	at	1.7%,	calculated	
using currently known calculation principles.

Consolidated own funds
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Share capital 42,583 42,583
Minority interest 71 168
Reserve fund 277 277
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 40,366 40,366
Retained profit 239,944 135,434
Profit for the financial period 124,697 104,510
Capital loans 11,009 11,009
Intangible	assets –4,740 –2,399
TOTAL TIER 1 CAPITAL 454,208 331,948
Fair value reserve 22,285 21,927
Subordinated	liabilities	included	in	upper	Tier	2	capital - 40,000
Subordinated	liabilities	included	in	lower	Tier	2	capital 35,000 35,000
TOTAL TIER 2 CAPITAL 57,285 96,927
TOTAL OWN FUNDS 511,493 428,875

Consolidated key figures for capital adequacy
31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

Capital	adequacy	ratio,	% 39.88 33.87
Capital	adequacy	ratio	for	Tier	1	capital,	% 35.42 26.22
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Minimum requirement for own funds, Group
31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

(EUR	1,000)
Capital  

requirement
Risk-weighted 

receivables
Capital  

requirement
Risk-weighted 

receivables
Credit and counterparty risk, standard method 86,991 1,087,383 91,024 1,137,809

Claims on credit institutions and investment firms 38,233 477,916 45,549 569,367
Covered	bonds 16,733 209,159 13,528 169,096
Securitised items 29,129 364,112 28,755 359,441
Shares in investment funds 132 1,651 105 1,310
Other items 2,764 34,546 3,087 38,595

Market risk 0 0
Operational risk, basic method 15,609 10,270
Total 102,600 1,087,383 101,294 1,137,809

Exposure by category 

Total exposure
Risk-weighted 

receivables Total exposure
Risk-weighted 

receivables
Exposure category (EUR	1,000) 2013 2013 2012 2012

Claims	on	governments	and	central	banks 871,488 - 581,870 -
Claims on local government and local authorities 9,042,168 - 8,264,929 -
Claims on international organisations 223,518 - 220,068 -
Claims on credit institutions and investment firms 3,631,141 477,916 4,383,058 569,367
Claims on corporates 4,177,264 - 3,728,430 -
Claims	covered	by	mortgaged	real	property 5,415,371 - 4,594,011 -
Covered	bonds 1,943,658 209,159 1,670,960 169,096
Securitised items 142,995 364,112 164,309 359,441
Shares in investment funds 10,023 1,651 10,008 1,310
Other items 236,189 34,546 258,995 38,595
Off-balance-sheet	items 981,420 - 1,247,588 -

Total 26,675,235 1,087,383 25,124,227 1,137,809

Remaining maturity of exposures by category 

Exposure category  
31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)

Less than 
3 months

3-12 
months 1-5 years 5-10 years

More than 
10 years Total

Claims	on	governments	and	central	banks 404,241 - 199,207 227,567 40,473 871,488
Claims on local government and local authorities 683,479 290,124 2,133,158 4,282,262 1,653,145 9,042,168
Claims on international organisations - - 136,375 87,143 - 223,518
Claims on credit institutions and investment 
firms 1,390,098 160,883 1,783,852 268,793 27,516 3,631,141
Claims on corporates 38,523 50,591 294,014 534,120 3,260,015 4,177,264
Claims	covered	by	mortgaged	real	property 39,575 43,479 349,817 468,559 4,513,942 5,415,371
Covered	bonds 20,025 239,486 1,300,089 384,058 - 1,943,658
Securitised items - - 30,435 24,946 87,614 142,995
Shares in investment funds - - - - 10,023 10,023
Other items 80,126 139,584 16,479 - - 236,189
Off-balance-sheet	items 981,420 - - - - 981,420

Total 2,656,067 924,146 6,243,426 6,277,448 9,592,728 26,675,235
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Exposure category
31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)

Less than 
3 months

3–12 
months 1–5 years 5–10 years

More than 
10 years Total

Claims	on	governments	and	central	banks 248,252 - 96,642 192,835 44,141 581,870
Claims on local government and local authori-
ties 755,078 268,400 2,052,034 3,875,261 1,314,155 8,264,929
Claims on international organisations 30,021 - 138,338 51,709 - 220,068
Claims on credit institutions and investment 
firms 1,718,075 923,206 1,568,257 159,636 13,883 4,383,058
Claims on corporates 49,923 21,706 291,636 471,563 2,893,602 3,728,430
Claims	covered	by	mortgaged	real	property 689 31,971 368,015 541,166 3,652,171 4,594,011
Covered	bonds 66,565 72,666 1,428,180 103,549 - 1,670,960
Securitised items 947 - 30,211 10,000 123,151 164,309
Shares in investment funds - - - - 10,008 10,008
Other items 88,520 152,853 17,622 - - 258,995
Off-balance-sheet	items 1,247,588 - - - - 1,247,588

Total 4,205,658 1,470,802 5,990,936 5,405,719 8,051,110 25,124,227

Exposure by risk weight before and after credit risk reduction techniques   

Risk weight (%)
31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)

Value of exposure before credit 
risk reduction techniques

Value of exposure after credit 
risk reduction techniques Risk-weighted receivables

0 11,189,545 22,058,589 -
10 1,820,240 1,820,240 182,024
20 3,973,745 2,697,336 539,467
50 28,311 51,542 25,771
100 9,622,694 6,828 6,828
Other risk weights 40,700 40,700 333,293
Total 26,675,235 26,675,235 1,087,383

   

Risk weight (%)
31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)

Value of exposure before credit 
risk reduction techniques

Value of exposure after credit 
risk reduction techniques Risk-weighted receivables

0 10,383,886 20,494,452 -
10 1,674,334 1,674,334 167,433
20 4,588,032 2,799,906 559,981
50 39,731 47,680 23,840
100 8,403,245 72,855 72,855
Other risk weights 34,999 34,999 313,700
Total 25,124,227 25,124,226 1,137,809
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Note 4. Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Loans and 
receivables

Available-
for-sale 

financial 
assets

 Held-to- 
maturity 

investments 

Fair value 
through pro-

fit or loss

Hedging 
derivative 
contracts Total Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 354,232 - - - - 354,232 354,232
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	
institutions 589,144 - - - - 589,144 589,154
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	
and	public	sector	entities 17,604,871 - - 277,411 - 17,882,282 18,575,989
Debt	securities - 4,348,627 824,824 812,193 - 5,985,644 5,971,460
Shares and participations - 10,050 - - - 10,050 10,050
Derivative contracts - - - 168,537 925,613 1,094,150 1,094,150
Total 18,548,248 4,358,677 824,824 1,258,141 925,613 25,915,503 26,595,036

Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities	includes	EUR	81,044	thousand	receivables	based	on	leasing	agreements.
Fair	value	hedge	accounting	for	interest	rate	risk	is	applied	to	EUR	2,539,201	thousand	of	debt	securities	available-for-sale	in	2013.	

Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities	includes	EUR	6,591,034	thousand	in	loans	and	receivables	included	in	fair	val-
ue hedge accounting for interest rate risk.

Financial liabilities

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Other finan-
cial liabilities

Fair value 
through pro-

fit or loss

Hedging 
derivative 
contracts Total Fair value

Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 2,264,386 - - 2,264,386 2,264,267
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 929,209 - - 929,209 925,254
Debt	securities	issued 18,827,657 1,441,641 - 20,269,298 20,268,875
Derivative contracts - 208,936 1,609,423 1,818,359 1,818,359
Subordinated	liabilities 48,974 - - 48,974 49,849
Total 22,070,226 1,650,577 1,609,423 25,330,226 25,326,604

Fair	value	hedge	accounting	for	interest	rate	risk	is	applied	to	EUR	18,783,658	thousand	of	other	financial	liabilities	in	2013.	

Financial assets       

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)
Loans and 
receivables

Available-
for-sale 

financial 
assets

Held-to-
maturity 

investments 

Fair value 
through pro-

fit and loss

Hedging 
derivative 
contracts Total Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 228,188 - - - - 228,188 228,188
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	
institutions 106,828 - - - - 106,828 106,828
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	
and	public	sector	entities 15,439,889 - - 324,343 - 15,764,232 16,451,002
Debt	securities - 4,435,129 885,299 1,317,403 - 6,637,831 6,622,858
Shares and participations - 10,035 - - - 10,035 10,035
Derivative contracts - - - 273,441 2,278,242 2,551,683 2,551,683
Total 15,774,905 4,445,164 885,299 1,915,187 2,278,242 25,298,796 25,970,593

Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities	includes	EUR	64,107	thousand	receivables	based	on	leasing	agreements.
Fair	value	hedge	accounting	for	interest	rate	risk	is	applied	to	EUR	1,846,917	thousand	of	debt	securities	available-for-sale	in	2012.	

Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities	includes	EUR	6,368,984	thousand	in	loans	and	receivables	included	in	fair	val-
ue hedge accounting for interest rate risk.

Notes to the statement of financial position 
and other notes
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Financial liabilities       

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)
Other finan-
cial liabilities

Fair value 
through pro-

fit or loss

Hedging 
derivative 
contracts Total Fair value

Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 3,961,730 - - 3,961,730 3,961,513
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 1,049,477 - - 1,049,477 1,045,307
Debt	securities	issued 17,884,532 913,843 - 18,798,375 18,795,007
Derivative contracts - 321,554 616,429 937,983 937,983
Subordinated	liabilities 90,355 - - 90,355 91,371
Total 22,986,094 1,235,397 616,429 24,837,920 24,831,182

Fair	value	hedge	accounting	for	interest	rate	risk	is	applied	to	EUR	16,883,952	thousand	of	other	financial	liabilities	in	2012.	

Note 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

Fair value

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Carrying 
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value
Debt	securities 812,193 692,297 119,896 - 812,193
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 6,868,445 - 6,868,445 - 6,868,445
Derivative contracts 168,537 - 168,537 - 168,537
Hedging derivatives 925,613 - 925,613 - 925,613

Available-for-sale	financial	assets
Debt	securities 4,348,627 4,337,483 11,145 - 4,348,627
Shares in investment funds 10,050 10,050 - - 10,050

Total financial assets at fair value 13,133,465 5,039,830 8,093,635 - 13,133,465
Financial assets at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 354,232 354,232 - - 354,232
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions 589,144 589,154 - - 589,154
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 11,013,837 - 11,707,544 - 11,707,544
Debt	securities 824,824 - 810,640 - 810,640

Total financial assets at amortised cost 12,782,037 943,386 12,518,184 - 13,461,570
Total financial assets 25,915,502 5,983,216 20,611,820 - 26,595,035

Fair value

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Carrying 
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial liabilities at fair value
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 1,856,371 - 1,856,371 - 1,856,371
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 723,136 - 723,136 - 723,136
Debt	securities	issued 17,607,827 - 17,607,827 - 17,607,827
Subordinated	liabilities 37,965 - 37,965 - 37,965
Derivative contracts 208,936 - 208,936 - 208,936
Hedging derivatives 1,609,423 - 1,609,423 - 1,609,423

Total financial liabilities at fair value 22,043,658 - 22,043,658 - 22,043,658
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 408,015 - 407,896 - 407,896
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 206,072 - 202,118 - 202,118
Debt	securities	issued 2,661,471 - 2,661,048 - 2,661,048
Subordinated	liabilities 11,009 - 11,884 - 11,884

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 3,286,568 - 3,282,946 - 3,282,946
Total financial liabilities 25,330,226 - 25,326,604 - 25,326,604
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31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets measured at fair value

Debt	securities 737,575 579,828 - 1,317,403
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities - 6,399,702 - 6,399,702
Derivative contracts - 273,441 - 273,441
Hedging derivatives - 2,278,242 - 2,278,242

Available-for-sale assets
Debt	securities 4,418,203 16,926 - 4,435,129
Shares in investment funds 10,035 - - 10,035

Total 5,165,812 9,548,139 - 14,713,951
       

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities measured at fair value

Liabilities	to	credit	institutions - 1,928,415 - 1,928,415
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities - 851,236 - 851,236
Debt	securities	issued - 15,018,143 - 15,018,143
Subordinated	liabilities - 39,346 - 39,346
Derivative contracts - 321,554 - 321,554
Hedging derivatives - 616,429 - 616,429

Total - 18,775,123 - 18,775,123

Level	1	 Valuation	is	based	on	quoted	prices	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	on	active	and	functioning	markets.	A	market	is	considered	
to	be	functioning	if	trading	is	frequent	and	price	data	is	regularly	available.	Level	1	financial	assets	comprise	investments	in	
debt	securities.

Level	2	 Measurement	is	based	on	input	data	other	than	Level	1	quoted	prices.		Prices	can	be	verified	either	directly	or	indirectly.	Level	
2	financial	instruments	are	not	actively	traded	on	functioning	markets	and	the	fair	value	is	determined	by	using	generally	
accepted	valuation	models	and	methods.	These	valuation	methods	utilise	input	data	based	on	market	observations.	Level	2	
financial	instruments	primarily	comprise	OTC	derivatives,	the	company’s	own	issues	and	lending.

Level	3		 Measurement	is	based	on	input	data	that	are	not	based	on	verifiable	market	prices.

During	the	2013	financial	year,	no	reclassifications	have	been	made	between	Level	1	and	Level	2.

During	the	2013	financial	year,	no	reclassifications	have	been	made	from	Level	3	to	other	classes	or	from	other	classes	to	Level	3.
During	the	2012	financial	year,	no	reclassifications	have	been	made	from	Level	3	to	other	classes	or	from	other	classes	to	Level	3.
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Note 6. Breakdown of the balance sheet by maturity

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) 0–3 months 3-12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years Over 10 years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 354,232 - - - - 354,232
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	
institutions 584,144 5,000 - - - 589,144
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	
and	public	sector	entities 302,766 1,209,954 5,683,637 4,136,665 6,549,260 17,882,282
Debt	securities 941,796 445,780 3,449,959 992,506 155,603 5,985,644
Shares and participations - - - - 10,050 10,050
Derivative contracts –475 95,045 326,944 225,718 446,918 1,094,150
Intangible	assets - - - 4,740 - 4,740
Tangible	assets - - 2,525 - - 2,525
Other assets 1,977 - - - - 1,977
Accrued income and prepayments 78,149 139,554 13,954 - - 231,656
Total 2,262,590 1,895,332 9,477,019 5,359,629 7,161,830 26,156,402

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) 0–3 months 3-12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years Over 10 years Total
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 362,527 216,123 45,290 428,906 1,211,540 2,264,386
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	
sector entities 17,450 2,637 353,027 261,835 294,260 929,209
Debt	securities	issued 3,484,291 4,234,304 10,884,367 1,107,874 558,463 20,269,298
Derivative contracts 112,855 130,844 993,041 421,750 159,869 1,818,359
Other	liabilities 1,395 - - - - 1,395
Accrued	expenses	and	deferred	
income 74,777 129,949 50,653 13,212 - 268,590
Subordinated	liabilities - 10,000 37,965 - 1,009 48,974
Deferred	tax	liabilities 85,967 - - - - 85,967
Equity - - - - 470,224 470,224
Total 4,139,261 4,723,857 12,364,342 2,233,576 2,695,366 26,156,402

Liabilities	that	may	be	called	in	prematurely	have	been	classified	in	the	maturity	class	corresponding	to	the	first	possible	call	date.	
The	company	estimates	it	will	call	40-60%	of	its	callable	liabilities	in	2014.	In	2013,	the	company	called	73%	of	its	callable	liabilities.

Breakdown of financial assets and liabilities by maturity
31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) 0–3 months 3-12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years Over 10 years Total
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	
institutions 98,828 8,000 - - - 106,828
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	
and	public	sector	entities 223,208 1,074,287 5,185,649 3,813,222 5,467,866 15,764,232
Debt	securities 1,656,432 1,020,865 3,261,629 517,729 181,174 6,637,831
Total 1,978,469 2,103,152 8,447,278 4,330,951 5,649,040 22,508,890

       

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) 0–3 months 3-12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years Over 10 years Total
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 1,781,880 267,971 225,297 355,912 1,330,669 3,961,730
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	
sector entities 20,986 26,620 216,996 473,148 311,726 1,049,477
Debt	securities	issued 2,854,234 6,164,798 7,422,376 1,695,948 661,018 18,798,375
Subordinated	liabilities 40,000 10,000 39,346 - 1,009 90,355
Total 4,697,101 6,469,389 7,904,016 2,525,009 2,304,422 23,899,936

Liabilities	that	may	be	called	in	prematurely	have	been	classified	in	the	maturity	class	corresponding	to	the	first	possible	call	date.	The	
company	expects	to	call	in	40-50%	of	its	callable	liabilities	in	2013.	In	2012,	the	company	called	in	34%	of	its	callable	liabilities.
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Note 7. Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

The	following	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	subject	to	enforceable	master	netting	agreements:

Amounts not offset in the statement of  
financial position

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Carrying 

amount, gross

Offset in the 
statement of 

financial 
position, gross

Carrying 
amount, net

Received cash 
collateral

Given cash 
collateral Net

Financial assets
Derivative contracts 1,094,150 - 1,094,150 –354,890 - 739,260
Financial liabilities
Derivative contracts 1,818,359 - 1,818,359 - –533,200 1,285,159

The	company	has	not	offset	any	financial	assets	or	liabilities	in	its	statement	of	financial	position	in	2013.

Amounts not offset in the statement of  
financial position

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)
Carrying 

amount, gross

Offset in the 
statement of 

financial 
position, gross

Carrying 
amount, net

Received cash 
collateral

Given cash 
collateral Net

Financial assets
Derivative contracts 2,551,683 - 2,551,683 –1,774,050 - 777,633
Financial liabilities
Derivative contracts 937,983 - 937,983 - –1,500 936,483

The	company	has	not	offset	any	financial	assets	or	liabilities	in	its	statement	of	financial	position	in	2012.

Note 8. Cash and cash equivalents

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Cash 3 3
Central	bank	deposits	payable	on	demand 354,229 228,185
Total 354,232 228,188

Note 9. Loans and advances to credit institutions

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Total
Payable on 

demand

Other than 
payable on 

demand
Domestic credit institutions 34,356 9,133 25,223
Foreign credit institutions 554,788 1,588 553,200
Total 589,144 10,721 578,423

       

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Total
Payable on 

demand

Other than 
payable on 

demand
Domestic credit institutions 56,242 5,144 51,098
Foreign credit institutions 50,586 586 50,000
Total 106,828 5,730 101,098
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Note 10. Debt securities 

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Publicly quoted Other Total
Debt	securities	issued	by	public	sector	entities 926,386 652,008 1,578,395

Held-to maturity - 652,008 652,008
Municipal commercial papers - 652,008 652,008

Available-for-sale 900,169 - 900,169
Government	bonds 517,258 - 517,258
Bonds	issued	by	other	public	sector	entities 382,910 - 382,910

Fair value through profit or loss 26,217 - 26,217
Bonds	issued	by	other	public	sector	entities 26,217 - 26,217

Debt	securities	issued	by	other	than	public	sector	entities 4,103,393 303,856 4,407,250
Held-to-maturity - 172,816 172,816

Bank	bonds - 4,999 4,999
Commercial papers - 51,968 51,968
Other	debt	securities - 115,849 115,849

Available-for-sale 3,437,314 11,145 3,448,459
Bank	bonds 3,426,636 - 3,426,636
Other	debt	securities 10,678 11,145 21,823

Fair value through profit or loss 666,079 119,896 785,975
Bank certificates of deposit - 119,896 119,896
Bank	bonds 666,079 - 666,079

Total 5,029,780 955,865 5,985,644
Eligible	for	central	bank	refinancing 4,654,390 3,903 4,658,293
Total	non-interest	bearing 4,999 - 4,999

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000	) Publicly quoted Other Total
Debt	securities	issued	by	public	sector	entities 693,933 697,341 1,391,274

Held-to-maturity - 697,341 697,341
Municipal commercial papers - 697,341 697,341

Available-for-sale 667,143 - 667,143
Government	bonds 333,618 - 333,618
Bonds	issued	by	other	public	sector	entities 333,525 - 333,525

Fair value through profit or loss 26,790 - 26,790
Bonds	issued	by	other	public	sector	entities 26,790 - 26,790

Debt	securities	issued	by	other	than	public	sector	entities 4,594,494 652,063 5,246,557
Held-to-maturity 132,649 55,309 187,958

Bank	bonds - 4,999 4,999
Commercial papers - 55,309 55,309
Other	debt	securities - 127,650 127,650

Available-for-sale 3,751,060 16,926 3,767,986
Bank certificates of deposit - - -
Bank	bonds 3,338,586 - 3,338,586
Other	debt	securities 412,474 16,926 429,400

Fair value through profit or loss 710,785 579,828 1,290,613
Bank certificates of deposit - 579,828 579,828
Bank	bonds 659,358 - 659,358
Other	debt	securities 51,426 - 51,426

Total 5,288,427 1,349,404 6,637,831
Eligible	for	central	bank	refinancing 4,534,815 70,152 4,604,967
Total	non-interest	bearing 4,999 - 4,999
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Note 11. Shares and participations

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Publicly quoted Other Total In credit institutions
Available-for-sale 10,023 27 10,050 -
Total 10,023 27 10,050 -

       

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Publicly quoted Other Total In credit institutions
Available-for-sale 10,008 27 10,035 -
Total 10,008 27 10,035 -

Note 12. Derivative contracts

Nominal value of underlying instrument Fair value
Remaining maturity

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Less than 1 

year 1–5 years Over 5 years Total Positive Negative
Contracts not included in hedge accounting (IFRS classification)
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 1,688,698 2,692,239 2,093,043 6,473,980 45,484 –59,989
Forward rate agreements 5,000 - - 5,000 - –2

Currency derivatives
Cross currency interest 
rate swaps - 23,807 15,354 39,160 145 –142
Forward	exchange	
contracts 1,442,027 - - 1,442,027 - –26,134

Equity	derivatives 216,133 1,989,851 26,382 2,232,366 88,486 –88,486
Other derivatives 29,896 166,888 56,500 253,285 34,422 –34,182
Total 3,381,755 4,872,785 2,191,279 10,445,819 168,537 –208,935

Contracts under hedge accounting (IFRS classification)
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 1,685,500 10,568,883 13,158,175 25,412,558 273,041 –258,375
Currency derivatives

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps 3,476,168 11,039,449 2,370,984 16,886,601 652,572 –1,351,049

Total 5,161,668 21,608,332 15,529,159 42,299,159 925,613 –1,609,424
Grand total 8,543,423 26,481,118 17,720,438 52,744,978 1,094,150 –1,818,359

Reclassification: Transferred from available-for-sale 
financial assets to held-to-maturity investments

Fair value of investments 
on transfer date

1	Jan	2008 171,935
1	Jul	2008 34,967
Total 206,902

Without	this	reclassification,	changes	in	fair	value	of	these	invest-
ments would have had the following impact on the fair value 
reserve:

2013 1,139
2012 2,182
2011 5,238
2010 3,903
2009 –3,487
2008 –22,319
Cumulative –13,344

The	valuation	difference	resulting	from	the	transfer	of	debt	se-
curities	to	held-to-maturity	investments	has	been	released	from	
the	fair	value	reserve	as	follows:

2013 167
2012 272
2011 652
2010 765
2009 953
2008 852
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Nominal value of underlying instrument Fair value
Remaining maturity

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)
Less than 1 

year 1–5 years Over 5 years Total Positive Negative
Contracts not included in hedge accounting (IFRS classification)
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 582,000 4,068,764 1,545,619 6,196,383 56,035 –91,858
Currency derivatives

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps - 35,554 18,304 53,858 329 –323
Forward	exchange	
contracts 927,088 - - 927,088 592 –13,249

Equity	derivatives 1,002,111 2,701,622 86,760 3,790,493 172,391 –172,391
Other derivatives 145,019 164,043 56,500 365,562 44,093 –43,733
Total 2,656,217 6,969,983 1,707,184 11,333,384 273,441 –321,554

Contracts under hedge accounting (IFRS classification)
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 261,784 7,434,418 10,928,828 18,625,030 516,296 –378,058
Currency derivatives

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps 2,483,905 7,587,950 3,969,502 14,041,357 1,761,946 –238,371

Total 2,745,689 15,022,368 14,898,329 32,666,387 2,278,242 –616,429
Grand total 5,401,907 21,992,351 16,605,513 43,999,772 2,551,683 –937,983

Note 13. Intangible assets

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
IT systems 4,740 2,399
Total 4,740 2,399

Note 14. Tangible assets

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Real estate 873 914
Office	renovation	expenses 604 814
Other	tangible	assets 1048 614
Total 2,525 2,341
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Note 15. Changes in intangible and tangible assets during the financial year

Intangible 
assets Tangible assets

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Total Real estate
Other tangible 

assets Total
Acquisition	cost	1	Jan 4,839 1,207 3,238 4,445
+ Additions 2,961 - 799 799
- Disposals - - –50 –50
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 7,800 1,207 3,987 5,193
Accumulated	depreciation	1	Jan 2,440 293 1,810 2,103
- Accumulated depreciation on disposals - - –12 –12
+ Depreciation for the financial year 620 40 536 576
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 3,060 333 2,335 2,668
Carrying amount 31 Dec 4,740 873 1,652 2,525

Intangible 
assets Tangible assets

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Total Real estate
Other tangible 

assets Total
Acquisition	cost	1	Jan 4,156 1,167 2,888 4,055
+ Additions 738 40 350 390
- Disposals –55 - - -
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 4,839 1,207 3,238 4,445
Accumulated	depreciation	1	Jan 1,882 254 1,340 1,594
- Accumulated depreciation on disposals –1 - - -
+ Depreciation for the financial year 559 39 470 509
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 2,440 293 1,810 2,103
Carrying amount 31 Dec 2,399 914 1,428 2,342

Note 16. Other assets

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Leasing	receivables 3,200 1,954
Other –1,222 456
Total 1,977 2,410

Note 17. Accrued income and prepayments

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Interest 229,647 253,683
Other 2,009 531
Total 231,656 254,214

Note 18. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets 
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2012

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Recognised in 
the statement 

of comprehen-
sive income 31 Dec 2013

On other temporary differences
On fair value reserve - - - -
Total - - - -
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Deferred tax liabilities 
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2012

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Recognised in 
the statement 

of comprehen-
sive income 31 Dec 2013

On other temporary differences
On fair value reserve 7,115 - –1,544 5,571
On change in voluntary provisions 70,555 9,841 - 80,396
Total 77,670 9,841 –1,544 85,967

Deferred	tax	liabilities	in	2013	have	been	calculated	applying	the	corporate	tax	rate	of	20%	that	entered	into	force	on	1	January	2014.	
The	change	in	tax	rate	from	24.5%	to	20%	was	approved	in	Finnish	Government	proposal	HE	185/2013	on	17	December	2013.	A	de-
crease	of	EUR	12,959	thousand	in	the	deferred	tax	liability	was	recorded	in	the	income	statement	as	a	result	of	the	change	in	tax	rate.

Deferred tax assets 
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2011

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Recognised in 
the statement 

of comprehen-
sive income 31 Dec 2012

On other temporary differences
On fair value reserve 4,611 - –4,611 -
Total 4,611 - –4,611 -

       

Deferred tax liabilities 
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2011

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Recognised in 
the statement 

of comprehen-
sive income 31 Dec 2012

On other temporary differences
On fair value reserve - - 7,115 7,115
On change in voluntary provisions 43,605 26,950 - 70,555
Total 43,605 26,950 7,115 77,670

Note 19. Debt securities issued

31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

(EUR	1,000)
Carrying 
amount Nominal value

Carrying 
amount Nominal value

Bonds 18,677,686 22,391,949 17,434,533 20,045,787
Other 1,591,612 1,592,027 1,363,841 1,377,088
Total 20,269,298 23,983,977 18,798,375 21,422,875

All	parent	company	funding	is	guaranteed	by	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board.

Note 20. Other liabilities 

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Payment transfer 6 1,059
Other 1,389 247
Total 1,395 1,306

Note 21. Accrued expenses and deferred income

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Interest 260,743 284,677
Other 7,847 13,322
Total 268,590 297,999
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Note 22. Subordinated liabilities

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Currency Nominal value
Carrying 
amount Interest rate

Earliest re-
payment

1)	Debenture	loan	1/06 EUR 35,000 37,965 Fixed 9.5.2016
2) Capital loan 1/03 EUR 10,000 10,000 Euribor	6	Mths 10.12.2010
3) Capital investments EUR 1,009 1,009 Euribor	12	Mths
Total 46,009 48,974

       

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Currency Nominal value
Carrying 
amount Interest rate

Earliest re-
payment

1)	Debenture	loan	1/06 EUR 35,000 39,346 Fixed 9.5.2016
2) Capital loan 1/03 EUR 10,000 10,000 Euribor	6	Mths 10.12.2010
3) Capital investments EUR 1,009 1,009 Euribor	12	Mths
4)	Perpetual	loan	1/08 EUR 40,000 40,000 Euribor	6	Mths 31.3.2013
Total 86,009 90,355

Loan terms and conditions:

1) The maturity date of the loan is 9 May 2021. The company has the right to prematurely repay the loan principal and accumulated 
interest	as	of	9	May	2016,	or	earlier	only	with	written	consent	from	the	Finnish	Financial	Supervisory	Authority.	In	dissolution	pro-
cedures	and	bankruptcy,	the	debenture	loan	principal	and	accumulated	interest	are	subordinated	to	all	other	debts.	The	loan	has	at	
least	the	same	seniority	as	any	debenture	loan	with	a	maturity	date	and	equivalent	commitments	potentially	issued	or	subscribed	
by	the	company	in	the	future.	

2)	 The	loan	does	not	have	a	maturity	date.	The	company	has	agreed	to	pay	interest	only	if	the	amount	to	be	paid	is	distributable	accord-
ing	to	the	balance	sheet	approved	for	the	company’s	previous	financial	year.	The	loan	involves	no	cumulative	right	to	interest.	The	
loan	may	be	repaid	on	the	condition	that	the	restricted	equity	and	other	non-distributable	assets	on	the	approved	balance	sheet	for	
the company’s previous financial year provide full coverage and that the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority grants permission 
to	repay	the	loan.	Under	the	terms	of	the	loan,	the	company	has	the	right	on	10	December	2010,	and	each	date	of	interest	payment	
thereafter,	to	repay	the	loan	subject	to	the	aforementioned	conditions	being	met.	The	company	did	not	exercise	the	said	right	to	
repay	the	loan	in	the	financial	year.	The	interest	accumulated	by	the	end	of	the	financial	year	has	been	recorded	in	the	financial	
statements	as	an	interest	expense.

	 In	dissolution	procedures	and	bankruptcy,	the	capital	loan	principal	and	accumulated	interest	are	subordinated	to	all	other	debts.	
The	company’s	capital	loan	has	the	same	seniority	as	any	capital	loans	and	equivalent	commitments	potentially	issued	or	subscribed	
in the future. The loan has priority over the company’s shares.

3)	 Capital	investments	may	not	be	recalled,	but	the	company	may	repay	them	with	permission	from	the	Finnish	Financial	Supervisory	
Authority	on	the	condition	that	the	company’s	own	funds	do	not	fall	below	the	minimum	level.	Interest	may	be	paid	to	the	extent	
as	the	credit	institution’s	profit	distribution	allows	and	distributable	funds	are	sufficient,	and	the	Board	of	Directors	of	the	credit	
institution	approves.	Entitlement	to	interest	is	not	carried	over	to	future	financial	years	if	no	interest	is	paid	on	earlier	years.	The	
prevailing interest rates do not allow payment of interest under the loan terms and conditions for 2013. 

4) The loan does not have a maturity date. The company has the right to repay the loan principal with accumulated interest prema-
turely with written consent from the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority as of 31 March 2013. The company has the right to 
delay	the	payment	of	interest	on	the	loan	if	the	company’s	capital	adequacy	does	not	meet	the	requirements	laid	out	in	the	law,	
the	company	has	no	distributable	funds	or	the	company	is	otherwise	unable	to	distribute	a	dividend.

	 In	dissolution	procedures	and	bankruptcy,	the	loan	principal	and	accumulated	interest	are	subordinated	to	all	other	debts.	The	
loan has at least the same seniority as the company’s other corresponding perpetual loans and any corresponding perpetual loans 
potentially	issued	or	subscribed	in	the	future.	The	interest	accumulated	by	the	end	of	the	financial	year	has	been	recorded	in	the	
financial	statements	as	an	interest	expense.	

	 On	31	March	2013,	the	Company	repaid	the	perpetual	loan	of	EUR	40	million	(Perpetual	loan	1/08)	with	the	permission	of	the	
Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority.
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Note 23. Equity

There	were	no	changes	to	the	number	of	shares	during	the	financial	year:

(EUR	1,000)
Number of 

shares Share capital Reserve fund

Reserve for 
invested 

non-restricted 
equity Total

1.1.2012 39,063,798 42,583 277 40,366 83,226
31.12.2012 39,063,798 42,583 277 40,366 83,226
31.12.2013 39,063,798 42,583 277 40,366 83,226

       
The	shares	in	the	parent	company	are	divided	into	A	and	B	shares.	The	two	types	are	equal	in	terms	of	voting	rights	and	the	distribution	
of	profit.	Each	share	entitles	its	holder	to	one	vote.	The	shares	have	no	nominal	value.	The	acquisition	of	shares	is	restricted	through	
the	consent	and	redemption	clauses	of	the	Articles	of	Association.	All	issued	shares	have	been	paid	in	full.

Equity reserves:
The	reserve	fund	is	restricted	equity	referred	to	in	Chapter	8,	Section	1	of	the	Limited	Liability	Companies	Act.	The	fair	value	reserve	
comprises	changes	in	the	values	of	available-for-sale	financial	assets.	The	proportion	of	payment	made	for	shares	that	is	not	recorded	
in	equity	is	recognised	in	the	reserve	for	invested	non-restricted	equity.	Under	the	terms	of	the	parent	company’s	2009	share	issue	the	
funds collected through the share issue are recorded in the reserve for invested non-restricted equity.

Note 24. Contingent assets

As	a	consequence	of	the	financial	crisis,	the	Group	has	claims	amounting	to	EUR	2,924	thousand	related	to	the	insolvency	proceedings	
of	various	credit	institutions.	The	outcome	of	debt	collection	is	contingent	on	the	post-bankruptcy	solvency	of	the	credit	institutions	
in	question	and	the	result	of	their	bankruptcy	proceedings.	Impairment	has	been	recorded	for	the	full	amount	of	the	original	claims.	

Note 25. Liabilities and collateral

Liabilities and collateral (EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Loans	pledged	to	the	central	bank 2,207,573 2,036,320
Loans	pledged	to	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board 15,451,996 13,381,558
Debt	securities	pledged	to	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board 5,191,218 5,738,476
Deposits pledged to the Municipal Guarantee Board - 20,000
Total 22,850,788 21,176,354

Off-balance-sheet commitments (EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Binding loan commitments 981,420 1,247,588
Total 981,420 1,247,588

Note 26. Lease and other rental commitments

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Maturing within one year 1,405 1,456
Maturing in one to five years 1,941 3,040
Maturing in more than five years - -
Total 3,346 4,496
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Note 27. Related-party transactions

Municipality	Finance’s	related	parties	are	shareholders	whose	ownership	and	corresponding	voting	rights	in	the	company	exceed	20%,	
the	CEO,	the	Deputy	to	the	CEO,	members	of	the	Board	of	Directors,	the	principal	auditor,	the	spouses	and	minor	children	of	these	persons	
and	corporations	controlled	by	them.	Municipality	Finance’s	operations	are	restricted	by	the	Act	on	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board	and	
the	framework	agreement	concluded	between	the	company	and	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board,	pursuant	to	which	the	company	may	
only	grant	loans	to	parties	stipulated	by	law	(municipalities,	municipal	federations,	corporations	that	are	wholly	owned	by	municipalities	
or	under	their	control	and	corporations	designated	by	government	authorities	and	engaged	in	the	renting	or	production	and	mainte-
nance	of	housing	on	social	grounds).	Municipality	Finance	has	not	carried	out	any	business	transactions	with	related	parties	with	the	
exception	of	employment-based	remuneration.	Municipality	Finance	does	not	have	loan	or	financial	receivables	from	related	parties.	

Municipality	Finance’s	related	parties	also	include	its	subsidiary	Inspira.	Transactions	with	Inspira	comprise	of	fees	related	to	ad-
ministrative	services.	Transactions	with,	receivables	from	and	liabilities	to	the	subsidiary:

Transactions with, receivables from and liabilities to the subsidiary
(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Sales 41 33
Purchases –38 –75
Receivables 0 -
Liabilities 10 19

Note 28. Salaries and remuneration

Employee benefits for management
Salaries	and	remuneration	paid	to	the	CEO	and	Deputy	to	the	CEO	subject	to	withholding	tax:

Salaries and remuneration (EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
President	and	CEO 586 497
Deputy	to	the	CEO 465 389
Total 1,051 886

In	the	event	of	termination	at	the	company’s	initiative,	the	CEO	and	Executive	Vice	President	are	entitled	to	six	months’	severance	pay.	
The	term	of	notice	for	termination	of	the	CEO	or	the	Deputy	to	the	CEO	is	six	months.	The	retirement	age	of	the	CEO	and	Executive	

Vice	President	is	determined	by	the	Employees’	Pensions	Act.
The	CEO’s	employee	benefits	(car	and	housing	benefit)	are	terminated	at	the	end	of	the	term	of	notice.

Remuneration of the Board of Directors
The	members	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	the	parent	company	are	paid	an	annual	remuneration	as	well	as	remuneration	for	each	
meeting	in	accordance	with	the	decision	of	the	Annual	General	Meeting.	The	annual	remuneration	is	EUR	30,000	for	the	Chairman	of	
the	Board,	EUR	18,000	for	the	Vice	Chairman	and	EUR	15,000	for	the	other	members	of	the	Board.	The	remuneration	paid	for	Board	
and	committee	meetings	is	EUR	800	per	meeting	for	the	Chairman	of	the	Board	and	the	chairmen	of	committees	and	EUR	500	per	
meeting	for	the	other	members.

Salaries and remuneration (EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Members of the Board of Directors
Eva	Liljeblom,	Chairman 41 35
Fredrik	Forssell,	Vice	Chairman 26 19
Teppo	Koivisto	 22 17
Tapio	Korhonen,	member	until	26	March	2013 12 19

Sirpa	Louhevirta 21 17
Ossi	Repo,	member	until	26	March	2013 10 15
Tuula	Saxholm,	member	from	26	March	2013 11 -
Asta Tolonen 21 15
Juha	Yli-Rajala 22 18
Total 184 154

The remuneration paid to the parent company Board of Directors that served until the Annual General Meeting of 26 March 2013 is 
reported	in	Municipality	Finance	Plc’s	Annual	Report	2012,	which	is	available	on	the	company	website	at	www.munifin.fi.	
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Salaries and remuneration
Remuneration system
The	remuneration	paid	to	the	management	and	employees	of	Municipality	Finance	consists	of	a	fixed	remuneration	(base	salary	and	
fringe	benefits)	and	a	variable	remuneration	based	on	the	conditions	of	the	remuneration	system.	The	variable	remuneration	is	intended	
to	ensure	the	availability	and	retention	of	skilled	personnel	in	the	company,	to	promote	the	achievement	of	challenging	targets	and	to	
improve	the	productivity	of	work,	thereby	increasing	the	company’s	shareholder	value.	

The	Board	of	Directors	confirms	the	salaries	and	other	remunerations	of	the	CEO	and	the	Deputy	to	the	CEO	as	well	as	their	terms	
of	employment.	In	addition,	the	Board	of	Directors	confirms	the	salaries	and	remunerations	of	staff	reporting	directly	to	the	CEO	based	
on	the	CEO’s	proposal.	The	company	does	not	offer	any	unusual	fringe	benefits.	The	housing	and	car	benefits	implemented	by	the	com-
pany are part of the employee’s total remuneration.

In	line	with	the	strategy	confirmed	by	the	Board	of	Directors,	Municipality	Finance	monitors	the	developments	in	the	financial	sec-
tor	and	its	operating	environment	with	respect	to	salaries	and	remuneration.	A	job	evaluation	has	been	carried	out	for	all	positions	in	
order	to	achieve	sufficient	comparability	with	market	information.	The	following	external	parties	have	been	consulted	in	the	develop-
ment	of	the	remuneration	system	and	the	related	market	comparisons:	Hay	Group	Oy,	Alexander	Corporate	Finance	Oy	and	KPMG	Oy.

The	company	does	not	have	a	separate	remuneration	system	for	management.	The	remuneration	system	approved	by	the	Board	of	
Directors	applies	to	all	personnel.	The	remuneration	system	was	prepared	for	approval	by	the	Board	of	Directors	by	the	Board’s	Remu-
neration	Committee,	which	comprises	the	following	Board	members:	Chairman	of	the	Board	of	Directors	Eva	Liljeblom,	Teppo	Koivisto	
and	Juha	Yli-Rajala.

The	Remuneration	Committee	prepares	all	matters	related	to	remuneration	before	they	are	discussed	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	
These	matters	include	changes	to	the	terms	of	the	remuneration	system,	the	achievement	of	company-specific	targets	and	related	re-
muneration,	the	variable	pay	of	the	CEO	and	the	members	of	the	Board	of	Management,	and	summarised	information	on	the	remu-
neration of all employees.

The	targets	for	the	remuneration	system	are	set	for	each	calendar	year	(earning	year).	In	all	employee	groups,	including	manage-
ment,	the	remuneration	system	is	based	on	the	evaluation	of	performance	of	both	the	company	and	the	individual.	The	weight	assigned	
to	company-level,	unit-level	and	individual	targets	in	the	remuneration	system	varies	between	employee	groups.	For	the	CEO	and	the	
members	of	the	Board	of	Management,	targets	are	exclusively	company-specific,	but	the	assessment	of	targets	always	takes	into	ac-
count	personal	performance	with	respect	to	the	targets.	The	evaluation	of	the	company’s	performance	is	approved	by	the	Board	of	Direc-
tors,	that	of	a	unit’s	performance	by	the	Board	of	Management	and	that	of	an	individual	employee	by	the	supervisor	of	each	employee.

Due	to	regulations	on	credit	institutions,	the	payment	of	remuneration	earned	for	each	year	is	delayed	and	paid	over	the	four	fol-
lowing	years	if	the	person’s	remuneration	exceeds	EUR	50,000.	As	required	by	regulations,	the	Board	of	Directors	always	has	the	final	
say in whether or not to pay the remuneration if the payment would endanger the company’s capital adequacy or otherwise contradict 
customary	and	cautious	business	principles.	The	remuneration	of	people	working	in	duties	related	to	risk	management	is	not	based	on	
the result of the function they monitor. The Board of Directors also has the final say in whether or not to pay the earned or delayed 
remuneration	of	an	individual	employee	on	the	basis	of	a	risk-based	assessment.

A	variable	remuneration	may	only	be	paid	to	a	person	who	is	employed	by	the	company	at	the	time	of	payment.
Variable	remuneration	is	always	paid	in	cash.	The	company	does	not	have	any	share	or	stock	option	based	remuneration	systems.	

Half	of	the	variable	remuneration	is	linked	to	the	company’s	credit	rating	in	relation	to	the	credit	rating	of	the	Republic	of	Finland.	The	
variable	remuneration	may	therefore	decrease	if	the	company’s	credit	rating	deteriorates	in	relation	to	that	of	the	Republic	of	Finland.

Salaries and remuneration in 2013
The	variable	remuneration	paid	in	2013	was	based	on	Municipality	Finance’s	remuneration	system	approved	by	the	Board	of	Direc-
tors	and	the	targets	set	under	the	system	for	2012.	Remuneration	payments	were	also	made	in	2013	for	remuneration	that	had	been	
delayed for payment in 2013.

For	variable	remuneration	paid	in	2013	and	earned	in	2012,	the	target	remuneration	level	for	the	CEO	and	the	members	of	the	Board	
of	Management	was	equal	to	six	months’	pay.	The	maximum	remuneration	level	was	equal	to	twelve	months’	pay.	In	other	employee	
groups,	the	target	remuneration	levels	varied	from	one	and	a	half	months’	to	four	months’	pay,	and	the	maximum	remuneration	lev-
els	from	three	months’	to	eight	months’	pay.	The	maximum	remuneration	can	only	be	paid	on	the	basis	of	exceptional	performance.

Despite	the	company’s	excellent	success	in	2012,	the	company	did	not	pay	maximum	remuneration	under	the	remuneration	system	
in 2013 in any employee group for performance in 2012. The company had no remuneration recipients in 2013 whose remuneration 
exceeded	EUR	one	million	during	the	financial	year.

The	following	table	includes	more	detailed	information	on	the	salaries	and	remuneration,	pursuant	to	the	regulations	on	credit	in-
stitutions,	of	the	company’s	management	(CEO	and	other	members	of	the	Board	of	Management),	heads	of	departments	responsible	
for	business	operations	(lending,	leasing,	funding,	investments	and	treasury),	the	risk	management	director	(member	of	the	Board	of	
Management)	and	the	compliance	director	(member	of	the	Board	of	Management)	in	2013:
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(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Number	of	people	in	the	group 11 10
The	group’s	fixed	salaries		 1,925 1,704
The	group’s	variable	remuneration	earned	during	the	financial	year 1,125 1,188
The	amount	of	variable	remuneration	delayed	for	payment	in	subsequent	years 450 324
The amount of delayed remuneration payments accrued in previous years and paid during the 
financial year 388 -
Total	salaries	and	remuneration	paid	during	the	financial	year	(earned	and	delayed	for	previous	years) 1,063 864

None	of	the	figures	presented	in	the	preceding	tables	include	other	personnel	expenses.
In	2013,	the	Board	of	Directors	decided	to	amend	the	remuneration	system	by	decreasing	the	maximum	remuneration	level	of	the	

CEO	and	other	members	of	the	Board	of	Management	by	25	per	cent.	This	means	that	the	maximum	remuneration	changed	from	an	
amount	equal	to	12	months’	pay	to	an	amount	equal	to	9	months’	pay.	The	change	took	effect	from	the	beginning	of	2014	and	will	
first apply to remuneration determined in 2015 and earned in 2014.

Notes to the income statement

Note 29. Interest income and expense

Interest income (EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions	and	central	banks 338 1,422
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 260,267 313,775
Debt	securities 88,154 91,935
Derivative contracts –171,555 –134,503
Leasing	operations 1,279 1,080
Other interest income 1,531 1,952
Total 180,014 275,660

       

Interest expense (EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 22,563 28,691
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions	and	central	banks 59,212 45,450
Debt	securities	issued 320,135 519,486
Derivative contracts –374,177 –463,471
Subordinated	liabilities 1,850 2,563
Other	interest	expense 942 540
Total 30,524 133,259

Note 30. Commission income

(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Financial advisory services 1,641 1,730
Other operations 292 -
Total 1,933 1,730

Note 31. Commission expenses

(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Commission fees paid 137 128
Other 3,999 3,097
Total 4,135 3,225

“Other”	includes	paid	guarantee	fees,	custody	fees	and	bond	programme	update	costs.	 	 	 	 	
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Note 32. Net income from securities and foreign exchange transactions

2013	(EUR	1,	000)
Capital gains 

and losses (net)
Changes in fair 

value Total
Derivative contracts 17 21,047 21,064
Items valued with the fair value option 81 –16,216 –16,135
Total net income from securities transactions 98 4,831 4,928
Net	income	from	foreign	exchange	transactions –24 118 94
Total 74 4,949 5,023

       

2012	(EUR	1,	000)
Capital gains 

and losses (net)
Changes in fair 

value Total
Derivative contracts - –8,021 –8,021
Items valued with the fair value option –1,162 23,524 22,362
Total net income from securities transactions –1,162 15,503 14,341
Net	income	from	foreign	exchange	transactions 15 –16 –1
Total –1,147 15,487 14,340

Note 33. Net income from available-for-sale financial assets

(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Income from shares in investment funds 254 -
Disposal of financial assets –2,396 159
Reversals of impairment - 529
Transfers from the fair value reserve 2,356 –283
Total 214 405

Note 34. Net income from hedge accounting

(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Net income from hedging instruments –548,729 335,210
Net income from hedged items 558,346 –334,870
Total 9,617 340

Note 35. Other operating income

(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Other income from credit institution operations 5 26
Total 5 26

Note 36. Administrative expenses

(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Personnel	expenses

Wages and salaries 8,355 7,416
Pension costs 1,603 1,407
Other personnel-related costs 400 363

Total 10,358 9,186
Other	administrative	expenses 4,445 4,309
Total 14,802 13,495
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2013 2012
Personnel Average End of year Average End of year
Permanent full-time 70 73 60 65
Permanent part-time 4 4 2 2
Fixed	term 5 6 6 5
Total 79 83 68 72

Note 37. Other operating expenses

(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Rental	expenses 2,030 1,918
Other	expenses	from	credit	institution	operations 2,907 2,956
Total 4,937 4,874

Note 38. Impairment losses on other financial assets

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,	000)
Impairment losses per 

agreement Decrease

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Debt	securities	held-to-maturity - –54 –54
Total - –54 –54

       

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,	000)
Impairment losses per 

agreement Decrease

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Debt	securities	held-to-maturity - –2,020 –2,020
Total - –2,020 –2,020

Note 39. Income tax expense

(EUR	1,	000) 2013 2012
Tax	based	on	the	profit	for	the	financial	year 6,726 7,041
Deferred	tax 9,841 26,950
Total 16,567 33,991
Profit	before	tax 141,266 138,601
Taxes	at	domestic	tax	rate 34,610 33,957
Non-deductible	expenses 46 33
Change	in	corporate	tax	rate –18,089 -
Taxes in the income statement 16,567 33,991

Note 40. Events after the reporting period

There were no events after the reporting period that would have a material effect on the information presented in the financial state-
ments.
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Balance sheet

(EUR	1,000) Note 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 354,232 228,188

Cash 3 3
Central	bank	receivables	payable	on	demand 354,229 228,185

Debt	securities	eligible	for	central	bank	refinancing (4) 4,658,293 4,604,967
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions (2) 588,904 106,458

Payable	on	demand 10,481 5,360
Other 578,423 101,098

Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	
entities (3) 17,801,239 15,700,124
Leasing	assets (5) 81,044 64,107
Debt	securities (4) 1,327,351 2,032,864

From	public	sector	entities 652,008 697,341
From others 675,342 1,335,523

Shares and participations (6) 10,050 10,035
Shares and participations in Group companies (6) 100 100
Derivative contracts (7) 1,094,150 2,551,683
Intangible	assets (8,	10) 5,338 3,175
Tangible	assets (9,	10) 1,922 1,527

Other	tangible	assets 1,922 1,527
Other assets (11) 1,796 2,167
Accrued income and prepayments (12) 231,652 254,212
TOTAL ASSETS (18,	19) 26,156,069 25,559,607

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions	and	central	banks 2,264,386 3,961,730

To credit institutions 2,264,386 3,961,730
Other 2,264,386 3,961,730

Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 929,209 1,049,477
Other	liabilities 929,209 1,049,477

Debt	securities	issued (14) 20,269,298 18,798,375
Bonds 18,677,686 17,434,533
Other 1,591,612 1,363,841

Derivative contracts (7) 1,818,359 937,983
Other	liabilities (15) 1,301 1,228
Accrued	expenses	and	deferred	income (16) 268,446 297,769
Subordinated	liabilities (17) 48,974 90,355
Deferred	tax	liabilities (13) 5,571 7,115
TOTAL LIABILITIES 25,605,544 25,144,032
APPROPRIATIONS
Voluntary provisions 401,980 287,980
EQUITY (23,	24,	25)
Share capital 43,008 43,008
Other restricted reserves 22,562 22,203

Reserve fund 277 277
Fair value reserve 22,285 21,927

Non-restricted reserves 40,743 40,743
Rerserve for invested non-restricted equity 40,743 40,743

Retained earnings 21,641 144
Profit for the financial period 20,591 21,497
TOTAL EQUITY 148,545 127,595
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (18,	19) 26,156,069 25,559,607
OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS (40)
Irrevocable	commitments	given	in	favour	of	customer 981,420 1,247,588
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Income statement

(EUR	1,000) Note 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2013 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2012
Interest income (26) 178,735 274,581
Net income from leasing operations (27) 1,279 1,080
Interest	expense (26) –30,524 –133,259
NET INTEREST INCOME 149,490 142,402
Income from equity investments 64 102

In Group companies 64 102
Commission income (28) 293 0
Commission	expense (28) –4,133 –3,222
Net	income	from	securities	and	foreign	exchange	
transactions (29) 5,023 14,340

Net income from securities 4,928 14,341
Net	income	from	foreign	exchange	transactions 94 0

Net	income	from	available-for-sale	financial	assets (30) 214 405
Net income from hedge accounting (31) 9,617 340
Other operating income (32) 47 64
Administrative	expenses -13,569 -12,237

Personnel	expenses –9,320 –8,107
Wages and salaries –7,511 –6,542
Personnel-related costs –1,809 –1,565

Pension costs –1,438 –1,243
Other personnel-related costs –371 –322

Other	admistrative	expenses –4,249 –4,130
Depreciation	and	impairment	on	tangible	and	intangible	
assets (34) –1,194 –1,056
Other	operating	expenses (33) –4,594 –4,674
Impairment losses on other financial assets (35) 54 2,020
OPERATING PROFIT 141,312 138,483
Appropriations –114,000 –110,000
Income	tax –6,721 –6,986
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 20,591 21,497
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Statement of cash flows

(EUR	1,000) 1 Jan–31 Dec 2013 1 Jan–31 Dec 2012
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES –62,437 –482,723

Net change in long-term funding 3,381,994 1,478,271
Net change in short-term funding 234,714 1,127,527
Net change in long-term loans –2,271,953 –2,046,141
Net change in short-term loans 52,280 –219,555
Net change in investments 397,440 –929,650
Net change in collateral –1,970,860 –32,890
Interest paid –28,664 –172,854
Interest received 171,333 309,769
Other income 14,963 7,754
Payments	of	operating	expenses –29,749 –8,339
Taxes	paid –13,935 3,385

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES –3,709 –1,128
Acquisition	of	tangible	assets –724 –390
Acquisition	of	intangible	assets –2,986 –738

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES –40,000 -
Change	in	subordinated	liabilities –40,000 -

CHANGE IN CASH FUNDS –106,146 –483,852
CASH FUNDS AT 1 JANUARY 1,991,078 2,474,930
CASH FUNDS AT 31 DECEMBER 1,884,932 1,991,078

  
Cash	funds	include	the	following	balance	sheet	items:	 	
Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions	and	debt	securities	maturing	within	three	months	 	 	
 

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Cash and cash equivalents 354,232 228,188
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions 588,904 106,458
Debt	securities	maturing	within	three	months 941,796 1,656,432
TOTAL CASH FUNDS 1,884,932 1,991,078
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies of the parent company financial statements

Municipality	Finance	Plc,	the	parent	company	of	the	Municipality	Finance	Group,	prepares	its	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	the	Act	
on	Credit	Institutions,	the	Ministry	of	Finance	Decree	on	Credit	Institutions	and	the	Financial	Supervisory	Authority	Standard	3.1	Financial	
statements	and	management	report.	The	company	reports	regularly	on	its	operations	to	the	Finnish	Financial	Supervisory	Authority,	the	Bank	
of	Finland,	the	European	Central	Bank,	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board	and	Statistics	Finland. 
 
In	2008,	Municipality	Finance	reclassified	some	of	the	debt	securities	of	its	pre-funding	investments	based	on	the	amendments	to	the	IAS	
39 and IFRS 7 standards. The Finnish Financial Supervision Authority approved the amendments to the IFRS standards as part of the national 
accounting principles. The transfers are shown in Note 4. 
The	parent	company’s	credit	loss	provisions	are	made	in	accordance	with	tax	law. 
 
Other	valuation	and	amortisation	principles	are	described	in	the	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements. 

Notes to the balance sheet
The	company	has	not	combined	any	items	on	the	balance	sheet	under	Chapter	2,	Section	14(4),	of	the	Ministry	of	Finance	Decree.

Note 2. Loans and advances to credit institutions

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Total Payable on demand
Other than payable on 

demand
Domestic credit institutions 34,116 8,893 25,223
Foreign credit institutions 554,788 1,588 553,200
Total 588,904 10,481 578,423

      

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Total Payable on demand
Other than payable on 

demand
Domestic credit institutions 55,872 4,774 51,098
Foreign credit institutions 50,586 586 50,000
Total 106,458 5,360 101,098

Note 3. Loans and advances to the public and public sector entities

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Enterprises	and	housing	corporations 9,287,948 8,104,843
Public	sector	entities 8,329,298 7,428,634
Non-profit organisations 183,992 166,647
Total 17,801,239 15,700,124
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Note 4. Debt securities 

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Publicly quoted Other Total 
Debt	securities	issued	by	public	sector	entities 926,386 652,008 1,578,395

Held-to-maturity - 652,008 652,008
Municipal commercial papers - 652,008 652,008

Available-for-sale 900,169 - 900,169
Government	bonds 517,258 - 517,258
Bonds	issued	by	other	public	sector	entities 382,910 - 382,910

Fair value through profit or loss 26,217 - 26,217
Bonds	issued	by	other	public	sector	entities 26,217 - 26,217

Debt	securities	issued	by	other	than	public	sector	entities 4,103,393 303,856 4,407,250
Held-to-maturity - 172,816 172,816

Bank	bonds - 4,999 4,999
Commercial papers - 51,968 51,968
Other	debt	securities - 115,849 115,849

Available-for-sale 3,437,314 11,145 3,448,459
Bank	bonds 3,426,636 - 3,426,636
Other	debt	securities 10,678 11,145 21,823

Fair value through profit or loss 666,079 119,896 785,975
Bank certificates of deposit - 119,896 119,896
Bank	bonds 666,079 - 666,079

Total 5,029,780 955,865 5,985,644
Eligible	for	central	bank	refinancing 4,654,390 3,903 4,658,293
Total	non-interest	bearing 4,999 - 4,999

Reclassification:	Transferred	from	available-for-sale	investments	to	held-to-maturity	investments.

Fair value of investments on 
transfer date

1	Jan	2008 171,935
1	Jul	2008 34,967
Total 206,902

Without	this	reclassification,	changes	in	fair	value	of	investments	would	have	had	an	impact	of	EUR	1,139	thousand	on	the	fair	value	
reserve.

In	2013	EUR	167	thousand	of	the	valuation	difference	resulting	from	the	transfer	of	debt	securities	to	held-to-maturity	investments	was	
released from the fair value reserve.
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31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Publicly quoted Other Total 
Debt	securities	issued	by	public	sector	entities 693,933 697,341 1,391,274

Held-to-maturity - 697,341 697,341
Municipal commercial papers - 697,341 697,341

Available-for-sale 667,143 - 667,143
Government	bonds 333,618 - 333,618
Bonds	issued	by	other	public	sector	entities 333,525 - 333,525

Fair value through profit or loss 26,790 - 26,790
Bonds	issued	by	other	public	sector	entities 26,790 - 26,790

Debt	securities	issued	by	other	than	public	sector	
entities 4,594,494 652,063 5,246,557

Held-to-maturity 132,649 55,309 187,958
Bank	bonds - 4,999 4,999
Commercial papers - 55,309 55,309
Other	debt	securities - 127,650 127,650

Available-for-sale 3,751,060 16,926 3,767,986
Bank certificates of deposit - - -
Bank	bonds 3,338,586 - 3,338,586
Other	debt	securities 412,474 16,926 429,400

Fair value through profit or loss 710,785 579,828 1,290,613
Bank certificates of deposit - 579,828 579,828
Bank	bonds 659,358 - 659,358
Other	debt	securities 51,426 - 51,426

Total 5,288,427 1,349,404 6,637,831
Eligible	for	central	bank	refinancing 4,534,815 70,152 4,604,967
Total	non-interest	bearing 4,999 - 4,999

Reclassification:	Transferred	from	available-for-sale	financial	assets	to	held-to-maturity	investments.

Fair value of investments 
on transfer date

1	Jan	2008 171,935
1	Jul	2008 34,967
Total 206,902

Without	this	reclassification,	changes	in	fair	value	of	investments	would	have	had	an	impact	of	EUR	2,182	thousand	on	the	fair	value	reserve.
In	2012	EUR	272	thousand	of	the	valuation	difference	resulting	from	the	transfer	of	debt	securities	to	held-to-maturity	investments	was	
released from the fair value reserve.

Note 5. Assets leased under financial leasing

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Machinery and equipment 79,812 62,843
Other assets 1,232 1,264
Total 81,044 64,107

Note 6. Shares and participations

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Publicly quoted Other Total 
In credit 

institutions
Available-for-sale 10,023 27 10,050 -
Group companies - 100 100 -
Total 10,023 127 10,150 -

      

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Publicly quoted Other Total 
In credit 

institutions
Available-for-sale 10,008 27 10,035 -
Group companies - 100 100 -
Total 10,008 127 10,135 -
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Note 7. Derivative contracts

Nominal value of underlying instrument Fair value
Remaining maturity

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Less than 1 

year 1–5 years Over 5 years Total Positive Negative
Contracts not included in hedge accounting (IFRS classification)
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 1,688,698 2,692,239 2,093,043 6,473,980 45,484 –59,989
Forward rate agreements 5,000 - - 5,000 - –2

Currency derivatives
Cross currency interest 
rate swaps - 23,807 15,354 39,160 145 –142
Forward	exchange	
contracts 1,442,027 - - 1,442,027 - –26,134

Equity	derivatives 216,133 1,989,851 26,382 2,232,366 88,486 –88,486
Other derivatives 29,896 166,888 56,500 253,285 34,422 –34,182
Total 3,381,755 4,872,785 2,191,279 10,445,819 168,537 –208,935

Contracts under hedge accounting (IFRS classification)
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 1,685,500 10,568,883 13,158,175 25,412,558 273,041 –258,375
Currency derivatives

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps 3,476,168 11,039,449 2,370,984 16,886,601 652,572 –1,351,049

Total 5,161,668 21,608,332 15,529,159 42,299,159 925,613 –1,609,424
Grand total 8,543,423 26,481,118 17,720,438 52,744,978 1,094,150 –1,818,359

      

Nominal value of underlying instrument Fair value
Remaining maturity

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)
Less than 1 

year 1–5 years Over 5 years Total Positive Negative
Contracts not included in hedge accounting (IFRS classification)
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 582,000 4,068,764 1,545,619 6,196,383 56,035 –91,858
Currency derivatives

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps - 35,554 18,304 53,858 329 –323

Forward	exchange	contracts 927,088 - - 927,088 592 –13,249
Equity	derivatives 1,002,111 2,701,622 86,760 3,790,493 172,391 –172,391
Other derivatives 145,019 164,043 56,500 365,562 44,093 –43,733
Total 2,656,217 6,969,983 1,707,184 11,333,384 273,441 –321,554

Contracts under hedge accounting (IFRS classification)
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 261,784 7,434,418 10,928,828 18,625,030 516,296 –378,058
Currency derivatives

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps 2,483,905 7,587,950 3,969,502 14,041,357 1,761,946 –238,371

Total 2,745,689 15,022,368 14,898,330 32,666,387 2,278,242 –616,429
Grand total 5,401,907 21,992,351 16,605,513 43,999,772 2,551,683 –937,983
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Note 8. Intangible assets

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
IT systems 4,740 2,399
Other	intangible	assets 598 776
Total 5,338 3,175

Note 9. Tangible assets

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Real estate

Buildings 440 480
Land 135 135

Real estate corporation shares 299 299
Other	tangible	assets 1048 614
Total 1,922 1,527

Note 10. Changes in intangible and tangible assets during the financial year
Intangible 

assets Tangible assets

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Total Real estate
Other tangible 

assets Total 
Acquisition	cost	1	Jan 6,099 1,207 1,928 3,135
+ Additions 3,028 - 724 724
- Disposals - - - -
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 9,127 1,207 2,652 3,858
Accumulated	depreciation	1	Jan 2,924 293 1,314 1,607
- Accumulated depreciation on disposals - - - -
+ Depreciation for the financial year 865 40 289 329
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 3,789 333 1,603 1,936
Book value 31 Dec 5,338 873 1,048 1,922
      

Intangible 
assets Tangible assets

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Total Real estate
Other tangible 

assets Total 
Acquisition	cost	1	Jan 5,414 1,167 1,579 2,746
+ Additions 740 40 349 389
- Disposals –55 - - -
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 6,099 1,207 1,928 3,135
Accumulated	depreciation	1	Jan 2,127 254 1,094 1,348
- Accumulated depreciation on disposals –1 - - -
+ Depreciation for the financial year 798 39 220 259
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 2,924 293 1,314 1,607
Book value 31 Dec 3,175 914 614 1,528

Note 11. Other assets

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Muut 1,796 2,167
Total 1,796 2,167
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Note 12. Accrued income and prepayments

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Interest 229,647 253,683
Other 2,005 529
Total 231,652 254,212

Note 13.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets 
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2012

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Recognised in 
equity 31 Dec 2013

On other temporary differences
On fair value reserve - - - -
Total - - - -

Deferred tax liabilities 
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2012

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Recognised in 
equity 31 Dec 2013

On other than temporary differences
On fair value reserve 7,115 - –1,544 5,571
Total 7,115 - –1,544 5,571

Voluntary	provisions	include	EUR	80,396	thousand	in	non-recognised	deferred	tax	liabilities.

Deferred tax assets 
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2011

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Recognised in 
equity 31 Dec 2012

On other than temporary differences
On fair value reserve 4,611 - –4,611 -
Total 4,611 - –4,611 -

      

Deferred tax liabilities 
(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2011

Recognised in 
the income 
statement

Recognised in 
equity 31 Dec 2012

On other temporary differences
On fair value reserve - - 7,115 7,115
Total - - 7,115 7,115

Voluntary	provisions	include	EUR	70,555	thousand	in	non-recognised	deferred	tax	liabilities.

Note 14. Debt securities issued

31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
(EUR	1,000) Book value Nominal value Book value Nominal value
Bonds 18,677,686 22,391,949 17,434,533 20,045,787
Other 1,591,612 1,592,027 1,363,841 1,377,088
Total 20,269,298 23,983,977 18,798,375 21,422,875

All	parent	company	funding	is	guaranteed	by	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board.

Note 15. Other liabilities 

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Payment transfer 6 1,059
Other 1295 169
Total 1,301 1,228
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Note 16. Accrued expenses and deferred income

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Interest 260,743 284,677
Other 7,703 13,092
Total 268,446 297,769

Note 17. Subordinated liabilities

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Currency Nominal value Book value Interest rate
Earliest 

repayment
1)	Debenture	loan	1/06 EUR 35,000 37,965 Fixed 9.5.2016
2) Capital loan 1/03 EUR 10,000 10,000 Euribor	6	Mths 10.12.2010
3) Capital investments EUR 1009 1009 Euribor	12	Mths
Total 46,009 48,974

      

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Currency Nominal value Book value Interest rate
Earliest 

repayment
1)	Debenture	loan	1/06 EUR 35,000 39,346 Fixed 9.5.2016
2) Capital loan 1/03 EUR 10,000 10,000 Euribor	6	Mths 10.12.2010
3) Capital investments EUR 1,009 1,009 Euribor	12	Mths
4)	Perpetual	loan	1/08 EUR 40,000 40,000 Euribor	6	Mths 31.3.2013
Total 86,009 90,355

Loan terms and conditions:

1) The maturity date of the loan is 9 May 2021. The company has the right to prematurely repay the loan principal and accumulated 
interest	as	of	9	May	2016,	or	earlier	only	with	written	consent	from	the	Finnish	Financial	Supervisory	Authority.	In	dissolution	pro-
cedures	and	bankruptcy,	the	debenture	loan	principal	and	accumulated	interest	are	subordinated	to	all	other	debts.	The	loan	has	at	
least	the	same	seniority	as	any	debenture	loan	with	a	maturity	date	and	equivalent	commitments	potentially	issued	or	subscribed	
by	the	company	in	the	future.	

2)	 The	loan	does	not	have	a	maturity	date.	The	company	has	agreed	to	pay	interest	only	if	the	amount	to	be	paid	is	distributable	
according	to	the	balance	sheet	approved	for	the	company’s	previous	financial	year.	The	loan	involves	no	cumulative	right	to	interest.	
The	loan	may	be	repaid	on	the	condition	that	the	restricted	equity	and	other	non-distributable	assets	on	the	approved	balance	
sheet for the company’s previous financial year provide full coverage and that the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority grants 
permission	to	repay	the	loan.	Under	the	terms	of	the	loan,	the	company	has	the	right	on	10	December	2010,	and	each	date	of	
interest	payment	thereafter,	to	repay	the	loan	subject	to	the	aforementioned	conditions	being	met.		The	company	did	not	exercise	
the	said	right	to	repay	the	loan	in	the	financial	year.	The	interest	accumulated	by	the	end	of	the	financial	year	has	been	recorded	
in	the	financial	statements	as	an	interest	expense.

	 In	dissolution	procedures	and	bankruptcy,	the	capital	loan	principal	and	accumulated	interest	are	subordinated	to	all	other	debts.	
The	company’s	capital	loan	has	the	same	seniority	as	any	capital	loans	and	equivalent	commitments	potentially	issued	or	subscribed	
in the future. The loan has priority over the company’s shares.

3)	 Capital	investments	may	not	be	recalled,	but	the	company	may	repay	them	with	permission	from	the	Finnish	Financial	Supervisory	
Authority	on	the	condition	that	the	company’s	own	funds	do	not	fall	below	the	minimum	level.	Interest	may	be	paid	to	the	extent	
as	the	credit	institution’s	profit	distribution	allows	and	distributable	funds	are	sufficient,	and	the	Board	of	Directors	of	the	credit	
institution	approves.	Entitlement	to	interest	is	not	carried	over	to	future	financial	years	if	no	interest	is	paid	on	earlier	years.	The	
prevailing interest rates do not allow payment of interest under the loan terms and conditions for 2013. 

4) The loan does not have a maturity date. The company has the right to repay the loan principal with accumulated interest prema-
turely with written consent from the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority as of 31 March 2013. The company has the right to 
delay	the	payment	of	interest	on	the	loan	if	the	company’s	capital	adequacy	does	not	meet	the	requirements	laid	out	in	the	law,	
the	company	has	no	distributable	funds	or	the	company	is	otherwise	unable	to	distribute	a	dividend.

	 In	dissolution	procedures	and	bankruptcy,	the	loan	principal	and	accumulated	interest	are	subordinated	to	all	other	debts.	The	
loan has at least the same seniority as the company’s other corresponding perpetual loans and any corresponding perpetual loans 
potentially	issued	or	subscribed	in	the	future.	The	interest	accumulated	by	the	end	of	the	financial	year	has	been	recorded	in	the	
financial	statements	as	an	interest	expense.	

	 On	31	March	2013,	the	Company	repaid	the	perpetual	loan	of	EUR	40	million	(Perpetual	loan	1/08)	with	the	permission	of	the	
Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority.
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Note 18. Breakdown of financial assets and liabilities by maturity

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) 0–3 months 3-12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years Over 10 years Total 
Debt	securities	eligible	for	
central	bank	refinancing 208,300 333,794 3,087,193 947,997 81,010 4,658,293
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	
institutions 583,904 5,000 - - - 588,904
Loans	and	advances	to	the	
public	and	public	sector	
entities 297,264 1,193,434 5,634,377 4,126,904 6,549,260 17,801,239
Debt	securities 733,496 111,986 362,766 44,510 74,593 1,327,351
Total 1,822,964 1,644,214 9,084,335 5,119,411 6,704,863 24,375,786

      

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) 0–3 months 3-12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years Over 10 years Total 
Liabilities	to	credit	institu-
tions 362,527 216,123 45,290 428,906 1,211,540 2,264,386
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	
public	sector	entities 17,450 2,637 353,027 261,835 294,260 929,209
Debt	securities	issued 3,484,291 4,234,304 10,884,367 1,107,874 558,463 20,269,298
Subordinated	liabilities - 10,000 37,965 - 1,009 48,974
Total 3,864,267 4,463,064 11,320,648 1,798,614 2,065,273 23,511,867

Liabilities	that	may	be	called	prematurely	have	been	entered	in	the	table	in	the	maturity	class	corresponding	to	the	first	possible	call	date.	
The	company	expects	to	call	40-60%	of	its	liabilities	in	2014.	In	2013,	the	company	called	73%	of	its	liabilities.

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) 0–3 months 3-12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years Over 10 years Total 
Debt	securities	eligible	for	
central	bank	refinancing 696,772 473,811 2,824,729 467,693 141,962 4,604,967
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	
institutions 98,458 8,000 - - - 106,458
Loans	and	advances	to	the	
public	and	public	sector	
entities 219,515 1,063,207 5,145,980 3,803,556 5,467,866 15,700,124
Debt	securities 959,661 547,054 436,900 50,037 39,212 2,032,864
Total 1,974,406 2,092,072 8,407,609 4,321,286 5,649,040 22,444,413

      

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) 0–3 months 3-12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years Over 10 years Total 
Liabilities	to	credit	institu-
tions 1,781,880 267,971 225,297 355,912 1,330,669 3,961,729
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	
public	sector	entities 20,986 26,620 216,996 473,149 311,726 1,049,477
Debt	securities	issued 2,854,235 6,164,798 7,422,376 1,695,948 661,018 18,798,375
Subordinated	liabilities 40,000 10,000 39,346 - 1,009 90,355
Total 4,697,101 6,469,389 7,904,015 2,525,009 2,304,422 23,899,936

Liabilities	that	may	be	called	prematurely	have	been	entered	in	the	table	in	the	maturity	class	corresponding	to	the	first	possible	call	date.	
The	company	expects	to	call	40-50%	of	its	loans	in	2013.	In	2012,	the	company	called	34%	of	its	loans.
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Note 19. Breakdown of the balance sheet items into domestic and foreign currency

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Domestic 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total 

Debt	securities	eligible	for	central	bank	refinancing 4,622,347 35,947 4,658,293
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions 588,364 540 588,904
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 17,801,239 - 17,801,239
Debt	securities 1,327,351 - 1,327,351
Derivative contracts 1,094,150 - 1,094,150
Other assets incl. cash and cash equivalents 685,954 179 686,133
Total 26,119,404 36,666 26,156,069

      

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000)
Domestic 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total 

Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 2,092,354 172,032 2,264,386
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 683,417 245,791 929,209
Debt	securities	issued 950,751 19,318,547 20,269,298
Derivative contracts 1,818,359 - 1,818,359
Subordinated	liabilities 48,974 - 48,974
Other	liabilities 702,193 123,651 825,844
Total 6,296,049 19,860,021 26,156,069

      

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)
Domestic 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total 

Debt	securities	eligible	for	central	bank	refinancing 4,604,967 - 4,604,967
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions 106,120 338 106,458
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 15,764,232 - 15,764,232
Debt	securities 2,032,864 - 2,032,864
Derivative contracts 2,551,683 - 2,551,683
Other assets incl. cash and cash equivalents 499,404 - 499,404
Total 25,559,268 338 25,559,607

      

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000)
Domestic 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total 

Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 3,590,257 371,473 3,961,730
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 706,025 343,452 1,049,477
Debt	securities	issued 1,010,005 17,788,370 18,798,375
Derivative contracts 937,983 - 937,983
Subordinated	liabilities 90,355 - 90,355
Other	liabilities 545,178 176,509 721,688
Total 6,879,802 18,679,805 25,559,607

Note 20. Repurchase agreements for securities

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Repo purchase agreements

Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions - 50,000
Loans	and	advances	to	others - -

Total - 50,000
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Note 21. Fair values and book values of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
(EUR	1,000) Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents 354,232 354,232 228,188 228,188
Debt	securities	eligible	for	central	bank	refinancing 4,658,293 4,657,989 4,604,967 4,596,706
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions 588,904 588,913 106,458 106,458
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 17,801,239 18,494,945 15,700,124 16,386,894
Debt	securities 1,327,351 1,313,471 2,032,864 2,026,152
Shares and participations 10,050 10,050 10,035 10,035
Shares and participations in Group companies 100 100 100 100
Derivative contracts 1,094,150 1,094,150 2,551,683 2,551,683
Total 25,834,318 26,513,851 25,234,419 25,906,216

      

Financial liabilities 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
(EUR	1,000) Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 2,264,386 2,264,267 3,961,730 3,961,513
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 929,209 925,254 1,049,477 1,045,307
Debt	securities	issued 20,269,298 20,268,860 18,798,375 18,795,007
Derivative contracts 1,818,359 1,818,359 937,983 937,983
Subordinated	liabilities 48,974 49,849 90,355 91,371
Total 25,330,225 25,326,589 24,837,920 24,831,182

Note 22. Hierarchy of fair values of financial assets and liabilities

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Assets at fair value

Items at fair value through profit or loss
Debt	securities 692,297 119,896 - 812,193
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public - 6,868,445 - 6,868,445
Derivative contracts - 168,537 - 168,537

Hedging derivatives - 925,613 - 925,613
Available-for-sale	assets

Debt	securities 4,337,483 11,145 - 4,348,627
Shares in investment funds 10,050 - - 10,050

Total 5,039,830 8,093,635 - 13,133,465
      

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Liabilities at fair value

Items at fair value through profit or loss
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions - 1,856,371 - 1,856,371
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities - 723,136 - 723,136
Debt	securities	issued - 17,607,827 - 17,607,827
Subordinated	liabilities - 37,965 - 37,965
Derivative contracts - 208,936 - 208,936

Hedging derivatives - 1,609,423 - 1,609,423
Total - 22,043,658 - 22,043,658
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31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Assets at fair value

Items at fair value through profit or loss
Debt	securities 737,575 579,828 - 1,317,403
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public - 6,399,702 - 6,399,702
Derivative contracts - 273,441 - 273,441

Hedging derivatives - 2,278,242 - 2,278,242
Available-for-sale	assets

Debt	securities 4,418,203 16,926 - 4,435,129
Shares in investment funds 10,008 - - 10,008

Total 5,165,785 9,548,139 - 14,713,924
      

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Liabilities at fair value

Items at fair value through profit or loss
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions - 1,928,415 - 1,928,415
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities - 851,236 - 851,236
Debt	securities	issued - 15,018,143 - 15,018,143
Subordinated	liabilities - 39,346 - 39,346
Derivative contracts - 321,554 - 321,554

Hedging derivatives - 616,429 - 616,429
Total - 18,775,123 - 18,775,123

Level	1	 	Valuation	is	based	on	values	quoted	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	on	active	and	functioning	markets.		

Level	2	 Valuation	is	based	on	input	data	other	than	Level	1	quoted	prices.	Prices	can	be	verified	either	directly	or	indirectly.

Level	3	 Valuation	is	based	on	input	data	that	are	not	based	on	verifiable	market	prices.

During	the	2013	financial	year,	no	reclassifications	have	been	made	from	Level	3	to	other	classes	or	from	other	classes	to	Level	3.
During	the	2012	financial	year,	no	reclassifications	have	been	made	from	Level	3	to	other	classes	or	from	other	classes	to	Level	3.

Note 23. Equity

31	Dec	2013	(EUR	1,000) Share capital Reserve fund
Fair value 

reserve

Reserve for 
invested 

non-restricted 
equity

Retained ear-
nings Total 

Book	value,	beginning	of	
period,	1	January	2013 43,008 277 21,927 40,743 21,641 127,595
+ increase - - 359 - 20,591 20,950
- decrease - - - - - -
Book value 31 December 
2013 43,008 277 22,285 40,743 42,233 148,545

      

31	Dec	2012	(EUR	1,000) Share capital Reserve fund
Fair value 

reserve

Reserve for 
invested 

non-restricted 
equity

Retained ear-
nings Total 

Book	value,	beginning	of	
period,	1	January	2012 43,008 277 –14,280 40,743 144 69,892
+ increase - - 36,207 - 21,497 57,703
- decrease - - - - - -
Book value 31 December 
2012 43,008 277 21,927 40,743 21,641 127,595
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Note 24. Share capital

The	shares	in	Municipality	Finance	Plc	are	divided	into	A	and	B	shares.	The	two	types	are	equal	in	terms	of	voting	rights	and	the	distribution	
of	profit.	Each	share	entitles	its	holder	to	one	vote.	The	shares	have	no	nominal	value.	The	acquisition	of	shares	is	restricted	through	the	
consent	and	redemption	clauses	of	the	Articles	of	Association.	At	the	end	of	2013,	the	company’s	share	capital,	paid	up	and	recorded	in	the	
Trade	Register,	amounted	to	EUR	43,008	thousand.	The	total	number	of	shares	is	39,063,798.

Note 25. Largest shareholders

The	ten	largest	shareholders	in	terms	of	voting	rights	and	the	number	of	shares	held	by	these,	their	portion	of	all	shares	in	the	credit	
institution	and	of	all	votes	carried	by	the	shares	as	well	as	the	total	number	of	shareholders:

31 Dec 2013 No. of shares Per cent
1.	Keva 11,975,550 30.66%
2.	Republic	of	Finland 6,250,000 16.00%
3. City of Helsinki 4,066,525 10.41%
4.	City	of	Espoo 1,547,884 3.96%
5.	VAV-Asunnot	Oy	(City	of	Vantaa) 963,048 2.47%
6. City of Tampere 919,027 2.35%
7. City of Oulu 903,125 2.31%
8.	City	of	Turku 615,681 1.58%
9.	City	of	Kuopio 569,450 1.46%
10.	City	of	Lahti 502,220 1.29%

The	total	number	of	shareholders	is	284.

Notes to the income statement
The	company	has	not	combined	any	items	in	the	income	statement	under	Chapter	2,	Section	14(4),	of	the	Ministry	of	Finance	Decree.

Note 26. Interest income and expense

Interest income (EUR 1,000) 2013 2012
Loans	and	advances	to	credit	institutions	and	central	banks 338 1,422
Loans	and	advances	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 260,267 313,775
Debt	securities 88,154 91,935
Derivative contracts –171,555 –134,503
Other interest income 1,531 1,952
Total 178,735 274,581

      

Interest expense (EUR 1,000) 2013 2012
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 22,563 28,691
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions	and	central	banks 59,212 45,450
Debt	securities	issued 320,135 519,486
Derivative contracts –374,177 –463,471
Subordinated	liabilities 1,850 2,563
Other	interest	expense 942 540
Total 30,524 133,259
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Note 27. Net income from leasing operations

(EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Leasing	income 13,653 7,600
Depreciation on lease assets according to plan –12,377 –6,561
Capital gains and losses on lease assets 3 41
Total 1,279 1,080

      

Note 28. Commission income and expense

Commission income (EUR 1,000) 2013 2012
From other operations 293 0
Total 293 0

Commission expense (EUR 1,000) 2013 2012
Commission fees paid 135 125
Other 3,999 3,097
Total 4,133 3,222

      
“Other”	includes	paid	guarantee	fees,	custody	fees	and	bond	programme	update	costs.

Note 29. Net income from securities and foreign exchange transactions

2013 (EUR	1,000)
Capital gains 

and losses (net)
Changes in fair 

value Total 
Derivative contracts 17 21,047 21,064
Items valued with the fair value option 81 –16,216 –16,135
Total net income from securities transactions 98 4,831 4,928
Net	income	from	foreign	exchange	transactions –24 118 94
Total 74 4,949 5,023

      

2012 (EUR	1,000)
Capital gains 

and losses (net)
Changes in fair 

value Total 
Derivative contracts - –8,021 –8,021
Items valued with the fair value option –1,162 23,524 22,362
Total net income from securities transactions –1,162 15,503 14,341
Net	income	from	foreign	exchange	transactions 15 –16 0
Total –1,147 15,487 14,340

Note 30. Net income from available-for-sale financial assets

(EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Income from shares in investment funds 254 -
Disposal of financial assets –2,396 159
Reversals of impairment - 529
Transfers from fair value reserve 2,356 –283
Total 214 405



Municipality Finance Plc    

91

Note 31. Net income from hedge accounting

(EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Net income from hedging instruments –548,729 335,210
Net income from hedged items 558,346 –334,870
Total 9,617 340

Note 32. Other operating income

(EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Other income from credit institution operations 47 64
Total 47 64

      

Note 33. Other operating expenses

(EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Rental	expenses 1,874 1,735
Other	expenses	from	credit	institution	operations 2,720 2,939
Total 4,594 4,674

Note 34. Depreciation and impairment on tangible and intangible assets

The item consists of depreciation according to the plan.

Note 35. Impairment losses on other financial assets

2013 (EUR	1,000)
Impairment losses per 

agreement Decrease
Recognised in the 
income statement

Debt	securities	held-to-maturity - –54 –54
Total - –54 –54

      

2012 (EUR	1,000)
Impairment losses per 

agreement Decrease
Recognised in the 
income statement

Debt	securities	held-to-maturity - –2,020 –2,020
Total - –2,020 –2,020

Note 36. Information on business areas and geographical market

Municipality Finance Plc’s operating segment is credit institution operations and the market for lending is Finland.

Notes on collateral, contingent liabilities and derivative contracts

Note 37. Collateral given

Pledges for own debt (EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Liabilities	to	credit	institutions 2,264,386 3,961,730
Liabilities	to	the	public	and	public	sector	entities 929,209 1,049,477
Debt	securities	issued 20,269,298 18,798,375
Total 23,462,893 23,809,582

Collateral	given	is	presented	in	accordance	with	the	balance	sheet	values	on	31	December.
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Liabilities and collateral (EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Loans	pledged	to	the	central	bank 2,207,573 2,036,320
Loans	pledged	to	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board 15,451,996 13,381,558
Debt	securities	pledged	to	the	Municipal	Guarantee	Board 5,191,218 5,738,476
Deposits pledged to the Municipal Guarantee Board - 20,000
Total 22,850,788 21,176,354

Note 38. Pension liabilities

Pension	coverage	has	been	arranged	via	an	external	pension	insurance	company.

Note 39. Leasing and other rental liabilities

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Maturing within one year 1,239 1,265
Maturing in one to five years 1,722 2,777
Maturing in more than five years - -
Total 2,961 4,042

Note 40. Off-balance sheet commitments

(EUR	1,000) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Binding loan commitments 981,420 1,247,588
Total 981,420 1,247,588

Notes on personnel and management

Note 41. Personnel

2013 2012
Average End of year Average End of year

Permanent full-time 60 62 50 54
Permanent part-time 4 4 2 2
Fixed	term	 4 4 6 5
Total 68 70 58 61

Employee benefits for management
Salaries	and	remuneration	paid	to	the	CEO	and	Deputy	to	the	CEO	subject	to	withholding	tax

Salaries and remuneration (EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
President	and	CEO 586 497
Deputy	to	the	CEO 465 389
Total 1,051 886
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Remuneration of the Board of Directors
The	members	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	the	parent	company	are	paid	an	annual	remuneration	as	well	as	remuneration	for	each	meeting	
in	accordance	with	the	decision	of	the	Annual	General	Meeting.	The	annual	remuneration	is	EUR	30,000	for	the	Chairman	of	the	Board,	
EUR	18,000	for	the	Vice	Chairman	and	EUR	15,000	for	the	other	members	of	the	Board.	The	remuneration	paid	for	Board	and	committee	
meetings	is	EUR	800	per	meeting	for	the	Chairman	of	the	Board	and	the	chairmen	of	committees	and	EUR	500	per	meeting	for	the	other	
members.

Salaries and remuneration (EUR	1,000)
Members of the Board of Directors 2013 2012
Eva	Liljeblom,	Chairman 41 35
Fredrik	Forssell,	Vice	Chairman 26 19
Teppo	Koivisto	 22 17
Tapio	Korhonen,	member	until	26	March	2013 12 19
Sirpa	Louhevirta 21 17
Ossi	Repo,	member	until	26	March	2013 10 15
Tuula	Saxholm,	member	from	26	March	2013 11 -
Asta Tolonen 21 15
Juha	Yli-Rajala 22 18
Total 184 154

      

Related party transactions

Note 42. Loans and other financial receivables from the related parties 

Municipality	Finance	does	not	have	any	loan	or	financial	receivables,	or	other	receivables	referred	to	in	Section	140(2)	of	the	Act	on	
Credit Institutions from related parties.

Holdings in other companies

Note 43. Holdings in other companies

2013 2012

(EUR	1,000)
Proportion of 
all shares (%) Book value

Proportion of 
all shares (%) Book value

Subsidiaries
Financial	Advisory	Services	Inspira	Ltd 66.7 100 66.7 100
Total 66.7 100 66.7 100

Other notes

Note 44. Audit and other fees paid to the audit firm

(EUR	1,000) 2013 2012
Audit 87 88
Tax	advisory	services 21 27
Other services 242 69
Total 350 184
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The Board of Directors’ proposal on the 
use of the profit for the financial year

Municipality	Finance	Plc’s	distributable	funds	total	EUR	42,232,539.73,	of	which	the	profit	for	the	financial	year	is	EUR	20,591,419.05.	

The	Board	of	Directors	will	propose	to	the	Annual	General	Meeting	that:
-	 no	dividend	be	distributed,	and
-	 the	distributable	funds	totalling	EUR	42,232,539.73	be	retained	in	equity.

Signatures to the report of the Board of 
Directors and financial statements

Helsinki,	6	February	2014

MUNICIPALITY	FINANCE	PLC

	 Eva	Liljeblom	 	 Fredrik	Forssell
 Chairman of the Board  Vice Chairman of the Board

	 Teppo	Koivisto	 Sirpa	Louhevirta	 Tuula	Saxholm
	 Member	of	the	Board	 Member	of	the	Board	 Member	of	the	Board

		 Asta	Tolonen	 	 Juha	Yli-Rajala
	 Member	of	the	Board	 	 Member	of	the	Board

Pekka Averio
President	and	CEO

Auditor’s note

A	report	on	the	audit	performed	has	been	issued	today.
Helsinki,	6	February	2014
KPMG	OY	AB

Marcus	Tötterman
Authorised	Public	Accountant
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To the Annual General Meeting of Municipality Finance Plc
We	have	audited	the	accounting	records,	the	financial	statements,	the	report	of	the	Board	of	Directors,	and	the	administration	of	Mu-
nicipality	Finance	Plc	for	the	year	ended	31	December,	2013.	The	financial	statements	comprise	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	
position,	income	statement,	statement	of	comprehensive	income,	statement	of	changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows,	and	
notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	as	well	as	the	parent	company’s	balance	sheet,	income	statement,	cash	flow	statement	
and notes to the financial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director
The	Board	of	Directors	and	the	Managing	Director	are	responsible	for	the	preparation	of	consolidated	financial	statements	that	give	
a	true	and	fair	view	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	as	adopted	by	the	EU,	as	well	as	for	the	
preparation of financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws 
and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The Board 
of	Directors	is	responsible	for	the	appropriate	arrangement	of	the	control	of	the	company’s	accounts	and	finances,	and	the	Managing	
Director	shall	see	to	it	that	the	accounts	of	the	company	are	in	compliance	with	the	law	and	that	its	financial	affairs	have	been	ar-
ranged	in	a	reliable	manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	the	financial	statements,	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	on	the	report	of	
the	Board	of	Directors	based	on	our	audit.	The	Auditing	Act	requires	that	we	comply	with	the	requirements	of	professional	ethics.	We	
conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and perform 
the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	statements	and	the	report	of	the	Board	of	Directors	are	free	from	
material	misstatement,	and	whether	the	members	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	the	parent	company,	the	Managing	Director	or	the	deputy	
Managing	Director	are	guilty	of	an	act	or	negligence	which	may	result	in	liability	in	damages	towards	the	company	or	have	violated	
the	Limited	Liability	Companies	Act,	Finnish	Credit	Institutions	Act	or	the	articles	of	association	of	the	company.	

An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements	
and	the	report	of	the	Board	of	Directors.	The	procedures	selected	depend	on	the	auditor’s	judgment,	including	the	assessment	of	the	
risks	of	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	considers	internal	control	
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements and report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in order 
to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effec-
tiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	made	by	management,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors. 

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	audit	opinion.

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements
In	our	opinion,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position,	financial	performance,	and	cash	
flows	of	the	group	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	as	adopted	by	the	EU.	

Opinion on the company’s financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors
In	our	opinion,	the	financial	statements	and	the	report	of	the	Board	of	Directors	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	both	the	consolidated	
and the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the 
preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the report of the Board 
of Directors is consistent with the information in the financial statements. 

Other opinions
We	support	the	adoption	of	the	financial	statements.	The	proposal	by	the	Board	of	Directors	regarding	the	treatment	of	distributable	
funds	is	in	compliance	with	the	Limited	Liability	Companies	Act.	We	support	that	the	Board	of	Directors	of	the	parent	company,	the	
Managing	Director	and	the	deputy	Managing	Director	be	discharged	from	liability	for	the	financial	period	audited	by	us.	

Helsinki,	6	February	2014
KPMG	OY	AB

Marcus	Tötterman
Authorized	Public	Accountant

Auditor’s report 
This document is an English translation of the Finnish auditor’s report. Only the Finnish version of the report is legally binding.
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